
   

 
 

 

Nottingham City Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
Date: Wednesday 9 November 2022 
 
Time:  2.00 pm 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, 

NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 
 

 
Director for Legal and Governance 
 
Senior Governance Officer: Laura Wilson     Direct Dial: 0115 8764301 
 

   
1  Apologies for absence  

 
 

2  Declarations of interests  
 

 

3  Minutes  
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 2022 
 

To Follow 

4  Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy  
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 

3 - 138 

5  Statement of Requirements Progress Update  
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 

139 - 140 

6  Recommendation Tracker  
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 

141 - 168 

7  Work Programme  
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 

169 - 174 

 

If you need any advice on declaring an interest in any item on the agenda, please contact 
the Governance Officer shown above, if possible before the day of the meeting  
 

Citizens attending meetings are asked to arrive at least 15 minutes before the start of the 
meeting to be issued with visitor badges 

Public Document Pack



 
Citizens are advised that this meeting may be recorded by members of the public. Any 
recording or reporting on this meeting should take place in accordance with the Council’s 
policy on recording and reporting on public meetings, which is available at 
www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk. Individuals intending to record the meeting are asked to notify 
the Governance Officer shown above in advance.



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
9 November 2022 

 
Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy  
 
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 
 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To consider the draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy and 

associated documents, prior to it being submitted for approval. 
 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked to 
 

(a) comment on the vision, objectives and ambitions, and the 
development of the waste collection and disposal service set out in 
the draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy 
 

(b) consider whether the public consultation currently being 
undertaken is fair, transparent and robust 

 
(c) make appropriate recommendations prior to the policy being 

considered at Executive Board for adoption. 
 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 New obligations placed on Waste Collection and Waste Disposal 

Authorities by the Environment Act 2021 have led to the development of 
a draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy for Nottingham, which 
was approved by Executive Board for public consultation on 20 
September 2022. 

 
3.2 The draft Municipal Resource and Waste Strategy 2023-50 considers 

what happens to recycling and rubbish. The Council needs to make 
substantial changes to improve its waste management service, which will 
save more raw materials and reduce carbon emissions which impact on 
climate change.  

 
3.3 The public consultation runs from 19 October 2022 to 14 December 2022 

and the responses to it will be considered and help produce the final 
Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy for Nottingham which is due to 
be published in the new year. 

 
3.4 The relevant Portfolio Holder and colleagues will be in attendance at the 

meeting to present the draft policy and answer queries. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



3.5 A detailed introductory report, the draft policy, and other supporting 
documents are attached to the report for the Committee to consider. 

 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 Introductory report. 
 
4.2 A Draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy for Nottingham. 
 
4.3 Waste Collection Options Appraisal. 
 
4.4 Waste Collection Options Appraisal - A Non-technical Summary. 
 
4.5 Public Consultation Strategy. 
 
4.6 Public Consultation Survey. 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those 

disclosing exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None. 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Environment Act 2021. 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All. 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Laura Wilson 
 Senior Governance Officer 
 0115 8764301 
 laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  

Page 4

mailto:laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
9th November 2022 

 
A Draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy for Nottingham 
 
Report of the Head of District Heating and Waste Strategy 
 
 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To seek the views of Overview and Scrutiny Committee as part of the 

formal consultation exercise regarding the development of the Council’s 
waste management service as detailed in the draft Municipal Resources 
and Waste Strategy for Nottingham. 

 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is requested to present recommendations to the 

Executive regarding the vision, objectives and ambitions set out in the 
draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy and provide commentary 
on the development of the waste collection and disposal service in the 
context of the options appraisal undertaken to determine future service 
provision. 

 
2.2 The Committee is also asked to consider whether the public consultation 

currently being undertaken is fair, transparent and robust? In that 
context, the final strategy will consider the consultation responses before 
setting a strategic direction for service development over the period to 
2050. This will be subject to further periodic review. Whilst future 
potential collection arrangements are presented as part of the 
consultation documents, their specific application will not be determined 
at a local level in the final strategy. This will require further detailed 
analysis, planning and consultation at a community level and on a local 
scale. The final strategy will however set the strategic framework for 
service transformation, confirming objectives, ambitions and policies 
whilst also stating the expectations and boundaries of future service 
delivery. 

 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 Building on the national waste Strategy, Our Waste, Our Resources: A 

Strategy for England, a draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy for 
Nottingham, was approved by Executive Board for public consultation on 
20th September 2022, and is available as an Appendix to this report. It is 
accompanied by a Waste Collection Options Appraisal and a non-technical 
summary of the Options Appraisal setting out quantitative and qualitative 
information regarding different waste and recycling collection options which 
are designed to achieve compliance with the new obligations placed on 
Waste Collection and Waste Disposal Authorities by the Environment Act 
2021. To comply with the new requirements and to also optimise service 

Page 5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents/enacted


performance, a new approach to waste management is advocated within 
the draft strategy for Nottingham. Any new waste and recycling collection 
systems must be: 

 

 compatible with national programmes and obligations designed to 
enhance sustainable waste management and improve recycling; 

 timely and affordable to the Council in their implementation; and 

 delivered to a service standard which is acceptable to service users. 
 
3.2 The collection options appraisal presented forms a significant element of 

the work undertaken to shape the strategic direction of the service as 
presented in the draft Strategy. The options appraisal therefore focuses 
on the direct point of service delivery with the customer and considers 
how the council could attain the standards required by moving to 
different waste and recycling collection arrangements. The council is 
required as a minimum to introduce mandatory food waste collections, 
target additional materials for recycling (soft plastics and cartons) and 
improve the quality of recycling materials collected by separately 
collecting materials for recycling at source. This requires service users 
(households and businesses) to successfully segregate their waste into 
appropriate containers for collection and treatment or disposal, 
complimented by a waste policy framework. 

 
3.3 The draft strategy recognises that the level of service transformation 

required needs to be underpinned by agreeing strategic objectives and 
policies on waste and recycling collection upfront, and thus providing a 
mandate for change. Changes to service delivery require service users 
to be better educated on how to successfully participate in the new 
arrangements and the Council must retain the ability to enforce a set of 
required behaviours for the collection system to work at suitable levels of 
efficiency and value for money. If service users are appropriately 
engaged and informed with behavioural expectations clearly set out, then 
service transformation can succeed. However, success requires both the 
service user and the service provider to work together to deliver the 
objectives defined in the strategy. 

 
3.4 The Vision of the draft Strategy states: 
 

  “The Resources & Waste Management Strategy aims to deliver a 
high-quality service driven by the need to conserve resources, 
protect the local environment and reduce carbon emissions in 
line with the Councils carbon neutral policy for 2028 and 
beyond. This means reducing the amount of waste that is 
generated; through prevention, reuse, repair, recycling and 
recovery.”  

 
 
 It is supported by 10 objectives and 17 ambitions, summarised below: 
  

Page 6



1. Encourage a reduction in consumption by highlighting the 
environmental benefits of waste reduction and prevention, and 
signposting to waste prevention and reuse activities and services in 
the City. 

2. Continue working with local businesses and community groups to 
expand and promote the development of repair and reuse services 

3. Work with the community and third sector to identify opportunities for 
reuse or repair of suitable goods collected through the Household 
Waste & Recycling Centre and the bulky waste collection service.  

4. Introduce and promote a separate weekly food waste collection to 
its residents* and treat food waste in a manner that reduces carbon 
emissions and generates energy. 

5. Explore the potential expansion of the materials collected for dry 
recycling from its residents and businesses to ensure that the full 
range of recyclables can be collected from both the kerbside service 
and the Household Waste Recycling Centre service by 2027. 

6. Review the collection system for dry recycling from residents, 
businesses and organisations to ensure that the service maximises 
the collection of high-quality recycling and contributes to the 
achievement of the national 65% recycling target by 2035 

7. Continue to prevent recyclables from going into the residual 
waste collections, including enforcement and education around side 
waste (additional waste placed at the side of the relevant collection 
container) and restrictions on the amount of residual waste presented 
for collection. 

8. Prioritise energy recovery and avoidance of waste to landfill to 
continue to keep waste sent to landfill under 8%. 

9. Lead by example by reviewing Nottingham City Council’s internal 
purchasing activities and waste management services to promote 
waste prevention and encourage reuse and recycling within its internal 
operations 

10. Provide more education in schools covering: sustainable living; 
Reduce, Reuse and Recycle, and how management of resources 
helps to tackle climate change. 

11. Continue to expand the fleet of alternative fuel vehicles to reduce 
the carbon emissions that are associated with waste and recycling 
collection and transportation to improve local air quality. 

 
3.5 As well as introducing weekly food waste collections, the Options 

Appraisal reviews the collection system for dry recycling and presents 
two alternative proposals for the way that recycling collections could be 
made in the future: 

 

 Twin Stream (two containers for recycling collected fortnightly) 
o Paper and card are collected separately from other recyclables 

 Multi-stream (multiple containers for recycling collected weekly) 
o Separate boxes are provided for glass, plastics including plastic 

film, metals and cartons 
o Paper and card are separated into a reusable bag or box 

Page 7



o A specialised bin lorry will collect all recycling, including food 
waste 

 
3.6 Our Option Appraisal found that both alternative collection systems will 

improve recycling rates for the City from the current 23% (of waste being 
recycled into new products, material or compost), to levels ranging from 
30% up to 42%. The higher performing options also introduced a smaller 
residual general waste (green) bin to encourage householders to utilise 
the food waste and recycling collection services correctly. The Twin-
Stream option delivers higher recycling performance but lower carbon 
benefit by comparison to the Multi Stream option. The Multi Stream 
option is more cost-effective to implement and to operate than the Twin 
Stream option, but both options are more expensive to implement and 
operate than the current service. Subjective assessments of the two 
options suggest that Twin Stream would be more acceptable to the 
public than Mult Stream, whilst also retaining greater operational 
flexibility in delivery. However, Twin Stream is less compliant with 
government policy drivers and delivers lower social value in terms of 
local job creation. 

 
3.7 The draft Strategy is clear not to state a preference for any of the 

collection options presented and modelled. The purpose of the Public 
Consultation is to encourage an unbiased response to help inform the 
final Strategy. A consultation questionnaire is available as an Appendix 
to the report and seeks views from all stakeholders as detailed in the 
Consultation Strategy, also attached. 

 
3.8 The draft Strategy also recognises that even with an enhanced recycling 

service, there remains a requirement to treat residual, non-recyclable 
waste and advocates a continuation of such treatment by Energy from 
Waste, recognising that the Council’s district heating scheme relies on 
the steam delivered as a product of such waste treatment. 

 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 The following documents form appendices to this report: 
 

i. A Draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy for Nottingham 
ii. Waste Collection Options Appraisal 
iii. Waste Collection Options Appraisal - A Non-technical Summary 
iv. Public Consultation Strategy 
v. Public Consultation Survey – Tell Us What You Think 

 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those 

disclosing exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 

Page 8

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf


 
6.1 Environment Act 2021 
 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Antony Greener, Head of District Heating and Waste Strategy. 
 antony.greener@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  

Page 9

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents/enacted
mailto:antony.greener@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

 
A DRAFT MUNICIPAL 

RESOURCES AND WASTE 

STRATEGY FOR 

NOTTINGHAM 

 
Public Consultation Document 

  

Page 11



2 
 

 

Acknowledgements: 

Produced for Nottingham City Council by Frith Resource Management. 

Frith Resource Management would like to thank the essential contributions from waste management officers at Nottingham 

City Council for their contributions through the development of this project. 

Disclaimer:  

Frith Resource Management Ltd (FRM) is an independent waste and resource management consultancy providing advice in 
accordance with the project brief. FRM has taken all reasonable care and diligence in the preparation of this report to ensure 
that all facts and analysis presented are as accurate as possible within the scope of the project. However no guarantee is 
provided in respect of the information presented, and FRM is not responsible for decisions or actions taken on the basis of the 
content of this report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



3 
 

 

Foreword 
 

Councillor Sally Longford, Portfolio Holder for Energy, Environment and Waste Services 

In 2020 Oxfam reported that the average British citizen emits more greenhouse 

gasses in two weeks than the average citizen of seven different African nations 

emits in an entire year, but almost two-thirds (61%) of people in Britain want the 

Government to do more to address the climate emergency and most are willing 

to act to reduce their own carbon footprint. 

The Government’s 25 Year plan to Improve the Environment – A Green Future 

sets out what it will do to improve the environment within a generation 

including measures to improve resource efficiency and reduce pollution and 

waste. Local Councils have a key role to play in contributing to the ambitions it 

sets out.  

The City Council has set its own ambitious target to be carbon neutral by 2028. Achieving this aim 

requires collaborative action by us all and one of the simplest ways we can contribute is through the 

way we manage our waste. 

The world is using up more and more global resources whilst global recycling is in decline - but we can 

change. Indeed, over the last 20 years, recycling has been a success story across the UK, reducing our 

need for landfill and creating jobs and value. However, most of the material collected in this country is 

exported for recycling, meaning missed opportunities to reduce emissions from UK industry. Increasing 

use of recycled materials within the UK could reduce emissions by 16MtCO2e, creating additional jobs 

and value. The cumulative carbon benefit to 2050 could be 279 million tonnes CO2e – equivalent to 

taking all of the UKs cars and taxis off the road for around 4 years. 

I am therefore delighted to present this draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy for Nottingham 

for public consultation. 

The document sets a strategic direction for the development of your waste services but recognises that 

the Council cannot deliver our vision without your support and help to achieve it. As a council, 

continuing to clean up after people without limitation is not sustainable. Through engagement and 

enhancement of waste collection services, we can ensure that the rubbish we all create can be managed 

with the minimum environmental impact. We need to ensure that the resources we do consume are 

managed well and individual behaviour makes a huge difference. The challenge to create a service based 

around resources rather than wastes, which is affordable, accessible, protects public health and protects 

the environment is immense, and requires your cooperation and support to make it work successfully. 

By working together, we can truly transform the way we manage our waste as a city in a realistic and fair 

way. 

The options appraisal which accompanies this draft strategy sets out the carbon implications of our 

proposed transformation, with the potential for the reduction of thousands of tonnes of carbon dioxide 

(CO2) each year through managing our resources more sustainably. 

Page 13



4 
 

Whilst we should recognise how much has already been achieved in our City, we need to set a vision to 
meet the challenges of the future, and respond by introducing services which allow us to recycle the 
majority of our wastes but to also tackle overall waste generation. This requires lifestyle changes and 
choices for people to enable them to do the right thing. 

Our draft strategy therefore sets objectives and ambitions that will support the reduction of waste in 
the first place, reuse what waste we do produce (treating it as a valuable resource rather than 
something to throw away) and develop better waste collection services to encourage more recycling. 
The waste that is leftover should continue to be utilised for the direct benefit of the city by recovering 
energy. 

I encourage you to share your views and opinions as part of this public consultation. Please let us know 
if you agree with our proposed direction of travel and approaches that we believe are necessary to 
successfully transform your waste services, allowing everyone to meaningfully contribute to tacking 
climate change. 

 

Councillor Sally Longford 

Portfolio Holder for Energy, Environment and Waste Services 

  

Page 14



5 
 

Executive Summary  
Nottingham City Council (the Council) are responsible for the management of waste and recycling in the 

city. This means it is the role of the Council to plan the collection, treatment (composting, recycling, and 

recovery) and disposal of waste and to ensure an efficient service is provided for residents and 

communities, including businesses. A waste strategy provides the opportunity for a council to set out 

the key objectives and ambitions for the future management of waste and recycling.  

The first waste strategy for Nottingham ‘A Waste-Less Nottingham’ (2010-2030) was originally written 

in 2010. Since this time, rapidly changing approaches to resource and waste management has warranted 

a review of the Strategy to bring it up to date and reflect current global thinking. This new, updated 

draft Resources and Waste Strategy (R&WS / the ‘Strategy’) outlines the intentions for the recycling and 

waste management service which will be delivered by Nottingham City Council from 2022 up to 2050.  

The vision of the Strategy is: 

“The Resources and Waste Management Strategy aims to deliver a high-quality service driven by the 

need to conserve resources, protect the local environment and reduce carbon emissions in line with 

the Councils carbon neutral policy for 2028 and beyond. This means reducing the amount of waste 

that is generated; through prevention, reuse, repair, recycling and recovery.” 

This vision is supported by 10 objectives (guiding principles). They focus on encouraging waste 

prevention, promoting reuse and repair, and enhancing recycling; reducing the environmental impact of 

the service in line with wider Council ambitions on carbon emissions; working in partnership to promote 

environmental awareness; and ensuring delivery of an efficient, high-quality and cost effective service.  

The objectives are supported by 17 ambitions(actions) proposed by the Council (see Table A).  A 

summary of the ambitions is shown below: 

Table A: A summary of Nottingham City Councils ambitions for the Strategy 

Theme Ambition No. Aim 

Preventing Waste and 

Promoting Re-use  

1 - 3 Encourage waste prevention  

Promote repair and reuse 

Education and enforcement 

Enhancing Recycling 
4-7 

 

Expand materials collected for recycling 

Encourage greater separation of waste for recycling 

Introduce food waste collections 

Managing Business Waste 
8 Develop the waste and recycling collection service from businesses 

and organisations to improve recycling performance 

Dealing with the Waste that 

is Leftover 

9 – 11 

 

Avoid waste going to landfill and prioritise energy recovery for 

waste left over after recycling  

Walking the Talk 12 Lead by example within its internal operations. 

Comms and Engagement 
13 - 16 

 

Provide clear and effective communication  

Promoting best practice behaviours  

Engage with residents, businesses, community groups and schools  

Working towards Net Zero 

carbon in Nottingham 

17 Expand use of alternative fuel vehicles (in addition to the 

improved carbon performance by more recycling etc.)  

Page 15



6 
 

The way that waste and recycling is managed in Nottingham is influenced by national policy and 

legislation, including the recent Environment Act 2021. The UK Government has set key targets for 

recycling, waste reduction and the amount of our waste that is sent to landfill. We are already ahead of 

the national targets for sending less than 10% of waste to landfill, in particular due to the City Council’s 

use of the Eastcroft Energy from Waste (EfW) plant. However, Nottingham City Council currently fall 

below the national average recycling rate of 43.4% for 2020/21, reporting a rate of 23.9% for the same 

year. Current Government targets aim for a 65% national recycling rate by 2035. Analysis shows that 

75% of items that are disposed of in general waste could be reduced, reused, or recycled in some way 

and as such we need to consider how our service can be changed to increase our performance, and 

reduce our demand on natural resources.   

Table B below outlines the current service provided to residents and the potential impact of the latest 

Government thinking. A public consultation survey seeks your views on how future services might 

operate.  

Table B: Current waste and recycling collection service for residents in Nottingham City Council 

Collection Service 

Summary 

Materials Frequency Potential impact of current 

Government thinking 

Brown Bin with 

Grey Lid or larger 

recycling container 

Recycling: 
Catalogues and brochures  

Paper  

Food and drink cans  

Plastic bottles  

Aerosols  

Newspapers and magazines  

Cardboard (broken down into 

a manageable size and placed 

in the bin)  

Large tins  

Plastic tubs, pots and trays  

Telephone directories  

Glass bottle and jars   

Fortnightly 

 

Increasing the range of materials 

collected to include plastic film and 

cartons, which the Council does not 

currently collect. 

The Council may need to move to a 

collection service where recyclable 

items are sorted into separate 

collection containers, changing the 

way that household recyclables are 

currently collected. 

Brown Bin with 

Brown lid 

Garden Waste 
Grass cuttings 

Hedge clippings 

Twigs 

Leaves and weeks 

Dead flowers 

Fortnightly No changes proposed by 

Government. 

Green Bin or larger 

general waste 

container 

Residual Waste 
Any household waste that 
cannot be put out as part of 
your recycling collections (and 
is suitable for a bin) 

Fortnightly Food waste to be collected weekly 

and in a separate container. 

This (in addition to the changes to 

the recycling collection) would 

reduce the amount of residual 

waste generated in Nottingham  

Page 16



7 
 

This draft Strategy has also been developed in consideration of local council policy including the Councils 

aspiration to achieve net zero carbon by 2028 (becoming the first carbon neutral city in the country) and 

its commitment to make Nottingham a clean and connected community. Nottingham City Council is a 

leader in the use of electric vehicles in its fleet, and in capturing the energy generated from the waste 

not recycled, through its electricity generation and district heating scheme. This draft Strategy 

introduces even more ways that we can reduce the carbon emissions associated with the recycling and 

waste management service, through avoiding waste production, repairing and reusing items and 

recycling more effectively. The potential net effect of the measures proposed within this draft Strategy 

is a reduction in the amount of carbon (as measured in CO2 equivalents) of up to 3,400 tonnes of CO2 

equivalent each year from improved collection and management of wastes and resources in the city. 

The Council is committed to improving performance to achieve higher levels of recycling across 

Nottingham, whilst delivering a cost-effective, quality-led service. This draft Strategy provides a focus on 

identifying solutions for resources and waste management which addresses these often opposing 

pressures. 

This document is the ‘consultation draft’ of the Strategy. Nottingham City Council are seeking views and 

feedback from its residents and communities, including businesses that use, or are impacted by this 

Strategy.  

This document will be available for comments between 19th October and 11th December. We would 

encourage you to respond to this consultation online.   

Page 17



8 
 

 

Contents 
Foreword ....................................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Contents ......................................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

1 Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 9 

1.1 What is a Resources & Waste Strategy? ....................................................................................... 9 

1.2 How is the service delivered now? ............................................................................................. 10 

1.3 Where have we come from? ....................................................................................................... 12 

1.4 What is in your bin? .................................................................................................................... 13 

2 National and Local Policy & Influences ............................................................................................... 14 

2.1 National Drivers .......................................................................................................................... 14 

2.1.1 Circular Economy ................................................................................................................ 14 

2.1.2 25-Year Environment Plan .................................................................................................. 15 

2.1.3 Environment Act 2021 ........................................................................................................ 15 

2.1.4 Resources & Waste Strategy for England ........................................................................... 16 

2.2 Local Policy Drivers ..................................................................................................................... 16 

2.3 The Waste Hierarchy ................................................................................................................... 17 

3 Setting a Strategy Vision and Objectives ............................................................................................ 18 

Our Vision ................................................................................................................................................ 18 

4 How will we deliver the vision? .......................................................................................................... 18 

5 How can the Strategy be delivered? ................................................................................................... 19 

5.1 Preventing waste and promoting reuse ..................................................................................... 21 

5.2 Enhancing recycling..................................................................................................................... 23 

5.3 Managing Business Waste .......................................................................................................... 26 

5.4 Dealing with the waste that is left over ...................................................................................... 26 

5.5 Leading By Example .................................................................................................................... 27 

5.6 Communications & Engagement ................................................................................................ 27 

5.7 Working towards Net Zero carbon in Nottingham ..................................................................... 28 

6 Where will this Strategy take us? ....................................................................................................... 29 

7 Consultation and Next Steps ............................................................................................................... 30 

7.1 Supporting Documents ............................................................................................................... 31 

 

Page 18



9 
 

1  Introduction 

1.1 What is a Resources & Waste Strategy?  
This document is the consultation draft of the Resources & Waste Strategy (‘R&WS’ or ‘Strategy’) for 

Nottingham City Council 2022-2050 

This draft R&WS is an update to the Waste Strategy ‘A Waste-Less Nottingham’ 2010-2030 which has 

been in place since 2010 and is the result of acknowledging changes to legislation, policy, global and 

local context affecting waste and street scene services which need to be reflected in an updated 

Strategy.  This draft Strategy sets the foundations to deliver best value for residents and to update these 

commitments so that waste is managed as a resource that can be used again, rather than waste to be 

disposed of. 

The draft Strategy outlines key objectives and ambitions for the future management of waste and 

recycling (also known as municipal waste) within the city and identifies important actions that could be 

undertaken to deliver these.  The actions will be targeted to change how residents view their waste 

through engagement, education and policy decisions that can drive the changes required.  As a result, 

the Council aims to improve the sustainability of waste management practices, make increased use of 

waste as a resource, ensure legislative compliance moving forward and improve our resident’s 

environment. 

Since our last Strategy a significant movement has been formed to create a global commitment to 

reduce carbon emissions. The publication of a national Resources & Waste Strategy for England and the 

introduction of the Environment Act 2021 has introduced new obligations on us all. By moving to a 

‘circular economy’, materials and resources are kept in use for as long as possible (through design, 

reuse, repair, recycling), minimising waste and improving  resource efficiency. This would not only help 

to protect the environment but also aim to improve the local economy.  

As a Unitary Authority, Nottingham City Council (NCC) is the statutory Waste Collection Authority, 

(WCA), Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) and Principal Litter Authority  responsible  for waste and 

recycling in the city. This means that NCC are responsible for planning the collection, treatment 

(composting, recycling, and recovery) and disposal of waste and to ensure an efficient service delivery 

for residents and communities, including businesses. 

 The Council provides a range of services for the collection of municipal waste and litter.  These include: 

• Kerbside collections –recycling, garden waste, food waste and non-recyclable waste, 

• A bulky waste collection service (e.g. sofas, mattresses, furniture and electrical items),  

• Lenton Household Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC), Redfield Road 

• Litter and dog waste bins, 

• Street and road sweeping, 

• Clearing of fly tipped waste 

The updated draft Strategy describes the recycling and waste management services which could be 

delivered by Nottingham up to 2050. It covers the collection of waste and recycling (also known as 

Page 19



10 
 

municipal solid waste (MSW)) that is generated by households and similar wastes from businesses and 

other organisations across Nottingham. The draft Strategy sets out: 

- The policy framework at a national and local level which sets the context for resources and 

waste management 

- The vision, aims and objectives required to deliver the aspirations of the Strategy 

- The plans for delivery – how resources and waste could be collected from its residents and 

communities, treated and managed by the Council to achieve the aims and objectives. 

This draft Strategy runs up to 2050, however it will be reviewed regularly at appropriate periods during 

this time. Reviews are needed to make sure the Strategy remains current and in line with national 

guidance. 

This Strategy is a ‘Consultation Draft’. For the next steps during and after the consultation, see section 5 

‘Consultation-Next Steps’ in this document. 

1.2 How is the service delivered now?  
All residents of Nottingham City Council currently receive household 

collections of recycling, residual  (general mixed ‘rubbish’) and 

seasonal garden waste on a fortnightly basis. Food waste is not 

currently collected separately. .Household bins must be presented 

for collection at the kerbside, nearest to the resident’s property and 

not within the residents’ property’s boundary. Residual and 

recycling collections occur on alternating weeks. 

All the main items suitable for recycling are currently collected 

together in one container (usually a wheeled bin). This is commonly 

referred to as a ‘commingled’ collection.  

This material is then sent to a materials recovery facility (often referred to as MRF) which uses a range 

of equipment to sort and separate the recycling into the different materials streams which can then be 

sent for reprocessing and recycling.  

Garden waste is collected free of charge from all households with 

gardens throughout the growing season. Each household with a 

garden is provided with one wheeled bin to collect organic waste 

including grass cuttings, hedge clippings, flowers, leaves, weeds and 

small twigs and branches. Households with larger amounts of 

garden waste can pay for an additional bin at a cost of £25 a year, 

per bin. This material is sent to a composting facility which turns 

the garden waste in compost, for use on land and to improve soil 

quality.  

Page 20



11 
 

For any household waste that cannot be put into the recycling or garden 

waste collections, a wheeled ‘rubbish’ bin is provided, and this is also 

collected fortnightly.  

This material is sent to the Eastcroft Energy from Waste facility1 for 

incineration and energy recovery. Due to its central location in the city, 

steam generated by the incineration process is used to supply heat to 

over 5,000 households and a number of public and commercial 

premises. This provides low carbon heating for these premises. This 

process of dealing with residual waste reduces the Councils reliance on 

fossil fuels to meet the city’s energy needs and any excess steam is used 

to generate electricity to export to the grid, power local businesses directly, and also; to operate the 

Eastcroft facility. 

Collection Service 

Summary 

Materials Frequency Potential impact of current 

Government thinking 

Brown Bin with 

Grey Lid or larger 

recycling container 

Recycling: 

Catalogues and brochures  

Paper  

Food and drink cans  

Plastic bottles  

Aerosols  

Newspapers and magazines  

Cardboard (broken down into 

a manageable size and placed 

in the bin)  

Large tins  

Plastic tubs, pots and trays  

Telephone directories  

Glass bottle and jars   

Fortnightly 

 

Increasing the range of materials 

collected to include plastic film 

and cartons, which the Council 

does not currently collect. 

The Council may need to move to 

a collection service where 

recyclable items are sorted into 

separate collection containers, 

changing the way that household 

recyclables are currently collected. 

Brown Bin with 

Brown lid 

Garden Waste 

Grass cuttings 

Hedge clippings 

Twigs 

Leaves and weeks 

Dead flowers 

Fortnightly n/a 

Green Bin or larger 

general waste 

container 

Residual Waste 

Any household waste that 
cannot be put out as part of 
your recycling collections 

Fortnightly Food waste to be collected weekly 

and in a separate container. 

This would reduce the amount of 

residual waste generated in 

Nottingham  

 
1 FCC Eastcroft EfW Energy from Waste (fccenvironment.co.uk) 

Page 21

https://eastcroft.fccenvironment.co.uk/


12 
 

 

Nottingham City Council have been proud to deliver a cost-effective waste collection and disposal 

service for its residents. The Council has been a high performer in the diversion of waste from landfill, 

since the development of the Eastcroft Energy from Waste plant in 1972, which treats the residual 

waste collected from residents. In a typical year, less than 8% of waste is sent for landfill2.   

Trade Waste 

Nottingham City Council also provide a ‘trade waste’ service which collects recycling and general waste 

streams from business across the East Midlands, in particular the Nottingham and Derby areas. The 

trade waste team serves over 6,500 businesses and averages over 12,000 collections per week3. The 

services available to businesses include collections of residual waste (commonly referred to as ‘general 

waste’ or ‘rubbish’), recycling, separate glass collection, bulky waste (furniture, mattresses), and 

collections of any unused electronics (known as Waste Electric Electronic Equipment (WEEE)).  

1.3 Where have we come from?  
As of 2020/21, the recycling rate for Nottingham was 23.9%. This is well below the average national 

performance of 43.8% for the same period4. Between 2005/6 and 2010/11 an improvement in 

performance can be seen, however, since the peak performance of 35.9%, the recycling performance 

has steadily decreased over time.  There are a number of factors which could be attributed to this 

decline, including a change in the definition of recycling (and as such the materials which could be 

counted towards the Council’s recycling performance), impacts of austerity, and in recent years the 

effects of the Covid-19 pandemic (which has nationally shown a small decrease in recycling rate). 

 
2 To account for periods when the Eastcroft facility is shut down for routine maintenance. 
3 Some businesses will have multiple collections each week. 
4 However it should be noted that cities have more challenges to hit higher recycling rates than other types of Council area, the 

key reasons being: less garden waste, which is a significant contributor to recycling rate; more challenging housing types to 
collect from (e.g. flats) where recycling storage and separation can be more difficult, and; issues of effective communication 
with transient populations (e.g. students) or where there are multiple ethnicities. 

Page 22



13 
 

Figure 1 – Recycling performance in Nottingham (2005 to 2021) 

 

Financial pressures and a need to improve recycling performance can be conflicting requirements, 

however the Council is committed to improving performance to achieve higher levels of recycling across 

Nottingham, whilst delivering a cost-effective, quality-led service. This draft Strategy provides a focus on 

identifying solutions for resources and waste management which addresses these often opposing 

pressures.  

1.4 What is in your bin? 
Figure 2 shows the contents of a typical rubbish bin in Nottingham. It shows that over three quarters5 of 

items that are thrown away by residents could be reduced, reused or recycled in some way. Materials 

found in the rubbish bin include materials that we would typically associate with recycling, for example, 

paper and cardboard, glass, plastic and metals. Other materials found in the bin include food waste 

(which makes up over a third of the bin) and waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE), which 

can be collected separately and have their resource value recovered.  

By separating out these additional materials for recycling, residents of Nottingham could help the 

Council contribute to achieving the national recycling target of 65% for 20356.   

Furthermore, other items may be preventable or reused to stop them from becoming waste at all. This 

is preferable to recycling, and options such as using washable nappies, reusable water bottles for drinks 

and refilling containers with goods from a refill shop or station to avoid new packaging all help conserve 

 
5 Waste is measured by weight, therefore bulky but light items (like plastic) may appear to fill a lot of a bin (by volume), have a 
lower quantity when considered in terms of weight. Food waste conversely is dense (heavy) and therefore makes a large 
proportion of the waste composition as a result. 
6 This is included in Our Waste, Our Resources; A Strategy for England, Defra 2018, and includes wastes from commercial and 

industrial sources that are similar to household waste. 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

H
o
u

s
e

h
o

ld
 w

a
s
te

 r
e

c
y
c
lin

g
 r

a
te

 (
%

) 

Year

Page 23



14 
 

resources and avoid packaging and other wastes. It is great for the environment in other ways too, 

saving the carbon emissions associated with making new packaging or products. 

Figure 2: Residual waste bin composition7 

 

 

2 National and Local Policy & Influences 
 

This section outlines the key national and local drivers which directly impact upon this draft Strategy. 

These policies focus on managing resources efficiently and effectively, keeping materials in use for as 

long as possible, encouraging the development of a ‘circular economy’ whilst supporting and working 

towards net zero (climate change) ambitions.  

The proposals in this draft Strategy have been developed in consideration of these policies, in order to 

check that the Strategy can be practically implemented and that it either complements or does not 

diverge from any aims, as set out in other relevant policies. 

The main influences at a national and local level are discussed in turn below.  

2.1 National Drivers 

2.1.1 Circular Economy 
In a circular economy, materials and resources are kept in use for as long as possible (through design, 

reuse, repair, recycling), minimising waste and increasing what is known as resource efficiency8. A 

circular economy encourages a move away from the more traditional ‘take-make-dispose’ economy by 

targeting how products and services are designed, encouraging more sustainable consumption (e.g. 

using less raw materials) and ensuring waste is prevented and minimised at all levels of the supply chain 

by keeping resources in use for as long as possible. The EU Circular Economy Package (CEP), introduced 

 
7 Based on Acorn waste composition analysis undertaken in 2013. 
8 Resource efficiency means creating more with less, maximising the use of materials and services to function 
effectively, with limited waste and detriment to the environment 

Page 24



15 
 

in 2018, provides a revised legislative framework, identifying steps for the reduction of waste and 

establishing an ambitious and credible long-term path for waste management and recycling. This has 

been largely transposed into UK Government strategy and policy and key elements within “Our Waste, 

Our Resources: A Strategy for England” (2018, see below). 

2.1.2 25-Year Environment Plan  
The 25 Year Environment Plan sets out the government long term management strategy to improve our 

environment. The Plan sets out interrelated environment targets relating to clean air, water quality, 

biodiversity, biosecurity, enhancing the natural environment and heritage and mitigating and adapting 

to climate change. The effective management of resources is one of the core goals of the Plan and the 

following targets are set for maximising resource efficiency and minimising waste: 

- Using resources more sustainable and efficiently 

o Maximising the value and benefits we get from our resources,  

o Doubling resource productivity9 by 2050 

- Minimising waste 

o Zero avoidable waste by 2050, and no food waste to landfill by 2030 

o Target of eliminating avoidable plastic waste by end of 2042 

o meeting all existing waste targets – including those on landfill, reuse and recycling – and 

developing ambitious new future targets and milestones 

o Eliminate waste crime and illegal waste sites over the lifetime of this Plan, prioritising 

those of highest risk, including litter 

o significantly reducing and where possible preventing all kinds of marine plastic pollution 

– in particular material that came originally from land 

 

2.1.3 Environment Act 2021 
The Environment Act is a key piece of government legislation which aims to address fundamental 

environmental issues such as air and water quality, wildlife and climate. The first part of the Act is to 

provide measures to address environmental governance gaps following withdrawal from the EU and 

beyond. The Act puts into legislation a series of environmental principles and establishes an Office for 

Environmental Protection, which will have scrutiny, advice and enforcement functions. It also makes 

provision for the setting of long-term, legally binding environmental targets in four “priority areas” of air 

quality, water, biodiversity, resource efficiency10 and waste reduction, along with the production of 

statutory Environmental Improvement Plans. 

The Act will also be the primary legislation for a number of the key waste management measures in the 

draft R&WS. The provisions in the Act introduce an extended packaging producer responsibility 

scheme11, the power to regulate for eco-design standards and resource efficiency information across a 

wider range of products, and amendments to the responsibilities and powers for separating and 

 
9 A measure of the total amount of materials directly used by an economy. 
10 Good resource and waste management improves ‘resource efficiency’ 
11 A system designed to make producers of packaging 100% responsible for the costs of managing the packaging at the ends of 
its life (e.g. its collection, recycling or disposal) 

Page 25



16 
 

recycling waste. It also provides a framework for a deposit return scheme (DRS) for single use drinks 

containers12. The Act also provides the legislative mechanism for implementing aspects of the national 

Resources & Waste Strategy for England. 

2.1.4 Resources & Waste Strategy for England 
The national Resources & Waste Strategy for England, “Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for 

England” (2018), is focussed on recycling quality and increasing recycling rates from households and 

businesses. It includes substantial reforms to municipal waste collection and management services, 

including requiring a common set of materials to be separately collected from households (in the case of 

NCC this means expanding the materials collected for recycling to include plastic film and cartons). This 

also includes proposals to mandate the separate collection of food waste for all Local Authorities in 

England. It also puts a greater responsibility on producers of goods and packaging to play their part in 

dealing with the products at the end of their life. New measures proposed include Extended Producer 

Responsibility for packaging materials (EPR) and the introduction of a deposit return scheme (DRS) for 

single use drinks containers.  

The direction of the national strategy will have a significant impact on the services delivered in 

Nottingham through this R&WS.   

2.2 Local Policy Drivers 
This draft Strategy will also be implemented in recognition of local policies which both influence and 

affect its delivery.  

The City first declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency in 2020. Nottingham has since committed to 

becoming the first carbon neutral city in the country, with a target for reaching this status by 2028. This 

means cutting carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions from direct and indirect sources that’s arising from the 

energy used across the city to near zero and offsetting any emissions that cannot be eliminated. The 

Nottingham 2028 Carbon Neutral Charter (CN28) sets out high-level objectives to achieve this target.  

Waste and resource management have a key role to play in supporting Nottingham’s net-zero 

ambitions. This draft Strategy has been developed with the visions of this commitment in mind and is 

aligned to the aspirations of the Council to meet carbon neutrality by 2028. Further information can be 

found in the CN28 Strategy document.  

Other policies influencing the draft Strategy include the Strategic Council Plan for Nottingham13. This 

Plan supports the aspirations set out within this document including the CN28 goal as one of the key 

Strategic Outcomes, promoting the use of refill stations across the City Centre to reduce plastic use and 

measuring percentage of household waste recycled as one of the key monitoring parameters. Outcome 

One focuses on providing ‘Clean and Connected Communities’ which directly links to waste and 

recycling, including the provision of street cleansing, clean up (and prevention of) fly tipping, collecting 

household waste and providing a year round commercial waste collection service.  It also includes a 

commitment to maintain efficient fortnightly waste collections and bulky waste collections. 

 
12 A Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) aims to improve overall recycling and resource recovery by placing a redeemable deposit on 
‘in scope’ materials. At the time of writing, it is understood that the DRS system implemented for England will be an ‘all in’ 
system which means it applies to all single use drinks containers (excluding glass, HDPE plastics, primarily milk bottles). The 
deposit is estimated to be a 20p value added to plastic and metal beverage containers 
13 full-strategic-council-plan-2021-23.pdf (nottinghamcity.gov.uk) 

Page 26

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/3372996/full-strategic-council-plan-2021-23.pdf


17 
 

Nottingham City Council are also currently working with Nottinghamshire County Council to prepare a 

new Waste Local Plan which will provide the future planning strategy for waste management in 

Nottinghamshire and Nottingham to 2038. The Nottingham Growth Plan makes reference to 

Nottingham being one of the cleanest, greenest and least-car dependent UK cities. Key actions for 

growth include fostering enterprise (which provide opportunities for fostering a new circular economy), 

developing a skilled workforce and expanding the green energy supply, all of which will influence this 

draft Strategy.  

 

2.3 The Waste Hierarchy 
 

This draft Strategy is underpinned by the principles of the waste management hierarchy (Figure 3) that 

prioritises not producing waste in the first place, then reusing it followed by recycling and composting. It 

is recognised that even with all the measures in place there is still a requirement to manage non-

recyclable waste and as a city we will do this by ensuring best value and through recovering energy from 

this residual waste fraction. 

Figure 3 – The Waste Hierarchy 

 

  

Page 27



18 
 

3 Setting a Strategy Vision and Objectives 
 

By setting a vision and strategic objectives the Council can begin to develop a route-map to transform 

waste collection and waste disposal services for the city.  

Our Vision  
The draft vision of the Resources & Waste Management Strategy defines the intended direction of travel 

for the waste management services, and is as follows: 

“The Resources and Waste Management Strategy aims to deliver a high-quality service driven by the 

need to conserve resources, protect the local environment and reduce carbon emissions in line with 

the Councils carbon neutral policy for 2028 and beyond. This means reducing the amount of waste 

that is generated; through prevention, reuse, repair, recycling and recovery.”  

 

4 How will we deliver the vision? 
The following draft objectives provide the areas of focus for delivery of the vision: 

1. Manage wastes as resources, using the waste hierarchy as a guide: to prevent wastes arising in 

the first instance; then reuse; then recycle / compost; then recover energy, and; finally to 

dispose of waste as a last resort. 

2. To reduce the amount of waste landfilled, working towards zero waste to landfill. 

3. Continually seek to reduce carbon emissions to improve performance and contribute to the City 

and Council ambitions on carbon emissions. 

4. ‘Lead from the front’ and improve the environmental performance of activities within Council 

buildings and via services it provides, including the management of waste and resources. 

5. Deliver high quality, customer focussed waste management services that are accessible and 

inclusive. 

6. Work in partnerships with the community sector, private sector or other public sector bodies to 

expand the resource and expertise available to the municipal waste management service and 

engage with the residents and the customers of the service to promote environmental 

awareness and improve participation in waste reduction, re-use and recycling schemes.  

7. Ensure that options facilitate / integrate the management of commercial, industrial and other 

wastes where it is environmentally, socially and economically feasible to do so. 

8. Seek efficiencies and economies of scale through partnering and procurement to retain a cost 

effective service. 

9. Utilise and improve existing infrastructure where it can contribute to sustainable waste 

management and innovate in the development of new infrastructure where required 

10. Develop local solutions wherever practicable to minimise transport impacts of the service. The 

value of secondary raw materials / energy should be used locally where practicable. 

Page 28



19 
 

This draft vision and objectives inform the rest of the draft Resources & Waste Strategy, and they were 

also influenced by national and local policy as outlined in Section 2. 

 

5 How can the Strategy be delivered?  
This section outlines the commitments proposed by Nottingham City Council to deliver the vision and 

objectives of the Strategy. The draft ambitions are designed to be compatible with local priorities 

including clean streets, CN28, local waste planning policy drivers detailed in the recently drafted Waste 

Local Plan whilst also supporting key outcomes of the Council Plan including Healthy and Inclusive and 

Serving People Well. The draft Ambitions  are grouped into themes and include 17 stated ambitions. 

Draft Strategy Ambitions 

Preventing 

Waste and 

Promoting Re-

use  

Ambition 

No. 1 

Nottingham City Council will encourage a reduction in consumption by 

highlighting the environmental benefits of waste prevention and reuse. 

Through education and enforcement, residents and businesses will be 

encouraged to dispose of their waste correctly in order to reduce 

uncontained waste being left on the streets and prevent side waste 

(additional waste placed at the side of the relevant collection container, or 

bagged waste left on the street). 

Ambition 

No. 2 

Nottingham City Council aim to continue working with the local businesses 

and community groups to expand and promote the development of repair 

and reuse services. 

Ambition 

No. 3 

Nottingham City Council to work with the community and voluntary sector 

to identify opportunities for reuse or repair of suitable goods collected 

through the Household Waste & Recycling Centre and the Bulky waste 

collection service. 

Enhancing 

Recycling 

Ambition 

No. 4 

Nottingham City Council will explore the potential expansion of the 

materials collected for dry recycling from its residents and businesses to 

ensure that the full range of recyclables can be collected from both the 

kerbside service and the Household Waste Recycling Centre service by 

2027. 

Ambition 

No. 5 

Nottingham City Council will continue to prevent recyclables from going 

into the residual waste collections, through engagement and restrictions on 

the amount of residual waste presented for collection in order to 

encourage segregation of waste for recycling. 

Ambition 

No. 6 

Nottingham City Council will introduce and promote a separate weekly food 

waste collection to its residents. 

Page 29



20 
 

Draft Strategy Ambitions 

Ambition 

No.7 

Nottingham City Council will procure suitable Anaerobic Digestion capacity 

to treat food waste collected from households in a manner that helps 

reduce carbon emissions from the city. 

Managing 

Business 

Waste 

Ambition 

No. 8 

Nottingham City Council will develop its collection service from businesses 

and organisations to improve recycling performance and to contribute to 

the achievement of the national 65% recycling target by 2035, whilst 

remaining a high quality and competitive service. 

Dealing with 

the Waste that 

is Leftover 

Ambition 

No. 9 

Nottingham City Council will continue to prioritise energy recovery and 

avoidance of waste to landfill for all waste that remains once material has 

been recycled, reused and composted. 

Ambition 

No. 10 

Nottingham City Council will continue to extract more recyclables from 

residual waste to maximise the use of materials (at present this is metals 

and aggregate recovered from incinerator ash) 

Ambition 

No. 11 

Nottingham City Council to continue to keep waste sent to landfill to under 

8% of that collected, well in advance of the 10% national target for 2035. 

Walking the 

Talk 

Ambition 

No. 12 

Nottingham City Council will lead by example by reviewing their internal 

purchasing activities and waste management services to promote waste 

prevention and encourage reuse and recycling within its internal 

operations. 

Comms and 

Engagement 

Ambition 

No. 13 

Nottingham City Council aim to continue to proactively engage with 

residents, through a variety of mechanisms, to promote waste prevention, 

low waste alternatives, reuse and repair schemes in the city with the aim of 

reducing overall waste arisings and helping develop more sustainable 

lifestyles.   

Ambition 

No. 14 

Nottingham City Council aim to continue to proactively engage with 

residents, through a variety of mechanisms, to ensure maximum 

participation in recycling services in the aim of improving kerbside recycling 

performance. This will include clear and effective communication regarding 

the recycling and waste collection service. 

Ambition 

No. 15 

Nottingham City Council aim to provide more education in schools covering: 

sustainable living; the linkage between the 3 R’s [reduce, reuse, recycle] 

and providing the resources we need as a society, and; how good 

management of resources helps to tackle climate change. 

Ambition 

No. 16 

The Council will continue to provide clear and effective communication 

regarding waste prevention, reuse, repair and recycling services by 

promoting best practice behaviours which support the circular economy 

and contributes to the net zero aspirations of the Council. 

Page 30



21 
 

Draft Strategy Ambitions 

Working 

towards Net 

Zero carbon in 

Nottingham 

Ambition 

No. 17 

Nottingham City Council will continue to expand its fleet of alternative fuel 

vehicles to reduce the carbon emissions of the service that are associated 

with waste and recycling collection and transportation to improve local air 

quality. 

  

5.1 Preventing waste and promoting reuse 
Preventing waste is the highest priority of the waste hierarchy and should be the foundation of any 

Resources & Waste Strategy. Preventing waste eliminates or reduces the adverse environmental 

impacts of waste generation and management. It also reduces our demand on the Earth’s limited 

resources, which in turn reduces the carbon emissions associated with waste management activity.  

This can be achieved by preventing waste from waste arising in the first place (avoiding the creation of 

waste or recycling) or by extending a product or services useful life through reuse or repair.  

Waste prevention is most effective when it is targeted at a particular material, or at a sector level. This 

means that any action or communication can be individually targeted to address the specific issues, 

engage with relevant stakeholders, and seek the best opportunities for improvement to maximise 

effectiveness.  

As such, in recognition that prevention should precede all other elements of resources and waste 

management, NCC will pursue the following ambition:  

Ambition No. 1 –  

Nottingham City Council will encourage a reduction in consumption by highlighting the environmental 

benefits of waste prevention and reuse. Through education and enforcement, residents and businesses 

will be encouraged to dispose of their waste correctly in order to reduce uncontained waste being left 

on the streets and prevent side waste (additional waste placed at the side of the relevant collection 

container, or bagged waste left on the street). 

We will work, through education, communication, engagement and our service design, to encourage 

residents to reduce the amount of waste they produce. Reducing the amount of waste produced 

reduces its burden on Council budgets and the taxpayer as well as having those broader benefits of 

reducing our carbon impact. At the most local level – at home – reducing what is put in the bin (perhaps 

by making decisions in the supermarket not to accept over-packaging or by using food waste to make 

compost) all contributes to the objective of reducing the amount of waste produced.  

The analysis of what is in our residents bins indicates that the high rate of residual waste in the city is 

due to recycling materials being placed in the residual green bin.  As a result, a significant number of 

residents are unable to present their bin with a closed lid and/or place additional bin bags either next to 

their bin or by public bins for collection. Over an additional million pounds of taxpayers money is spent 

each year addressing these practices.  Not only does waste on streets look unsightly, it encourages pests 

as bags are easy to get into and often split, spilling the content on the street.  Not having a closed lid on 

wheeled bins also has the same impact, with waste often escaping to the street. We are aware that, 

Page 31



22 
 

whilst education and communication are our preferred method of engaging with residents, there are 

times when enforcement is required to ensure compliance with our collection scheme.  This is another 

aspect of maximising participation and would support a change in behaviour where the communication 

campaigns have not had an impact. 

Reuse is the second highest priority of the waste hierarchy and aims to extend the ‘useful life’ of a 

product or service, including through repair. Encouraging reuse and repair has wide ranging benefits 

which include saving money, conserving finite materials and lowering carbon emissions. Reuse and 

repair activities often support social and economic development, through skills training, employment 

and community volunteering.  

Examples of reuse activity across Nottingham include: 

- Bike Works Nottingham – a not for profit organisation which fixes bikes but also helps to repair 

and rehome unwanted bikes which helps community projects.  

- Haven Housing Trust – accepts donations of good, clean furniture and household items. 

- Furniture Project Nottinghamshire – accepts furniture, textiles, electrical items and kitchen 

appliances that are in a reusable condition. 

- Nottingham Fixers – a group of volunteers who bring together people to share and develop 

repair skills, often through Repair Café events. Items repaired so far include clocks, bikes, radios, 

sewing machines, lamps and clothes.  

- Sycamore Dining – a Community Interest company set up by City of Nottingham District Scouts 

which sources its meals from surplus food from the supply chain (working in Partnership with 

Fareshare, Tesco and Co-Op). The group provide social dining and meals at home services, and 

regular community events such as BBQs and training in food hygiene.   

There has also been growing interest in refills as a means for reducing waste and there are a number of 

‘zero waste’ shops set up across the city. The aim of these shops is to help people live more 

sustainability and reduce their impact on the environment by using reusable containers to purchase 

home staples such as pasta, rice, cereals, nuts and seeds or other domestic items like detergents, hand 

wash etc.  

Ambition No. 2 –  

Nottingham City Council aims to continue working with the local businesses and community groups to 

expand and promote the development of repair and reuse services.  

Residents of Nottingham City are also able to engage in reuse activities at Lenton Household Waste and 

Recycling Centre (HWRC) on Lenton Industrial Estate. Residents can use this site to dispose of recycling 

and waste, however a number of the materials separately collected will be sent for reuse where 

possible, including waste electricals.   

We recognise the integral role and huge benefit of working in partnership with key businesses and 

community groups to increase the use of repair and reuse, supporting this with the services provided by 

our HWRC. As such, we state the following aim: 

 

Page 32



23 
 

  

Ambition No. 3 –  

Nottingham City Council to work with the community and voluntary sector to identify opportunities for 

reuse or repair of suitable goods collected through the Household Waste & Recycling Centre and the 

Bulky waste collection service. 

5.2 Enhancing recycling  
Recycling uses fewer natural resources from the earth and less energy to produce the same new 

product. Recycling can also help to reduce greenhouse gases being released and waste being produced. 

The extraction of raw materials from the earth, material processing, manufacturing and transport are all 

stages in the process that use energy and emit greenhouse gases. 

Recycling of waste can take several forms, the most recognised is the recycling of packaging type 

materials (plastics, cans, card and glass) and paper. This draft Strategy aims to improve the recycling of 

all of these materials, as well as to continue to compost collected garden waste and to introduce a food 

waste collection 

The residents and communities of Nottingham have a range of materials collected for recycling as 

discussed previously. This draft Strategy sets out the intention for Nottingham to enhance this collection 

service to mirror the Government intention to have a standardised set of materials collected for 

recycling from each house and business across the Country. As described previously, this will include: 

• Metals (cans, foil trays, foil, aerosols) 

• Plastics (plastic film, bottles, trays, pots, tubs) 

• Cartons (e.g. Tetra Pak) 

• Card 

• Paper 

• Glass 

The aim is that all of England has the same range of materials collected (by 2027) and that this will 

enable more targeted nationwide messages and standardised product labelling for recyclability to be 

established. Furthermore, residents moving from one area to another will know what materials can be 

separated for recycling (although there might be different colours or types of containers in which to 

separate them). For Nottingham, this would mean the collection of cartons and plastic film added to the 

list of materials already suitable for dry recycling.  

The national R&WS proposes a preference for collection systems that can reduce contamination of 

recycling (the wrong materials etc.) and collect good quality materials through separate collections. The 

capture of quality recyclate is important to enable more materials to be reprocessed, supporting a 

circular economy. This, however, needs to be married with other Council requirements (e.g. a cost 

effective service) and housing requirements (e.g. sufficient storage capacity for containers and different 

recyclables). These issues are explored in the Options Appraisal. 

In addition to these changes, Government is seeking to introduce a deposit return scheme (DRS) for all 

single use drinks containers (excluding bottles made of High-Density Polyethylene plastic, primarily milk 

bottles and glass). The DRS is likely to place an additional 20p charge (the deposit) onto bottles and cans 

Page 33



24 
 

containing drink, which then may be redeemed (returned) when the bottle / can is placed in an 

authorised collection point. The collection points are likely to be at shops and supermarkets and are 

known as reverse vending machines, although alternative methods of redeeming deposits are also being 

investigated. The DRS scheme is still undergoing consultation but is due to be implemented from 2025. 

This could have the effect of changing consumer behaviour to an extent, also potentially reducing the 

amount of littering of containers (covered by the DRS) and may reduce the amount of recyclables and 

waste handled by local authorities. 

As part of the wide-ranging national changes and to encourage greater resource recovery from waste, 

the Government are also intending to implement Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) for all 

producers of packaging. EPR means that all packaging producers will need to pay for the costs of dealing 

with their packaging at the end of its life (e.g. when it is recycled or thrown away). In future (and this is 

intended to be implemented from 2024), packaging producers will be responsible for the net costs of 

collecting, handling, recycling, treating and disposing of packaging waste, by providing monies to local 

government equivalent to that cost. This, together with the DRS scheme, will also provide an incentive 

to product and packaging producers to consider how their products can be designed better for their 

resource recovery, for example by making them easier to recycle. Packaging that is hard to recycle will 

cost more for disposal which will ultimately cost the producer of that packaging. This approach helps the 

role of the Councils and should assist in improving resource recovery and recycling over the medium and 

long term. 

As part of the development work undertaken to present this draft Strategy, we have considered 

different recycling collection systems for the city. The appraisal of different collection systems (see 

supporting Options Appraisal document) demonstrates a preference for maximising recycling by 

introducing some level of separation for dry recycling material at the kerbside. Subject to the national 

R&WS consultation responses, the current commingled collection of recycling may not be acceptable in 

the future. Further materials separation, alongside restricting the residual waste capacity to maximise 

participation in recycling performs well in the appraisal of options. The addition of a weekly food waste 

collection should also reduce the need for the current levels of residual waste capacity (see Ambition 

No.6 and ‘What is in your bin’ section of this Strategy).  

Ambition No. 4 – 

Nottingham City Council will explore the potential expansion of the materials collected for dry recycling 

from its residents and businesses to ensure that the full range of recyclables can be collected from both 

the kerbside service and the Household Waste Recycling Centre service by 2027. 

 

When we examined a typical residual bin presented for collection, 27% of the materials contained in the 

waste were target materials for recycling and should have been placed in the recycling collection system 

instead. When additional materials are included for recycling collections (including food waste which 

accounts for another 37% of an average bin) to achieve national uniformity, more waste can be more 

easily recycled. Further communication and education with our residents to encourage and promote the 

right behaviours will ensure collection systems are accessed correctly and recycling capture rates will 

inevitably improve. 

Page 34



25 
 

The Council will adopt an evidence based approach to ensure the right bins are provided to maximise 

participation in recycling collection systems and to discourage the presentation of side waste. 

Ambition No. 5 – 

Nottingham City Council will continue to prevent recyclables from going into the residual waste 

collections, through engagement and restrictions on the amount of residual waste presented for 

collection in order to encourage segregation of waste for recycling. 

 

After preventing food waste occurring (for example through meal planning, use of leftovers in recipes 

etc.), the next most important method of reducing carbon emissions from food waste is to separately 

collect and treat it. The most effective way of doing this is to collect food waste from households and 

businesses on a weekly basis, as a separate material stream, and to process the food waste in Anaerobic 

Digestion (AD) facilities. Anaerobic digestion is a process that takes place in sealed vessels in the 

absence of oxygen. Food waste is fed into the vessels which act like a digestion process, breaking down 

the food waste using bacteria (in a similar way and a slightly higher temperature than your stomach 

digesting food). The waste degrades and releases a flammable biogas (which is roughly half methane 

and half carbon dioxide), this gas is then usually combusted in a gas engine to generate electricity, which 

can be fed back into the national grid as renewable electricity. The gas can alternatively be used to fuel 

vehicles with ‘biomethane’ or, after further processing, as an input into the gas grid. The remaining 

residue from the food waste is reduced to a slurry and can be, after some further ‘maturation’ (like a 

composting process), applied to land as a soil conditioner or fertiliser.  

The Government is requiring (through the Environment Act) all households to have a separate collection 

of food waste, on a weekly basis, from the mid 2020’s.  

Energy recovery (energy from waste, or the use of anaerobic digestion for managing food waste) has a 

supporting role in reducing the need for landfill. However, in accordance with the principles of the waste 

hierarchy, the priority should always be to reduce, re-use and recycle (in order of preference) as much 

as possible. 

As part of the options appraisal supporting this draft Strategy, we have modelled the introduction of 

separate food waste collections across the city and state the following ambitions: 

Ambition No. 6 –  

Nottingham City Council will introduce and promote a separate weekly food waste collection to its 

residents.  

 

Ambition No. 7 – 

Nottingham City Council will procure suitable Anaerobic Digestion capacity to treat food waste collected 

from households in a manner that helps reduce carbon emissions from the city. 

Page 35



26 
 

5.3 Managing Business Waste 
Residents cannot deliver the aspirations of this Strategy alone. It will take the support and action of its 

businesses and wider communities too.  

Nottingham City Council operate a well-established trade waste collection service, providing collection 

services for recycling and residual waste for many businesses across Nottingham.  

Aligning the options for managing resources and waste in commercial settings in a manner similar to 

that which residents are used to at home helps to ensure consistency, improve recycling behaviour and 

therefore increase overall recycling performance. As such, the Council states the following ambition:  

Ambition No. 8 –  

Nottingham City Council will develop its collection service from businesses and organisations to improve 

recycling performance and to contribute to the achievement of the national 65% recycling target by 

2035, whilst remaining a high quality and competitive service. 

5.4 Dealing with the waste that is left over 
Only once the options across the higher aspects of the waste hierarchy (prevention, reuse, repair, 

recycling) have been exhausted, will Nottingham address look to how to manage the waste that is left 

over.   

Suitable residual waste is transported to the Eastcroft Energy from Waste (EfW) plant after recyclables 

have been taken out (either by our householders, at the HWRC or at other waste recycling facilities). 

This residual waste is incinerated to maximise energy recovery. Since 1972, Nottingham City Council 

have provided an EfW solution for the residual waste left over after recycling to keep waste away from 

landfill14. 

Any residual waste not suitable for Eastcroft is processed to produce Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) which is 

used as a substitute fuel to coal and other fossil fuels for the manufacture of cement. 

Landfill is utilised as a last resort when EfW capacity or RDF production is not available. 

The Government has set a target for England, that no more than 10% of municipal waste should be sent 

to landfill by 2035.  Nottingham already achieves this target with less than 8% disposed of to landfill. 

Nottingham sets the following ambitions: 

Ambition No. 9 –  

Nottingham City Council will continue to prioritise energy recovery and avoidance of waste to landfill for 

all waste that remains once material has been recycled, reused and composted. 

 

 

 
14 NCC also recover the ash that is left over from the energy recovery process. The metal and aggregate content of 
this material (know as Incinerator Bottom Ash) can be sent for recycling.  

Page 36



27 
 

Ambition No. 10 – 

Nottingham City Council will continue to extract more recyclables from residual waste to maximise the 

use of materials (at present this is metals and aggregate recovered from incinerator ash). 

 

Ambition No. 11 – 

Nottingham City Council to continue to keep waste sent to landfill to under 8% of that collected, well in 

advance of the 10% national target for 2035.  

5.5 Leading By Example 
Nottingham will set an example to its residents and businesses by ensuring that they are at the forefront 

of development, leading by example to reduce waste and conserve resources.  

Nottingham is aware of its role in managing wastes and conserving resources in Council buildings and 

activities and makes sets the following ambition: 

Ambition No. 12 – 

Nottingham City Council will lead by example by reviewing their internal purchasing activities and waste 

management services to promote waste prevention and encourage reuse and recycling within its 

internal operations. 

5.6 Communications & Engagement  
Communications are an essential part of the waste and recycling service to ensure that residents are 

well informed and able to participate fully in services. To do so, residents need to fully understand what 

services are available to them, how they operate and the role they play.  Well-designed communications 

are also those that target particular or perceived barriers and offer solutions or information to 

overcome them. They demonstrate an understanding of the current situation, are consistent with their 

messaging and clearly identify the desired outcomes (i.e. separating food waste from residual waste, or 

reducing contamination). 

Clear and effective communication between Nottingham and its residents is essential to ensure that the 

objectives of this Strategy are met. As such, Nottingham commits to: 

 

Introducing Food Waste in Wales – Lessons Learnt 

• Treating the concept of waste collection as much as part of the service as 

recycling and residual streams. 

• Targeting the ‘food waste to energy’ message to educate and increase 

engagement. 

• Only using inedible food waste in imagery to relay the waste minimisation 

message as the first priority, using food waste collections for only what is left.  

 

Page 37



28 
 

 

Ambition No. 13 – 

Nottingham City Council aims to continue to proactively engage with residents, through a variety of 

mechanisms, to promote waste prevention, low waste alternatives, reuse and repair schemes in the city 

with the aim of reducing overall waste arisings and helping develop more sustainable lifestyles.   

 

Ambition No. 14 – 

Nottingham City Council aims to continue to proactively engage with residents, through a variety of 

mechanisms, to ensure maximum participation in recycling services in the aim of improving kerbside 

recycling performance. This will include clear and effective communication regarding the recycling and 

waste collection service.  

 

Ambition No. 15 – 

Nottingham City Council aims to provide more education in schools covering sustainable living; the 

linkage between the 3 R’s (Reduce, Reuse, Recycle) and providing the resources we need as a society, 

and; how good management of resources helps to tackle climate change. 

 

Ambition No. 16 – 

The Council will continue to provide clear and effective communication regarding waste prevention, 

reuse, repair and recycling services by promoting best practice behaviours which support the circular 

economy and contributes to the net zero aspirations of the Council. 

5.7 Working towards Net Zero carbon in Nottingham 
The measures throughout this draft Strategy will make significant reductions to carbon emissions from 

the municipal waste management service. Modelling undertaken for the Options Appraisal process 

indicates that by implementing all of the best performing collection measures within this Strategy, using 

current data, the carbon savings of the range of -650 – 3,400 tonnes of CO2 equivalent would be 

delivered each year, compared against the present service. This is the equivalent (in carbon emissions 

terms) of taking up to 1,200 cars off the road. 

Nottingham has been a leading authority in the transition to alternative fuel vehicles. As of 2021, 

Nottingham had switched over 40% of its fleet to e-vehicles and has a target of 100% electric or 

renewable fuel fleet by 2028, in lined the CN28 targets. Amongst its electric fleets are over 130 vans, 50 

cars, 14 cage tippers and 8 sweepers.  

Nottingham City Council also currently operate 8 electric waste collection vehicles (eRCVs) and this fleet 

is due expand with more expected to come online, up to 20 eRCVs, out of a fleet of 29 collection 

vehicles (as per the Options Appraisal).  

 

Page 38



29 
 

Ambition No. 17 –  

Nottingham City Council will continue to expand its fleet of alternative fuel vehicles to reduce the 

carbon emissions of the service that are associated with waste and recycling collection and 

transportation to improve local air quality.  

6 Where will this Strategy take us? 
The need to reduce carbon emissions to achieve net zero in Nottingham will require significant changes 

to our everyday lifestyles and behaviour in order to reduce the impact we have on the environment.  

Nottingham has led from the front for many years in terms of its use of energy recovery and district 

heating capabilities. However, we live in a changing world and as we move forward, more challenges will 

arise, and as a Council we will need to adapt and change in order to meet these requirements.  

We have seen significant changes in resources and waste across Nottingham over the last 20 years and 

upcoming policy looks set to keep the industry evolving. This is both driven by lifestyle changes (more 

on-line shopping) and advancements in technology and design (lighter weight packaging, new materials) 

changing the materials we use and dispose of, including the use of more plastic. Because plastic is 

usually oil based (fossil carbon), this conflicts with the aims of a low carbon future, unless we can recycle 

that material multiple times. 

Managing these uncertainties and ongoing changes to resource and waste management requires a 

Strategy that is both robust, but also flexible and responsive to be able to approach new challenges. 

Within this Strategy we have set out a number of ambitions to deliver real change and improvements to 

the management of resources and waste within Nottingham. 

A projection of future waste growth rates, informed by housing forecasts and residual waste reduction 

assumptions, is shown in Figure 3, with High, Low and Core projections shown. This would be delivered 

by a variety of local waste prevention and reuse activities and also driven by national changes driven by 

packaging producers affected by the Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) measures.  

Page 39



30 
 

Figure 3: Waste growth projections for wastes collected by Nottingham City Council, 2019 - 2050 

 

The measures explored in the accompanying options appraisal document show how Nottingham’s 

recycling performance could increase from c.23% to c.42% through effective recycling and separation 

systems. It also demonstrates a potential carbon saving of  c.3,400tonnes of CO2 per annum is 

achievable. National changes, as explained in section 2.1 of this draft R&WS, could drive separation and 

recycling in the city to over 50% as recycling is made easier and clearer.  

The vision and objectives of the draft R&WS cannot be met by the actions of Nottingham City Council 

alone. It requires residents and businesses of the city to consider their purchases and consumption of 

resources and then to seek to use the available reuse, repair and recycling systems for them, when they 

are no longer wanted. The Council’s role is to help provide good information on waste prevention 

activity and encourage the right behaviours through education and enforcement, and as such either 

directly provide or facilitate the collection, reuse, repair, recycling of unwanted materials, goods or 

wastes. 

7 Consultation and Next Steps 
This document presents a ‘consultation draft’ of the Strategy.  

Nottingham City Council are seeking feedback and the views of its residents and communities, including 

businesses that use, or are affected by the proposed resource and waste services in this Strategy.  

The feedback obtained from a Public Consultation Questionnaire will inform the development of the 

final Strategy for publication.  

The Consultation Questionnaire is available online via the Council’s website by following the links -  

www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk  

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

200,000

To
ta

l C
o

u
n

ci
l W

as
te

 A
ri

si
n

gs
 (

to
n

n
es

 p
er

 
an

n
u

m
)

Projection A (High Decline)

Projection B (Low Decline)

Projection C (No Decline)

DRS & EPR

Including Derby's trade 
waste

Page 40

http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/


31 
 

If you have further comments or wish to request another format, please email 

customersupport@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  

The deadline for responses is 5th December 2022. 

7.1 Supporting Documents  
This draft R&WS has been informed by research, analysis and consultation. It is supported and 

accompanied by the following documents: 

- Options Appraisal. This is an assessment of alternative resource and waste service delivery 

options, analysing combinations of factors such as waste collection methods, recycling options, 

or treatment approaches. The outcome was a selection of possible approaches to meet the 

Strategy aims and objectives. 

- Non-technical Summary of the Options Appraisal report to aid and assist in consultation 

feedback   

- Stakeholder engagement. The draft R&WS has been informed by officers and Councillors of 

Nottingham City Council. 

- Public Consultation. A consultation questionnaire has been developed on key elements of the 

draft R&WS to gather feedback from the residents and communities of Nottingham.  

 

 

Page 41

mailto:customersupport@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Nottingham City Council        
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A DRAFT MUNICIPAL RESOURCES AND 

WASTE STRATEGY FOR NOTTINGHAM 

 

 

WASTE COLLECTION OPTIONS APPRAISAL  

Page 43



Nottingham City Council        
 i 

 

Acknowledgements: 

Produced for Nottingham City Council by Frith Resource Management. 

Frith Resource Management would like to thank the essential contributions from Nottingham City Council staff and 

representatives, particularly Antony Greener, Carl Pendleton and Alvin Henry.  

Disclaimer:  

Frith Resource Management Ltd (FRM) is an independent waste and resource management consultancy providing advice in 

accordance with the project brief. FRM has taken all reasonable care and diligence in the preparation of this report to ensure 

that all facts and analysis presented are as accurate as possible within the scope of the project. However no guarantee is 

provided in respect of the information presented, and FRM is not responsible for decisions or actions taken on the basis of the 

content of this report. 

 

55a Unit 2   
High Street 
Bridgnorth 
Shropshire  
WV16 4DX 
United Kingdom 

www.frithrm.com  

+44 (0) 1746 552423  

  

For and behalf Frith Resource Management 

Dr Muaaz Wright-Syed, Sarah Massey 

Environmental Consultant, Senior 

Environmental Consultant 

 

 Paul Frith 

Director 

 

Lead Author 

Frith Resource Management 

Reviewer 

Frith Resource Management 

 

Page 44

http://www.frithrm.com/


Nottingham City Council        
 ii 

 

Index 
CAPEX The money spent to purchase fixed assets relating to an organisation or corporate entity. For a 

Local Authority waste service this includes the purchase of vehicles and potentially containers. 

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

DMR Dry-mixed recycling 

DRS A policy tool which involves paying a deposit for an item (added to the retail price at point of 
purchase) which is then redeemed when it is returned to a designated point. Through the 
National Resources and Waste Strategy for England, the Government has announced that a DRS 
for England, Wales and Northern Ireland will be introduced from 2025 for drinks containers.  
The aim of the scheme is to boost recycling rates, reduce littering and improve the quality of 
material collected for recycling. 

EPR A policy tool which requires producers to be responsible for the packaging they place on the 
market at the end of its life. It is intended to promote packaging design which considers resource 
inputs and easier end of life recovery (e.g. reuse or recycling) of the resources within the 
products. The new EPR system announced in the National Resources & Waste Strategy for 
England (which is intended to be implemented from 2024) will require packaging producers to 
pay for the full net costs of collecting, handling, recycling and disposing of packaging waste. 

FA Fly ash 

FRM Frith Resource Management 

HH Household 
HWRC Facilities operated by Local Authorities to provide a site for residents wanting to dispose of and 

recycle a wide range of materials, further to the service provided at the kerbside.  Commonly 
referred to as ‘tips’ 

IBA Incinerator bottom ash 

KAT Kerbside Analysis Tool 

KPI Key performance indicator 

L Litre 

LA Local authority 

LACW Local authority collected waste  

MRF Materials recovery facility 

MWCA Metropolitan waste collection authority 

NCC Nottingham City Council 
Net Zero Net Zero means achieving a balance between the total greenhouse gas emissions released into 

the atmosphere, and the total emissions removed from the environment (for example through 
natural carbon sinks such as forest and oceans). The net zero target for the UK is defined as the 
total greenhouse gas emissions released into the atmosphere being equal to or less than the 
emissions removed from the environment.1 

RAWPIC Resource and Waste Policy Impact Calculator developed by Suez in partnership with LARAC, 
Project Integra and the Kent Resource Partnership 

R&WS Resources & Waste Strategy 

UA Unitary Authority 

WDF Waste Data Flow 

WHB Wheelie bin 

WRAP Waste & Resources Action Programme 

WRATE Waste and Resources Assessment Tool for the Environment 

 

 
1 Net zero and the different official measures of the UK's greenhouse gas emissions - Office for National Statistics 

Page 45

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/netzeroandthedifferentofficialmeasuresoftheuksgreenhousegasemissions/2019-07-24


Nottingham City Council        
 iii 

 

Executive Summary 
Frith Resource Management (FRM) has been engaged by Nottingham City Council (referred to as ‘NCC’, 

Nottingham or ‘the Council’) to support the update of its Municipal Waste Management Strategy. A 

Municipal Waste Management Strategy (MWMS), in this case termed a ‘Resources & Waste Strategy 

for Nottingham’, requires an Options Appraisal to help prioritise between alternative waste 

management options for the purposes of service delivery, procurement, and planning. This report 

provides a summary of the collection options. 

The recycling options have been modelled using the Kerbside Analysis Tool (KAT2) which gives 

comparative annualised costs for different collection systems. Each option has been evaluated against 

modelled costs and recycling performance criteria. It also takes into consideration the future policy 

landscape, operational flexibility, health & safety, public acceptability and social value factors. In 

support of a transition to a circular economy and aspirations for Nottingham to be carbon neutral by 

2028 (see CN28), the project also assesses the environmental impact of providing a waste management 

service (including from collection, transporting and onward transfer and processing of materials).    

The five selected alternative options were agreed during a workshop with representatives from 

Nottingham City Council. The options modelled (in addition to the baseline / current service) are 

summarised in the following table.  Any change from the baseline is highlighted in purple.  

 

Option Collection Stream Frequency Capacity 

Baseline 

 

As current 

Residual Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Dry Recycling 

(co-mingled) 

Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Food waste  None 

Garden waste  

(free) 

Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin  

Option 1 

 

Twin-stream 

collection with 

weekly food 

waste 

 

Residual waste Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Dry recycling 

(Twin-stream  + film 

+ cartons) 

Fortnightly 1x 70L bag – paper & card, 

1x 180L WHB – plastic, 

cartons, glass and metals  

Food waste   Weekly 
Kerbside caddy +  

kitchen caddy 

Garden waste  

(free) 

Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Option 2 

 

Twin-stream 

collection with 

weekly food and 

restricted 

residual capacity  

Residual waste Fortnightly 140L Wheeled Bin 

Dry recycling 

(Twin-stream  + film  

+ cartons) 

Fortnightly (1x 70L bag – paper & card, 

1x 180L3 WHB – plastic, 

cartons, glass and metals) 

Food waste   Weekly 
Kerbside caddy +  

kitchen caddy 

Garden waste  Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

 
2 The Kerbside Analysis Tool (KAT) is a publicly available model developed by WRAP for comparing the costs of 

different household waste collection systems. More information is Section provided in Error! Reference source not found..  
3 There would also be the option of swapping the current 240L residual bin to be used for the recycling, and issuing 

a new 140L bin for residual waste. This option has been considered in the ‘cost of change’ section of this report. 

Page 46



Nottingham City Council        
 iv 

 

Option Collection Stream Frequency Capacity 

(free) 

Option 3 

 

Multi-stream 

recycling with 

weekly food 

waste  

Residual waste Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Dry recycling 

(Multi-stream + film 

+ cartons) 

Weekly 3x 40L boxes; paper & 

card; glass &metals; plastic 

& cartons 

Food waste   Weekly 
Kerbside caddy +  

kitchen caddy 

Garden waste  

(free) 

Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Option 4 

 

Multi-stream dry 

recycling with 

weekly food 

waste and 

restricted 

residual capacity  

Residual waste Fortnightly 140L Wheeled Bin 

Dry recycling 

(Multi-stream,  

+ film + cartons) 

Weekly 3x 40L boxes; paper & 

card; glass & metals; plastic 

& cartons 

Food waste   Weekly 
Kerbside caddy +  

kitchen caddy 

Garden waste  

(free) 

Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Option 5 

 

As Option 1 with 

co-collection of 

paper and food.   

Residual waste Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Dry recycling 

(Twin-stream, + film 

+ cartons) 

Frequency varies 

Paper & card – co-collected 

(with food) on podded 

vehicle – weekly 

Plastic, glass, cartons and 

metals – fortnightly 

1x 70L bag – paper & card 

1x 180L WHB – plastic, 

glass, cartons and metals 

Food waste   
Weekly (co-collected with 

paper and card) 

Kerbside caddy +  

kitchen caddy 

Garden waste  

(free) 

Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

 

The results are presented using quantitative results from the modelling, where available, and for other 

more qualitative criteria a ‘traffic’ light system is applied, whereby green presents the ‘best’ option and 

red presents the ‘worst’ performing option, against each criterion, relative to the other options. Shades 

of green, amber and red are used for intermediate rankings. The summary of the options appraisal 

evaluation is as follows: 

  

Category Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

Total cost (Collection, Treatment and 
Disposal)  

£13.4m £14.5m £14.4m £13.6m £13.7m £14.6m 

Kerbside Recycling performance (%) 22.57% 29.14% 37.12% 28.50% 34.64% 29.67% 

Total Environmental Benefit (carbon, 
kgCO2-eq)  

642,300 -13,700 -2,834,260 -31,400 -2,156,579 -287,600 

Cost of Change (initial Capex) N/A £6m 
£6.4m -

8.7m 
£3.2m £5.9m £4.5m 

Page 47



Nottingham City Council        
 v 

 

Category Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

Alignment to R&WS / TEEP /National Policy       

Public acceptability       

Operational flexibility (deliverability)       

Social Value4       

Health and Safety       

Legend 

 

• In terms of recycling performance, all options have an improved kerbside recycling rate (%) from 

the baseline (22.57%), with option 2 performing the highest (37.12%) followed by option 4 

(34.64%). Option 2 models a twin-stream collection with restricted residual collections (smaller 

bins) whilst option 4 models a kerbside-sort dry recycling collection also with restricted residual 

collections. 

• This includes the full suite of materials proposed by the Consistent Collections policy being 

implemented by Government. Each option includes the current range of materials collected by 

NCC, plus food waste collections, plastic film and cartons. 

• All alternative options result in an increased kerbside collection costs relative to the current 

service ranging from £2.36 million to £2.73 million in additional costs. The option with the 

greatest annualised collection costs is option 4. Option 1 results in the lowest additional 

annualised gross collection cost compared to the baseline, which models a twin-stream dry 

recycling service, separate food waste collection and retains the current residual waste 

collection service. 

• Options 4 and 3 have the cheapest treatment and disposal costs of the options modelled at £5 

million and £5.6 million respectively. Notably these are the only options that generate a revenue 

for the treatment of dry recycling. This is driven by the increased recyclate quality obtained via 

the multi-stream collection system.   

• In terms of total net whole-system costs, the baseline and options 3 and 4 are the most cost-

effective options. 

• All options will incur a cost of change (i.e. procuring new vehicles and containers), ranging from 

c. £3.2 million (option 3) – c. £8.7 million (option 2), with options 3 and 5 incurring the lowest 

CAPEX costs.  

• The baseline (current) waste management service across NCC is modelled to result in an overall 

net emission of 642t CO2-eq. All options have a significantly improved carbon performance 

relative to the baseline, with option 2 providing the highest amount of net savings (-2,834t CO2-

eq). 

• Of the qualitative criteria (those with traffic light colouring), the multi-stream collections 

(options 3 & 4) score lower on public acceptability, operational flexibility and health and safety, 

but score well as regards alignment to proposed national policy and social value. The two stream 

collections (options 1, 2 and 5) and the baseline score higher on public acceptability and 

 
4 Job creation, wider health benefits, well-being, community benefits. See Appendix E for further detail 

Worst    Best 

Page 48



Nottingham City Council        
 vi 

 

operational flexibility but may not fully align to the Resources & Waste Strategy. The results 

show that there is a trade-off between alignment with Government Policy versus public 

acceptability, operational flexibility and Health & Safety in particular.  

• No weighting has been applied to the evaluation criteria, the preferred option will be ultimately 

determined by which elements NCC deem most important or have the highest priority.  

In addition to the main options appraisal, the impact of communications and public outreach is also 

considered and modelled on the highest performing options (options 2 and 4) to assess the full 

potential of adapting the service to these options.  

For the optimised options 2 and 4, the impact of public outreach and communications improves the 

recycling rate for options 2 (37.12%) and 4 (34.64%) to 40.64% and 38.07% respectively. Due to the 

improved recycling performance, the carbon impacts as shown below are considerably improved as 

well. 

  

In order to determine the Nottingham City Council recycling rate it is necessary to adjust the kerbside 

recycling rate to take account of recycling and waste management in other aspects of the Nottingham 

service (e.g. the Household Waste Recycling Centre). This adds around 1.5% to the kerbside recycling 

rate meaning c. 42% recycling is acheivable using methods in this appraisal. Furthermore, national 

policy and intervention around aspects like mandatory labelling of packaging for recyclability, national 

communications campaigns and Extended Producer Responsibility5 and further local initiatives around 

litter recycling and the HWRC service could enable citywide recycling rates of >50% to be achieved. 

 

 
5 Making packaging producers 100% responsible for the cost of collecting and managing those goods at 

the end of their life. 

40.64% 38.07%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

Option 2 Option 4

K/
S 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
ra

te

To
n

n
es

Residual Dry recycling Food

Page 49



Nottingham City Council        
 vii 

 

 

642,300

-2,834,260

-3,488,827

-2,156,579

-2,931,251

-4,000,000

-3,000,000

-2,000,000

-1,000,000

0

1,000,000

Baseline Option 2 Option 2
Optimised

Option 4 Option 4
Optimised

C
a

rb
o

n
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
(k

g
 C

O
2

-E
q

) Climate change: GWP 100a

Page 50



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
 1 

 

Contents  
 

1 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................... 3 
1.1 Background ................................................................................................................................... 3 
1.2 Alternative Options ....................................................................................................................... 3 

2 BASELINE PERFORMANCE & BENCHMARKING ...................................................... 5 
2.1 Current Service (Baseline) ........................................................................................................... 10 

3 METHODOLOGY ................................................................................................. 11 
3.1 KAT Modelling (Collection) ......................................................................................................... 11 
3.2 Treatment & Disposal Costs ........................................................................................................ 11 
3.3 DRS & EPR ................................................................................................................................... 11 

3.3.1 EPR & Net-Burdens ...................................................................................................................... 12 
3.3.1.1 EPR ........................................................................................................................................ 12 
3.3.1.2 Unredeemed DRS Deposits ................................................................................................. 13 
3.3.1.3 Net New Burdens ................................................................................................................. 13 

3.4 WRATE Assessment .................................................................................................................... 14 
3.4.1 Key Assumptions for WRATE ....................................................................................................... 14 

3.4.1.1 Baseline ................................................................................................................................ 15 
3.4.1.2 Option 1 ................................................................................................................................ 15 
3.4.1.3 Option 2 ................................................................................................................................ 15 
3.4.1.4 Option 3 ................................................................................................................................ 15 
3.4.1.5 Option 4 ................................................................................................................................ 15 
3.4.1.6 Option 5 ................................................................................................................................ 15 

4 OPTIONS APPRAISAL RESULTS & DISCUSSION ..................................................... 16 
4.1 Kerbside Recycling Performance................................................................................................. 17 
4.2 Total Indicative Recycling Performance ...................................................................................... 18 
4.3 Total Gross Operational Cost ...................................................................................................... 19 

4.3.1 Kerbside Collection Cost ............................................................................................................. 19 
4.3.2 Treatment & Disposal Costs ........................................................................................................ 21 
4.3.3 Cost of Change ............................................................................................................................. 23 
4.3.4 Optimised Collection Options ..................................................................................................... 24 

4.4 Carbon & Environmental Performance ....................................................................................... 27 
4.5 National Policy Alignment ........................................................................................................... 29 
4.6 Public Acceptability ..................................................................................................................... 30 
4.7 Operational Flexibility & Deliverability ........................................................................................ 31 
4.8 Social Value ................................................................................................................................. 32 
4.9 Health & Safety ........................................................................................................................... 32 
4.10 EPR & Net-Burdens ..................................................................................................................... 33 

5 SUMMARY & CONCLUDING REMARKS................................................................ 34 

I. APPENDIX A  - KAT MODEL ASSUMPTIONS & OUTPUTS ......................................... I 
II. APPENDIX B – TREATMENT & DISPOSAL COSTS ................................................. XIII 
III. APPENDIX C  - WRATE SCHEMATICS .................................................................. XIV 

IV. APPENDIX D – WRATE VEHICLE MILEAGES ......................................................... XX 

V. APPENDIX E – ADDITIONAL WRATE RESULTS .....................................................XXII 
VI. APPENDIX F – EVALUATION CRITERIA & SOCIAL VALUE WORKINGS ................. XXIV 

 

List of Tables 
Table 1 – Details of alternative options modelled in KAT ............................................................................. 4 
Table 2 – NCC’s current waste collection service .......................................................................................... 5 
Table 3 – WRAP LA Portal benchmarking analysis results (2019/20) ........................................................... 6 
Table 4 – Service details for NCC’s highest performing nearest neighbours ............................................... 8 

Page 51



Nottingham City Council        
 2 

 

Table 5 – Service details for the highest performing core cities from the analysis above.......................... 9 
Table 6 – NCC’s Current service collection cost and recycling rate ........................................................... 10 
Table 7 – Kerbside recycling performance breakdown for each option .................................................... 18 
Table 8 - NCC's total indicative recycling performance .............................................................................. 18 
Table 9 - Breakdown of annualised collection costs for the modelled options ......................................... 20 
Table 10 - Breakdown of treatment and disposal costs for all the modelled options .............................. 22 
Table 11 - Net cost of each modelled option .............................................................................................. 22 
Table 12 - CAPEX cost of each option .......................................................................................................... 23 
Table 13 – Breakdown of tonnage for optimised options 2 and 4 ............................................................. 25 
Table 14 – Collection costs for optimised options 2 and 4 ......................................................................... 25 
Table 15 – Treatment and haulage costs for optimised options 2 and 4 .................................................. 26 
Table 16 – Total system costs for optimised options 2 and 4 .................................................................... 26 
Table 17 - Breakdown of carbon impacts for each option.......................................................................... 28 
Table 18 - National policy alignment assessment ....................................................................................... 29 
Table 19 - Public acceptability assessment .................................................................................................. 30 
Table 20 - Operational flexibility assessment .............................................................................................. 31 
Table 21 - Social value assessment .............................................................................................................. 32 
Table 22 - Health and safety assessment .................................................................................................... 32 
Table 23 – Estimated EPR-obligated material income ................................................................................ 33 
Table 24 - Summary of key considerations for each option ....................................................................... 34 

 

List of Figures 
 

Figure 1 – NCC’s historic kerbside recycling rate. ......................................................................................... 7 
Figure 2 – NCC’s historic residual waste yield per household.4 .................................................................... 7 
Figure 3 – NCC’s nearest neighbour benchmarking analysis for kerbside recycling rate. .......................... 8 
Figure 4 – Core cities benchmarking analysis for NCC’s kerbside recycling rate. ........................................ 9 
Figure 5 – Cost of service benchmarking analysis for NCC. ........................................................................ 10 
Figure 6 – Recycling performance results for the options modelled ......................................................... 17 
Figure 7 - NCC's total indicative recycling rate ............................................................................................ 18 
Figure 8 - Collection costs of modelled options relative to baseline ......................................................... 21 
Figure 9 - Collection cost per household for the modelled options ........................................................... 21 
Figure 10 - Whole system cost of each option per household ................................................................... 23 
Figure 11 – Recycling performance results of optimised options 2 and 4 ................................................. 24 
Figure 12 - Headline carbon impacts associated with each modelled option ........................................... 27 
Figure 13 – Carbon assessment of optimised options 2 and 4 ................................................................... 29 

 

No index entries found.

Page 52



Nottingham City Council        
 3 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Background 
Nottingham City Council are in the process of updating the current Municipal Waste 

Management Strategy (MWMS or ‘the Strategy’). Frith Resource Management (FRM) has been engaged 

by Nottingham City Council (referred to as ‘NCC’, or ‘the Council’) to support in the process. A Municipal 

Waste Management Strategy (MWMS), in this case termed a ‘Resources & Waste Strategy for 

Nottingham’, requires an Options Appraisal to help prioritise between alternative waste management 

options for the purposes of service delivery, procurement, and planning. This report provides a 

summary of the collection options. 

 An overview of Nottingham’s current (baseline) position has been developed to firstly 

understand how the current service is delivered. Benchmarking data allows us to compare the current 

performance against others, using different demographic groups as comparators. This is summarised 

in Section 2. The methodology for the Options Appraisal was discussed at workshops with NCC staff and 

representatives over 2 workshops, see Section 3 for more information. An appraisal of five alternative 

collection options, in comparison to the baseline, follows in Section 4. 

Sensitivity analysis has been applied to the highest performing two options to explore the 

potential that increased communications and behaviour change campaigns (reflecting both local and 

national opportunities). This is discussed in Section 4.2.4. 

1.2 Alternative Options 
Table 1 outlines the alternative collection options which have been modelled. These options 

have been agreed with NCC staff and representatives over 2 workshops carried out for this project. 

These alternative options apply to the core (kerbside) collection service and do not include additional 

tonnage collected through bulky waste, street sweepings or commercial waste.  

The baseline situation represents the current service, whilst all other options add food waste 

collection to the service (using a 23L bin + small kitchen caddy), as well as also adding plastic film and 

cartons to the recycling collection. It is also noted that the garden waste collection service remains 

identical to the baseline service in all the options. Any change from the baseline is highlighted in purple.  

Options 1 and 2 change the current commingled service to a twin-stream whereby the paper 

and card are collected in reusable bags with 180L WHBs. Food waste is collected on separate 7.5t 

dedicated food waste vehicles, and these 2 options differ from each other in that option 2 provides a 

restricted residual waste capacity, in the form of 140L WHBs (reducing the average weekly capacity 

available to households from 120L to 70L).  

Options 3 and 4 represent a multi-stream dry recycling collection (where materials are sorted 

into different compartments on a specialist vehicle at the kerbside), which is collected weekly alongside 

the food waste (which is placed in a separate compartment on the collection vehicle). Options 3 and 4 

differ in that option 4 provides a restricted residual waste capacity in the form of a 140L bin. Option 5 

is very similar to option 1, with the only change being that the food waste is collected on the same 

vehicle as is used to collect the separated paper and card collection. This is via a specialist collection 

vehicle with a pod for the food waste. 

  

Page 53



Nottingham City Council        
 4 

 

Table 1 – Details of alternative options modelled in KAT 

Option Collection Stream Frequency Capacity 

Baseline 

 

As current 

Residual Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Dry Recycling (co-mingled) Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Food waste  None 

Garden waste (free) Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin  

Option 1 

 

Twin-stream 

collection with 

weekly food waste 

 

Residual waste Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Dry recycling 

(Twin-stream  + film 

+ cartons) 

Fortnightly 1x 70L bag – paper & card, 

1x 180L WHB – plastic, cartons, glass 

and metals  

Food waste   Weekly 
Kerbside caddy +  

kitchen caddy 

Garden waste (free) Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Option 2 

 

Twin-stream 

collection with 

weekly food and 

restricted residual 

capacity  

Residual waste Fortnightly 140L Wheeled Bin 

Dry recycling 

(Twin-stream  + film  

+ cartons) 

Fortnightly (1x 70L bag – paper & card, 

1x 180L6 WHB – plastic, cartons, 

glass and metals) 

Food waste   Weekly 
Kerbside caddy +  

kitchen caddy 

Garden waste (free) Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Option 3 

 

Multi-stream 

recycling with 

weekly food waste  

Residual waste Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Dry recycling 

(Multi-stream + film 

+ cartons) 

Weekly 3x 40L boxes; paper & card; glass 

&metals;, plastic & cartons 

Food waste   Weekly 
Kerbside caddy +  

kitchen caddy 

Garden waste (free) Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Option 4 

 

Multi-stream dry 

recycling with 

weekly food waste 

and restricted 

residual capacity  

Residual waste Fortnightly 140L Wheeled Bin 

Dry recycling 

(Multi-stream,  

+ film + cartons) 

Weekly 3x 40L boxes; paper & card; glass & 

metals; plastic & cartons 

Food waste   Weekly 
Kerbside caddy +  

kitchen caddy 

Garden waste (free) Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Option 5 

 

As Option 1 with 

co-collection of 

paper and food.   

Residual waste Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

Dry recycling 

(Twin-stream, + film 

+ cartons) 

Paper & card – co-

collected (with food) on 

podded vehicle - weekly 

Plastic, glass, cartons 

and metals – fortnightly 

1x 70L bag – paper & card 

1x 180L WHB – plastic, glass, cartons 

and metals 

Food waste   
Weekly (co-collected 

with paper and card) 

Kerbside caddy +  

kitchen caddy 

Garden waste (free) Fortnightly 240L Wheeled Bin 

 
6 There would also be the option of swapping the current 240L residual bin to be used for the recycling, and issuing 

a new 140L bin for residual waste. This option has been considered in the ‘cost of change’ section of this report. 

Page 54



Nottingham City Council        
 5 

 

 

2 Baseline Performance & Benchmarking 
This section summarises the current waste and recycling services provided by NCC. It provides 

a high-level assessment of the council’s recycling performance and how this compares to others, based 

on published data. Information was taken from WasteDataFlow and WRAP’s Local Authority portal to 

supplement data provided by each of the councils.  

Benchmarking is carried out in order to understand each council’s current performance in 

comparison to other local authorities with similar demographics and household waste collection 

services. Using the WRAP LA portal, users are able to access data on local authority waste and recycling 

services, including performance benchmarking.  

The most recent data uploaded to the WRAP LA portal data is 2019/20. This covers kerbside 

collected tonnages and excludes additional Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) such as bring banks 

and RHWS’s. The six core dry recycling materials reported on the portal are paper, cardboard, cans, 

glass, plastic bottles and plastic tubs and trays (PTT). Where plastic film is collected by the districts, this 

is also included. 

Table 2 shows the current collection service operated by NCC. The frequency of all waste 

collections is currently fortnightly, dry recycling service is commingled and a separate food waste 

collection is not currently provided.  

Table 2 – NCC’s current waste collection service 

Collection  Frequency  Container  

Residual Fortnightly 240L WHB 

Dry Recycling 

(commingled) 
Fortnightly 240L WHB 

Food waste  Not Provided 

Garden waste  

(free) 
Fortnightly 240L WHB 

 

The following provides a breakdown of the treatment and/or disposal routes for each of the 

waste streams for NCC as understood by FRM and used for the purposes of this Options Appraisal: 

• Residual: 94% of total tonnage to Eastcroft EfW7, during shutdown and maintenance 

6% goes to a residual waste materials recovery facility (MRF)8 where some materials 

are separated for recycling (e.g. metals), a fraction sent for use as a fuel at a cement 

kiln and rejects are sent to landfill. 

• Dry recycling: sent to a MRF for materials separation before being sent for reprocessing 

• Garden waste: The garden waste collected is sent for composting (at Simpro Ltd) 

Table 3 provides a summary of the WRAP LA Portal benchmarking analysis for NCC for 2019/20. 

Other than the paper yield (which is in the bottom 50% of similar authorities in terms of performance), 

 
7 Eastcroft EfW Facility: https://eastcroft.fccenvironment.co.uk/ 
8 A residual waste materials recycling facility is also known as a ‘dirty MRF’, as distinct from a materials 

recycling facility that separates comingled recycling, which is a ‘clean MRF’, or simply a MRF. 

Page 55



Nottingham City Council        
 6 

 

NCC ranks in the bottom 25% for the cumulative and individual yields of all 6 key recyclable materials 

collected when compared against similar LA’s, cities and university towns in England. 

Table 3 – WRAP LA Portal benchmarking analysis results (2019/20) 

Detail 
6 core 

materials 
Paper Card Cans Glass 

Plastic 
bottles 

Plastic 
tubs 

Nottingham City Council 
Yield  (kg/hhd/yr) 

120.1 51.1 18.9 6.2 32.1 8.4 3.3 

How NCC compare 
against other UK 
authorities 

180.9 65.9 29.7 10.5 54 14.8 5.9 

How NCC compare against 
other Las in the East 
Midlands 

       

How NCC compare against 
other authorities with 
similar characteristics – 
ONS classification 
‘University Towns and 
Cities Las’  

       

How NCC compare against 
other authorities in the 
same rurality  
‘Predominantly urban, high 
deprivation Las’ 

       

 

Figure 1 shows NCC’s historic kerbside recycling rate since 2005/6. A steep increase is noted 

up until 2009/10 followed by a gradual decline up to 2020/21. This upward trend between 2005/6 and 

2009/10 can be attributed to the expansion of the recycling service in Nottingham over this time. Since 

this peak, as of 2020/21, the recycling rate for Nottingham was 23.9%. This is substantially below the 

average national performance of 43.8% for the same period. Between 2005/6 and 2010/11 an 

improvement in performance can be seen, however, since the peak performance of 35.9%, the 

recycling performance has steadily decreased over time.  There are a number of factors which could be 

attributed to this decline, including a change in the definition of recycling (and as such the materials 

which could be counted towards the Council’s recycling performance), impacts of austerity, and in 

recent years the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic (which has nationally shown a small decrease in 

recycling rate). 

Page 56



Nottingham City Council        
 7 

 

 

Figure 1 – NCC’s historic kerbside recycling rate.9  

As shown in Figure 2, NCC’s residual waste yields are relatively consistent and generally stay 

within the c. 600-700 kg/household. The yield for 2020/21 was 621.6 kg/household which was above 

the average for the East Midlands region (590 kg/household) and the national average (553 

kg/household) for the same period.  

 

 

Figure 2 – NCC’s historic residual waste yield per household.4  

Figure 3 illustrates a comparison of NCC’s kerbside recycling performance against nearest 

neighbours via a benchmarking group, while Figure 4 shows a comparison against core cities in England. 

NCC ranks on the lower end of the scale for both the analyses. 

 
9 Source: Defra and WDF 

19.5%

23.8%

29.0%

32.5%
35.5%

35.6%

33.1%

31.6%

32.9%

32.9%

30.6%

29.8%

29.9%

26.5%

26.2%
23.9%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%
K

er
b

si
e 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
ra

te
 (

%
) 

Year

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

R
es

id
u

al
 w

as
te

 p
er

 H
H

 (
kg

)

Year

Page 57



Nottingham City Council        
 8 

 

 

Figure 3 – NCC’s nearest neighbour benchmarking analysis for kerbside recycling rate.10  

Following the above, Table 4 provides details for the waste collection services offered by the 

highest performing nearest neighbours respectively to highlight where there are any substantive 

differences in the services offered by the respective Local Authorities. It is noted that all the high 

performers all provide a commingled dry recycling service as per Nottingham, however each offer food 

waste collections, whether that be separately collected or co-collected with garden waste. It is noted 

that two of the top three performers also provide a charge for the collection of garden waste.  

Table 4 – Service details for NCC’s highest performing nearest neighbours 

Local Authority  Collection  Frequency  Container  

Kingston upon Hull 
City Council 

Dry recycling  
(commingled) 

Fortnightly  240L WHB 

Garden waste (free) Fortnightly  240L WHB 

Food waste  Fortnightly  Collected with garden waste  

Residual Fortnightly  240L WHB 

Harlow District Council 

Dry recycling 
(commingled) 

Fortnightly  240L WHB 

Garden waste  
(charged - £42/year) 

Fortnightly  240L WHB 

Food waste  Weekly  Kerbside + kitchen caddy 

Residual  Fortnightly  240L WHB 

Norwich City Council 

Dry recycling  
(commingled) 

Fortnightly  240L WHB 

Garden waste  
(charged - £39.90 or 
£54.60/year dependent 
on bin size) 

Fortnightly  180L or 240L WHB 

Food waste  Weekly  Kerbside + kitchen caddy 

Residual  Fortnightly  240L WHB 

 
10 Source: Defra and WDF 

23.5% 23.9%
30.6% 32.2% 34.0% 34.5% 36.7% 38.3% 41.2%

49.2%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%
Ke

rb
si

d
e 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
ra

te
 (

2
0

2
0

/2
1

)

Nearest Neighbour

Page 58



Nottingham City Council        
 9 

 

 

Figure 4 – Core cities benchmarking analysis for NCC’s kerbside recycling rate.11  

Table 5 details the various waste collection services offered by the highest performing core cities from 

Figure 4 above. It is noted that the highest performer (Bristol City Council) has a smaller residual waste 

bin (180L), it also provides a charged garden waste collection service. All the top performers offer either 

a Multi stream (kerbside sort) or twin-stream dry recycling collection system. This options appraisal 

looks at both multi-stream and twin stream recycling options for Nottingham as well as restricting the 

residual waste capacity.  

Table 5 – Service details for the highest performing core cities from the analysis above 

Local Authority  Collection  Frequency  Container  

Bristol City Council 

Dry recycling  
(kerbside sort) 

Weekly 2 x boxes, 1 x bag 

Garden waste 
(charged - £32/year) 

Fortnightly  240L WHB 

Food waste  Weekly  Kerbside + kitchen caddy 

Residual  Fortnightly 180L WHB 

Newcastle upon Tyne 
City Council 

Dry recycling  
(twin stream) 

Fortnightly  240L WHB + black caddy (glass 
separate) 

Garden waste (free) Fortnightly  240L WHB 

Food waste  Not provided 

Residual  Fortnightly  240L WHB 

Manchester City 
Council 

Dry recycling  
(twin stream) 

Fortnightly  2 x 140L WHB (paper and card 
separate) 

Garden waste (free) Fortnightly  240L WHB 

Food waste  Fortnightly  Collected with garden waste  

Residual  Fortnightly  140L WHB 

Figure 5 shows a cost-of-service comparison for NCC’s current service against all English authorities in 

terms of cost per person. It is shown that NCC operates a very cost-effective service. Furthermore, the 

only authorities that perform better than NCC (lower £/person) are relatively larger combined 

 
11 Source: Defra and WDF 

22.5% 23.5% 23.9%

32.2%
35.1%

36.6%

40.6%

46.4%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%
Ke

rb
si

d
e 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
ra

te
 (

2
0

2
0

/2
1

)

Core Cities (England)

Page 59



Nottingham City Council        
 10 

 

authorities with a considerably larger scale of operation (i.e., economies of scale). Excluding these, only 

the Isle of Wight offers a more cost-effective service. There is a relationship between the cost of the 

service (particularly as regards collection and public engagement) and the recycling performance. 

 

Figure 5 – Cost of service benchmarking analysis for NCC.12  

2.1 Current Service (Baseline)13 
Table 6 below shows an estimate of the total kerbside collection cost for NCC’s current service 

as per the KAT modelling (see Section 3 for full details on methodology). It is estimated to be c. £5.5 

million14, with the largest proportion of the cost being attributed to the residual waste collection 

service, followed by dry mixed recycling (DMR) and garden waste collections respectively.  

Table 6 – NCC’s Current service collection cost and recycling rate 

Kerbside collection (KAT) – 2020/21 Baseline Tonnage 

Annualised recycling collection cost  £1,738,700 13,535 
Annualised garden waste collection cost £1,548,800 9,997 
Annualised residual waste collection cost £2,280,300 75,935 

Total gross collection cost £5,567,800 99,468 

Kerbside recycling rate  23.54%15 

 

 
12 These are all Mets and Unitaries by cost of waste management per head. The red bars are Greater 

Manchester Combined Authority and the yellow bars are Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. Credit: 
Antony Greener, NCC 

13 All service costs rounded to nearest £100 
14 It should be noted that this will not be the same as the collection service budget, which will include a 

number of other overheads and costs 
15 This varies from the reported current NCC recycling rate (23.9%), due to other recycling and disposal 

activity not included within the kerbside model (e.g. the Household Waste Recycling Centre) 

City of Nottingham UA, 30.06

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

£
/p

er
so

n

Page 60



Nottingham City Council        
 11 

 

3 Methodology 

3.1 KAT Modelling (Collection) 
The Kerbside Analysis Tool (KAT) was utilised to provide a comparative assessment of cost and 

operational requirements for the baseline (current) collection service and will be used to model the 

agreed alternative collection scenarios. KAT data proformas were originally completed by council 

officers and further clarifications were provided on request.  

The baseline models are designed to reflect the current service operation, at the time of 

modelling, and are therefore a good representation of the service. All cost elements are annualised, 

including existing bins, vehicles etc and consist of a mixture of actual and standardised costs so should 

be considered to be indicative. This approach allows a ‘like for like’ comparison against alternative 

collection systems but would not be reflective of the differential capital investment required to install 

a new system straight away. In order to calculate actual costs of an alternative system that takes 

account of existing infrastructure and vehicles, a more bespoke analysis should be undertaken including 

practical aspects of service implementation (e.g. swapping bins for different elements of the service, 

transferring/ selling redundant vehicles etc.).  

The year 2020/21 has been chosen as the baseline year, and tonnage input data has been 

provided by NCC, as per information required for input into WasteDataFlow.    

Please note that the costs identified by KAT for each scenario are annualised as noted above 

and the recycling rates outlined within this section are ‘kerbside recycling rates’ of the core16 service 

rather than the total recycling rate of the council17.  

Appendix A provides a detailed breakdown of model assumptions used in KAT for all the 

modelled options.  

3.2 Treatment & Disposal Costs 
The estimated treatment and disposal costs associated with each option have been added onto 

the KAT model (collection) costings in order to derive an anticipated ‘whole system’ costs. These costs 

are based on gate fees provided by NCC for the baseline and are supplemented with WRAP gate fees 

reports and LetsRecycle recyclate prices where appropriate in the alternative scenarios. Material 

revenues for the kerbside sort material are based on 5-year averages market prices.18 See Appendix B 

for further detail. 

3.3 DRS & EPR  
It was agreed that the potential impact of the introduction of a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) 

and Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR), as per the Resources and Waste Strategy for England, will 

be modelled for the baseline. The implications of EPR and DRS were both modelled using the ‘Resource 

and Waste Policy Impact Calculator’ (RAWPIC).  

The RAWPIC tool uses a series of assumptions to model the impact of a DRS and EPR, some 

inbuilt within the model and others which are ‘user defined’. For the purposes of this project, the 

 
16 This does not include ‘niche’ elements of the collection service such as bring banks, bulky waste and certain 

specialist collections such as potentially from flats or clinical waste.  
17 The total Council recycling rate would also include the waste flows from Bring Banks and other household waste 

streams not collected via the standard kerbside collection service.  
18 As reported on Lets Recycle, and assuming a 20% cost for brokering / marketing materials 

Page 61



Nottingham City Council        
 12 

 

RAWPIC tool was used to calculate the percentage tonnage change for kerbside dry recycling (by 

material) and residual collection services.  

Reforming the UK packaging producer responsibility (EPR) system aims to achieve better design 

of packaging (e.g., through increasing recycled material content, improving recyclability of packaging 

products, light weighting of material or producing refillable packaging). It is therefore assumed that 

more packaging items are able to be recycled and/or diverted from the residual waste stream.  

A Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) aims to improve overall recycling and resource recovery by 

placing a redeemable deposit on ‘in scope’ materials. For the purposes of this report, it has been 

assumed that the DRS system implemented for England will be an ‘all in’ system (excluding glass, as per 

the latest consultation responses) which means it applies to all single use drinks containers (excepting 

HDPE plastics, primarily milk bottles). The deposit is modelled as a 20p value added to plastic and metal 

beverage containers. 

3.3.1 EPR & Net-Burdens  
The requirements within the Environment Act and Resources and Waste Strategy for England 

pose some of the most significant reforms to the management of waste and recycling that the industry 

has experienced over the last 50 years. Although much of the detail of these reforms is yet to be 

confirmed, the impact of the reforms proposed for Local Authority costs and operations is considerable.  

As such, as part of our analysis of the baseline, we have applied a sensitivity analysis comprising some 

high-level cost modelling to estimate how collection and disposal costs might look for NCC, based on 

some of the proposals within the national Strategy. This includes consideration of: 

1. Full net cost recovery of obligated packaging material through the Extended Producer 

Responsibility (EPR) producer pays principle 

2. Proposed Government commitment to cover any net new burdens placed on local 

government as a result of strategy obligations  

The potential cost implications of each are presented as follows: 

3.3.1.1 EPR 

As part of the proposals for reforming Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR), Government 

are proposing that from the beginning of 202419, packaging producers will be responsible for covering 

the full net recovery costs of packaging items placed on the market. For Local Authorities, it is assumed 

that this includes the cost of collecting, transporting, recycling and treating/disposing of materials 

obligated within the reformed EPR schemes. Although the detail on how the financing arrangements 

will ultimately be determined is yet to be known, high-level cost modelling has been applied to the 

baseline to estimate the potential proportion of Local Authority costs that could be covered by 

producers through the EPR schemes.  

The potential collection costs covered by EPR has been estimated based the proportion of dry 

recycling and residual waste which is classed as ‘obligated EPR material’. On disposal and treatment, it 

is assumed that any revenue accrued from the onward sale of obligated EPR materials is provided to 

producers to reflect their net costs.  

Our modelling is based on a series of assumptions derived from information within the latest 

round of consultation documents on the Resources and Waste Strategy for England. Any figures quoted 

are based on assumptions which may require update following the publication of the 2nd round of 

 
19 Subject to consultation. This timeline is as per latest proposals from the Resources & Waste Strategy 

Page 62



Nottingham City Council        
 13 

 

consultation responses (expected mid 2022). These cost estimates have been applied to the baseline 

and are indicative only. 

3.3.1.2 Unredeemed DRS Deposits 

The Government are also currently consulting on what will happen to unredeemed deposits 

i.e., those packaging items that are covered by the Deposit Return Scheme but that are not returned 

by a Reverse Vending Machine (RVM) or similar mechanism, and as such fall into the management of 

Local Authorities (either through kerbside collection or street cleansing of litter). Within the latest 

round of consultation on the Resources and Waste Strategy for England, it is proposed that 

unredeemed deposits will form one of the funding mechanisms for the Deposit Management 

Organisation (for example through the value of unredeemed deposits, revenue from the sale of 

materials and a producer fee). However, the Government are also considering a funding mechanism 

for Local Authorities to pay them for any material left within kerbside collections. Due to ongoing 

uncertainty this has not been considered as part of this project.  

3.3.1.3 Net New Burdens 

As part of the reforms to the waste and recycling industry, the Government has also committed 

to fully fund all net new burdens placed on local authorities arising from the Environment Act. This is in 

recognition of the financial pressures on local authorities and to ensure that any additional costs arising 

from new statutory duties will be covered. It includes changes that may necessitate additional 

equipment or resourcing, covering capital and operating costs. 

This analysis includes a high-level assessment of the potential costs covered by the new 

burdens’ doctrine, focusing on impacts on food waste and garden waste collection. The duration of 

how long these costs will be covered, remains to be seen, however Defra have confirmed that 

government will be funding local authorities for the operation of a separate food waste collection, even 

where there are existing food waste collections. 

The detail regarding the calculation of a net burden payment for local authorities has not yet 

been published by government. Therefore, for the purposes of this modelling, it is assumed that the 

Government covers the total collection cost of free garden waste collection and food waste collections 

(i.e., any previous subscription costs would not be reimbursed). 

To estimate the ‘new burdens’ cost of a food waste service, we have assumed that NCC will 

implement a dedicated food waste collection (or be paid the equivalent of doing so), and the annualised 

collection cost from KAT has been used. However, it should be noted that the collection costs for food 

waste can vary significantly depending on the collection arrangement, i.e. separate dedicated food 

waste or co-collected with other materials such as a split-back vehicle with a pod, or via a kerbside sort 

vehicle (e.g., Terberg or Romaquip). 

As mentioned, Defra have confirmed that government funding for local authorities will cover 

the total collection cost and total net20 disposal cost of a separate food waste collection, even where 

there are existing food waste collections at present. The disposal of organics is cheaper than the 

alternative treatment method (residual waste disposal). Furthermore, it is unclear from the definition 

of 'net costs' whether any savings would be deducted from additional collection costs or not. As such 

we have excluded this element of the costings and are these not included as part of this modelling.  

 
20 Our interpretation of ‘net costs’ covers the total difference in net disposal costs between sending food for 

Anaerobic Digestion and sending to EfW (as if food waste remains in the residual waste stream) – equivalent to £58/t.  

Page 63



Nottingham City Council        
 14 

 

3.4 WRATE Assessment 
To derive environmental impacts (including carbon) for the options, FRM have applied the 

Waste & Resources Assessment Tool for the Environment (WRATE), version 4.0.1.0 throughout the 

Strategy review and Options Appraisal stages. This is a Life Cycle Assessment model developed by the 

Environment Agency specifically for the purpose of modelling municipal waste management systems 

and is recognised as the industry standard. 

The Waste & Resources Assessment Tool for the Environment (WRATE), version 4.0.1.0, is the 

latest version of the Life Cycle Assessment model, developed by the Environment Agency specifically 

for the purpose of modelling municipal waste management systems. It allows users to quantify and 

compare the relative environmental burdens of equivalent waste management systems across their 

entire life cycle. 

WRATE calculates the potential impacts arising from all processes in the waste management 

system including the collection, transportation, transfer, treatment, disposal and recycling of materials. 

The model takes account of the construction and operation of infrastructure and vehicles, and offsets 

this burden against the avoided burdens associated with materials and energy recovery. All inputs of 

waste, energy and materials, and outputs of energy, process residues, materials and emissions are 

accounted for. 

In using WRATE the user specifies the waste stream(s) to be managed, then defines the way in 

which the waste is to be managed, step by step, including (as appropriate) the collection medium, 

vehicles, intermediate facilities, treatment, recovery and/or final disposal. WRATE calculates and 

presents the environmental impacts in terms of six default impacts: global warming potential, 

acidification, eutrophication, freshwater aquatic ecotoxicity, human toxicity and resource depletion. 

These are outlined below. 

As a waste management model, one of the key outcomes is the avoided impact of effective 

waste management, for example emissions displaced from extracting / processing of virgin materials 

versus secondary materials recovery for recycling. Similarly, energy recovery from waste can offset 

some of the emissions from fossil fuel-based alternatives. 

All emissions relating to global warming impacts (e.g., methane, carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide) 

are converted to kg of CO2 equivalent, over a 100-year timeframe. This is standard practice for models 

considering carbon impacts of waste management processes. 

It should be noted that, the lower the number, the lower the impact (or in the case of negative 

numbers a -1000, is better than a -800). Negative numbers arise where recycling and energy recovery, 

as noted above, has offset more damaging, carbon intensive processes, such as primary resource 

extraction and burning of fossil fuels.  

See Appendix E for detail on the additional impact indicators derived from WRATE. 

3.4.1 Key Assumptions for WRATE 
All collection activity utilises the vehicle types and mileages from the KAT (Kerbside Analysis 

Tool). The exception are the food waste vehicles for which there is not an equivalent vehicle to a 

specialist food waste collection vehicle, as a consequence a 7.5t caged recycling vehicle was used as an 

alternate. The mileages are included in Appendix D.  

Contamination within recyclables is assumed to be left in the residual stream to account for 

the impacts of disposal of this material. The consequences of transporting it are captured in the vehicle 

mileage modelled in KAT. 

Page 64



Nottingham City Council        
 15 

 

The transport distances to key sites and facilities are detailed below: 

• Recyclate reprocessing, transport to Eastcroft, ash (IBA, FA) disposal/reuse, – 50 

• Compost / digestate application to land – 20 

Details of the modelled options and scenarios are presented below, with schematics presented 

in Appendix C for visual representation of the WRATE models. Appendix D provides a breakdown of 

vehicle mileages used for the WRATE models (obtained from KAT). 

3.4.1.1 Baseline 

Within the baseline WRATE model, the collection scheme reflects the existing service offered 

by NCC as detailed earlier. Once collected, 94% of the residual waste stream is directed to Eastcroft 

EfW facility and 6% is taken to a dirty MRF for sorting, with some recycling, a fraction sent to a cement 

kiln for use as fuel and the rejects going to landfill. This is done so as to mimic schedules of outage of 

the EfW plant for routine maintenance. The IBA is sent for recycling into secondary aggregate and 

metals are recovered for recycling, whilst the fly ash is landfilled. The garden waste is taken for 

composting with the resulting product recycled for land application. The mixed recyclables are taken to 

a MRF and sorted for production and appropriate reprocessing of recycled materials. See Appendix C 

for a detailed schematic. 

3.4.1.2 Option 1 

Treatment and disposal of the leftover residual stream and garden waste remains identical to 

the baseline. However, food waste collections and dry recycling collections are modified in this option. 

To that effect, the paper and card are taken to a transfer station instead of a MRF and sorted and 

separated for appropriate recycling. The rest of the dry recycling is taken to the MRF where it is 

separated out and materials processed for appropriate reprocessing. Here, plastic film is also included 

in recycling to reflect anticipated incoming changes to legislation. See Appendix C for a detailed 

schematic. 

3.4.1.3 Option 2 

This option is identical to Option 1 with restricted residual waste capacity (smaller bins), which 

then impacts the diversion of the total tonnage, as shown in the results sections. See Appendix C for a 

detailed schematic. 

3.4.1.4 Option 3 

This option is a multi-stream recycling collection using boxes rather than bins and sorting the 

materials on the vehicle rather than at an MRF. This allows for higher quality recycling and is reflected 

in more glass being sent for remelt applications rather than aggregate use. See Appendix C for a detailed 

schematic. 

3.4.1.5 Option 4 

This option is identical to Option 3 with restricted residual (which impacts tonnage breakdown). 

See Appendix C for a detailed schematic. 

3.4.1.6 Option 5 

This option is very similar to Option 1. However, the food waste is collected with the dry 

recycling (paper / card) in a separate pod on a specialist vehicle. See Appendix C for a detailed 

schematic. 

  

Page 65



Nottingham City Council        
 16 

 

 

4 Options Appraisal Results & Discussion21 
This section presents and evaluates the performance of all the modelled options based on their 

performance against an agreed set of evaluation criteria. The results are either presented in terms of 

quantified results (e.g. cost or carbon), or for more qualitative options are colour coded (using a traffic 

light scheme), whereby green presents the ‘best’ option and red presents the ‘worst’ performing 

option. Shades of green, amber and red are used for the intermediate ratings.  

The criteria with which each of the options are assessed was agreed at a workshop with Council 

officers and members. The agreed criteria are as follows: 

• Recycling performance – as modelled through KAT and using agreed assumptions 

• Financial cost - developed through an industry standard model for collection systems known 

as KAT22 and additional information on cost from the Council. This has been separated out by 

collection costs and treatment and disposal costs. 

• Environmental benefit - developed through a bespoke Life Cycle Assessment tool for 

municipal waste systems, known as WRATE23 with a focus on climate change impacts 

• Alignment with National Policy – considers how well each option aligns against proposals 

within the National Resources and Waste Strategy and TEEP 

• Public Acceptability – considers how residents would perceive the service 

• Social Value – considers a variety of indicators including air quality (from transport miles), 

wellbeing and community benefits. 

• Operational Flexibility & Deliverability – considers the quantity and quality of materials 

collected at the kerbside, the contingency use of vehicles for different waste streams and 

considers the ease of introducing the service change 

• Health & Safety – Staff, considers operational aspects of the service and health & safety 

considerations 

Each option has been modelled to determine the performance against the quantitative 

criteria of cost, kerbside recycling performance and environmental performance (carbon equivalent 

savings) and are combined with the qualitative criteria. The results of the evaluation are discussed in 

turn within this chapter. It should be noted that no weighting has been applied to the evaluation 

criteria, and as such the preferred option may be determined by the criteria which are considered 

most important. 

High-level analysis has also been undertaken on the baseline to estimate the potential impacts 

of DRS, EPR & net burdens.  

  

 
21 All costs rounded to nearest £100 
22 Kerbside Analysis Tool, developed and managed by WRAP, the Waste & Resources Action Programme 
23 Waste & Resources Assessment Tool for the Environment, developed by the Environment Agency and managed 

by Golder Associates 

Page 66



Nottingham City Council        
 17 

 

 

4.1 Kerbside Recycling Performance 
Figure 6 and Table 7 present a detailed breakdown of total tonnage and recycling performance 

of all the options. The modelling assumes the same waste arisings in all options (i.e., no waste 

reduction). There is increased material collected for recycling (dry recycling, food and garden 

combined) in all alternative options. Plastic film and cartons have been added to the dry recycling 

collection system in all alternative options.  

 

Figure 6 – Recycling performance results for the options modelled 

The kerbside recycling performance increases in all alternative options above the baseline 

(22.57%), ranging from 28.50% (option 3) to 37.12% (option 2). It is evident that options 2 and 4 are 

the highest performing. Option 2 models a twin-stream collection with restricted residual waste 

collections (smaller bins) whilst option 4 models a kerbside-sort dry recycling collection also with 

restricted residual waste collections. The reduction in average weekly residual capacity (from 120L to 

70L) incentivises the use of alternative bins, and therefore increases the total amount of recyclate 

collected. Option 2 performs higher than option 4 as it is assumed that a twin-stream collection would 

yield slightly higher dry recycling tonnages than a kerbside-sort system. In multi-stream collections the 

level of material sorting influences the level of contamination, and this is modelled to perform best in 

terms of (low) contamination levels.  

Option 5 results in the highest kerbside recycling rate of the options modelled without any 

residual waste capacity restriction. In this option dry recycling is collected via a twin-stream collection, 

separating paper and card from the remaining recyclables. In this option however, it is collected on a 

weekly basis alongside the food waste. Introducing separate food waste collections increases the 

kerbside recycling rate by at least c. 6%. 

22.57% 29.14%

37.12%
28.50% 34.64% 29.67%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5

Ke
rb

si
d

e 
re

cy
cl

in
g 

ra
te

 (
%

)

To
n

n
es

Residual Dry recycling Food Garden Contamination Kerbside recycling rate

Page 67



Nottingham City Council        
 18 

 

Table 7 – Kerbside recycling performance breakdown for each option 

Waste Stream Baseline  Option 1  Option 2  Option 3  Option 4 Option 5 

 

Business as 
usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & 

card out) + 
food 

Two-stream 
(paper & 

card out), + 
food + 

restricted 
residual 

Kerbside 
sort with 

food waste 

Kerbside 
sort with 

food waste 
+ restricted 

residual 

Two-stream 
with weekly 
co-collected 

paper & 
food 

Residual  75,935 71,786 62,817 73,267 66,610 71,198 

Dry recycling  13,535 13,935 19,626 13,264 17,033 14,487 

Food 0 6,459 9,089 6,460 9,092 6,459 

Garden  9,997 9,997 9,997 9,997 9,997 9,997 

Contamination 4,809 2,100 2,748 1,289 1,545 2,136 

Kerbside 
recycling rate  

22.57% 29.14% 37.12% 28.50% 34.64% 29.67% 

Change in Recycling Tonnage +6,858 +15,179 +6,188 +12,590 +7,411 
 

 

4.2 Total Indicative Recycling Performance 

 

Figure 7 - NCC's total indicative recycling rate 

Table 8 - NCC's total indicative recycling performance 

 Baseline  Option 1  Option 2  Option 3  Option 4 Option 5 
Option 2 

Optimised 
Option 4 

Optimised 

NCC Recycling 
Rate 

23.90% 30.48% 38.46% 29.83% 35.97% 31.01% 41.97% 39.40% 

 

As shown above, including HWRC’s has a small positive impact on NCC’s kerbside recycling 

performance to collectively yield a total indicative recycling performance. It is noted that this was 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 Option 2
Optimised

Option 4
Optimised

K
er

b
si

d
e 

R
ec

yc
lin

g 
R

at
e

Kerbside recycling rate Additional Recycling (HWRCs)

Page 68



Nottingham City Council        
 19 

 

calculated for the baseline (obtained via Defra stats) and for all the other options, it was assumed that 

it stays at this figure (i.e., an addition of 1.33% across the board).  

4.3 Total Gross Operational Cost 

4.3.1 Kerbside Collection Cost 
Table 9 illustrates the total annualised kerbside collection costs of each option, broken down 

by each collection stream. Costs are presented as gross annualised indicative costs. This means that any 

capital costs, such as bins and vehicles are included and depreciated over the assumed service lifetime. 

In all options, the current garden service is retained. As such there are no changes to the annualised 

garden waste collection service or costs. 

All alternative options result in an increased kerbside collection costs relative to the current 

service, ranging from £2.36 million to £2.73 million in additional costs. A large proportion of this cost 

can be attributed to the introduction of a food waste collection. In option 1 and 2 where this is provided 

as a dedicated service, it is estimated to cost in the region of £1.7 and £1.8 million per annum. In options 

3, 4 and 5, food waste is co-collected with dry recycling. The annual cost of the residual waste collection 

service remains broadly consistent across all options. This shows that although there is a decrease in 

the total residual tonnage, this does not have a material impact on annual residual waste costs (this is 

linked to the resource required, in terms of vehicles and crew – See Appendix F for vehicle numbers 

and crew). 

The option with the greatest annualised collection costs is option 4, which models a kerbside 

sort dry recycling collection with restricted residual collection. Option 1 results in the lowest additional 

annualised gross collection cost compared to the baseline, which models a twin-stream dry recycling 

service, separate food waste collection and retains the current residual waste collection service. 

Note, these costs exclude the costs/revenues for the collected wastes and recyclates which are 

presented in 4.2.2Error! Reference source not found.  

  

Page 69



Nottingham City Council        
 20 

 

 

Table 9 - Breakdown of annualised collection costs for the modelled options 

 

Figure 8 provides a breakdown of where additional collection costs of each option arise, relative 

to the baseline. Small residual waste collection savings are shown in options 2, 4 and 5, however these 

are more than offset by additional collections costs from food waste in particular. Figure 9 shows the 

collection cost per household of each option, in comparison to the baseline. All options incur an 

additional cost per household of roughly £20 per household, ranging from c. £63 / hh (option 1 and 3) 

to £68 / hh (option 4). 

 

 

£2,364,900
£2,667,000

£2,385,400

£3,089,800
£2,485,300

-£3,000,000

-£2,000,000

-£1,000,000

£0

£1,000,000

£2,000,000

£3,000,000

£4,000,000

£5,000,000

£6,000,000

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5

Dry recycling & food Residual collection Food waste collection

Garden waste collection Dry recycling collection Net additional cost

Cost Baseline  Option 1  Option 2  Option 3  Option 4 Option 5 

 
Business as 
usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & 
card out) + 
food 

Two-stream 
(paper & 
card out), + 
food + 
restricted 
residual 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 
restricted 
residual 

Two-stream 
with weekly 
co-collected 
paper & food 

Annualised recycling 
collection cost  

£1,738,700  £2,382,100  £2,791,200  

£4,123,800  £4,468,100  £4,266,100  
Annualised food 
waste collection cost 

n/a £1,720,900 £1,808,400 

Annualised garden 
waste collection cost 

£1,548,800  £1,548,800  £1,548,800  £1,548,800  £1,548,800  £1,548,800  

Annualised residual 
waste collection cost 

£2,280,300  £2,280,900  £2,086,300  £2,280,600  £2,281,300  £2,238,100  

Total gross collection 
cost 

 £ 5,567,800   £ 7,932,700   £ 8,234,800   £ 7,953,200   £ 8,657,600   £ 8,052,900  

Difference   £2,364,893  £2,666,966 £2,385,408 £3,089,769 £2,485,095 

Kerbside recycling 
rate 

22.57% 29.14% 37.12% 28.50% 34.64% 29.67% 

Page 70



Nottingham City Council        
 21 

 

Figure 8 - Collection costs of modelled options relative to baseline 

 

Figure 9 - Collection cost per household for the modelled options  

4.3.2 Treatment & Disposal Costs 
The tables below provide treatment and disposal costs (Table 10), as well as whole-system costs 

(including revenue) for the options modelled (Table 11). All of the alternative collection options result 

in lower total treatment and disposal costs than the current service (c.£7.8million). At present, NCC 

process the DMR via a MRF at an estimated annual cost of £1.37 million per annum. Where material is 

source separated (the paper and card fraction in option 1, 2 and 5, and for all materials in option 3 and 

4) it is assumed this material could be sold to reprocessors, usually for a revenue. This results in much 

reduced recycling processing costs for option 1, 2 and 5 as the revenue accrued from the on sale of 

paper and card can be offset against the cost of sending the remaining material (glass, plastic and 

metals) to the MRF. Overall, processing dry recycling will still be at a cost to the Council in these options. 

In options 3 and 4 where material is source separated it is estimated that NCC could receive in the 

region of £0.8 - 1 million per annum24. 

Options 4 and 3 have the cheapest net treatment and disposal costs of the options modelled 

at £5 million and £5.6 million respectively. Notably these are the only options that generate a revenue 

for the treatment of dry recycling. This is driven by the increased recyclate quality obtained via the 

multi-stream collection system.  There are residual waste treatment savings in all alternative collection 

options25. NCC may be required to review contract arrangements where substantial changes in 

collected tonnage are anticipated 

  

 
24 Based on moderated LetsRecycle 5year material average price 
25 Assuming there are no penalties in contractual terms for missing any Guaranteed minimum tonnages 

or other relevant threshold criteria. 

£44 

£63 £65 £63 
£68 £64 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

 £-

 £10

 £20

 £30

 £40

 £50

 £60

 £70

 £80

Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5

Ke
rb

si
d

e 
re

cy
cl

in
g 

ra
te

 (
%

)

C
o

lle
ct

io
n

 c
o

st
 p

er
 H

o
u

se
h

o
ld

 Cost per HH Kerbside recycling rate

Page 71



Nottingham City Council        
 22 

 

Table 10 - Breakdown of treatment and disposal costs for all the modelled options 

Detail Baseline  Option 1  Option 2  Option 3  Option 4 Option 5 

 
Business as 

usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & 

card out) + 
food 

Two-stream 
(paper & 

card out), + 
food + 

restricted 
residual 

Kerbside sort 
with food 

waste 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

Two-stream 
with weekly 
co-collected 

paper & food 

Dry Recycling (gate 
fee or revenue) 

£1,092,900 £202,400 £278,700 -£844,900 -£1,090,200 £190,000 

Food Waste 
Treatment 

N/A £202,800 £285,400 £ 202,800 £285,500 £ 202,800 

Garden Waste 
Treatment  

£275,400 £275,400 £275,400 £275,400 £275,400 £275,400 

Residual Waste 
Treatment EfW 

£5,751,400 £5,262,900 £4,670,200 £5,310,600 £4,854,700 £5,223,600 

Haulage (All 
tonnage) 

£312,800 £312,800 £312,800 £ 312,800 £312,800 £312,800 

Transfer (All 
tonnage) 

£364,900 £364,900 £364,900 £364,900 £364,900 £364,900 

Total Treatment & 
Haulage  £7,797,500 £6,621,400 £6,187,500 £5,621,800 £5,003,200 £6,569,600 

 

As shown in Table 11, the option with the cheapest whole system cost is the baseline, followed 

by options 3, 4, 2, 1 and 5 respectively. This shows that that the additional collection costs are not offset 

by lower treatment costs in all of the alternative collection options. However, this does not take into 

account the impacts of EPR and new net burdens which may go a substantial way to reducing NCC costs. 

Table 11 - Net cost of each modelled option 

Costs and Revenue Baseline  Option 1  Option 2  Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

 
Business as 

usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & 

card out) + 
food 

Two-stream 
(paper & 

card out), + 
food + 

restricted 
residual 

Kerbside 
sort with 

food waste 

Kerbside 
sort with 

food waste 
+ restricted 

residual 

Two-stream 
with weekly 
co-collected 

paper & food 

Kerbside collection 
costs (KAT) (cost) 

£5,567,800 £7,932,700 £8,234,800 £7,953,200 £8,657,600 £8,052,900 

Treatment Cost (Total) 
 
£7,797,500  

 
£6,621,398  

 
£6,187,487  

 
£5,621,800  

 
£5,003,200  

 £6,569,600  

Net (Collection, 
Revenue and 
Treatment) 

£13,365,300 
£14,554,100 £14,422,300 £13,575,100 £13,660,800 £14,622,600 

£1,188,800 £1,056,900 £209,700 £295,400 £1,257,200 

Figure 10 provides a whole system cost normalised per household. It is evident that relative to 

all modelled options the current service has the cheapest cost per household. This increases to c. £115 

per household in options 1, 2 and 5 and is reduced to c. £105 per household in options 3 and 4, 

demonstrating the impact of receiving revenue for source-segregated material could have on the whole 

system costs in NCC.  

Page 72



Nottingham City Council        
 23 

 

 

Figure 10 - Whole system cost of each option per household 

 

4.3.3 Cost of Change 
The KAT model calculates an annualised capital cost of vehicles and containers for comparative 

purposes and does not consider the additional cost burden would be required to move from the current 

baseline position, i.e. the ‘cost of change’.   

As such, Table 12 below details the CAPEX costs associated with each option. These CAPEX costs 

take into account the cost of providing food waste collection containers, which is common in all the 

options, as well as the cost of new vehicles required and additional containers (specific to each 

collection service). As shown below, the cheapest option to change to would be option 3, followed by 

options 5, 4, 1, and 2. It is noted that in option 1, option 2 and option 5 it would be a lot cheaper to 

switch to if the 240L WHB from the current dry recycling is reused/retained for the recycling containers, 

this takes a large chunk out of the costs and may very well happen in practice. 

Note that the cost of change includes the Capex for new vehicles and containers. It does not 

include any other costs associated with a change of service, e.g., procurement, communications, 

enforcement or other infrastructure requirements that may be required. However, if the overall costs 

of the service have increased, the annualised costs will have more overheads included within them (as 

this is a percentage applied on top of the total annual service costs), which may account for some of 

these elements. 

Table 12 - CAPEX cost of each option 

Detail Vehicles Containers 
Summary - cost of 

change 

Option 1 

12 x REL 65%/35%, 
21 m3 

17 x 7.5t dedicated 
food waste vehicles 

126,448 x 70L reusable 
bag, 180L WHB, kitchen 
caddy + kerbside caddy 

£6,041,800  

Option 2 
14 x REL 65%/35%, 

21 m3 
126,448 x 70L reusable 
bag, 180L WHB, 140L 

£8,726,300 
(£6,339,600) 

£105.7 
£115.1 £114.1 

£107.4 £108.0 
£115.6 

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

£0

£20

£40

£60

£80

£100

£120

£140

Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5

Ke
rb

si
d

e 
re

cy
cl

in
g 

ra
te

W
h

o
le

 s
ys

te
m

 c
o

st
 p

er
 

H
o

u
se

h
o

ld

 Cost per HH

Page 73



Nottingham City Council        
 24 

 

18 x 7.5t dedicated 
food waste vehicles 

WHB, kitchen caddy + 
kerbside caddy 

Option 3 22 x Stillage 37m3 
126,448 x (3 x 40L 

boxes), kitchen caddy + 
kerbside caddy 

£3,193,100 

Option 4 27 x Stillage 37m3 
126,448 x (3 x 40L 

boxes), kitchen caddy + 
kerbside caddy 

£5,868,400 

Option 5 
12 x REL + front pod 

75%/25% 22m3 
total 

126,448 x 70L reusable 
bag, 180L WHB, kitchen 
caddy + kerbside caddy 

£4,491,600 
(£2,152,300) 

 

4.3.4 Optimised Collection Options 
This options appraisal considers the implications of altering the ways in which the dry recycling 

is collected e.g. via the materials that are collected for recycling, the levels of materials sorting, and the 

types of containers that are used to collect those materials. There are additional methods which can be 

utilised to increase recycling performance thereby ‘optimising’ the service. At a local level, new or wider 

communications can be rolled out to enhance an existing service, or to introduce a new service, or to 

tackle a particular issue (e.g. identifying cases of contamination). At a wider level, with upcoming EPR, 

we are likely to see mandatory labelling for packaging materials which should make it easier with 

consistent messaging on items to assist with recycling.  

For this reason, additional modelling has been undertaken on the two highest performing 

options, option 2 (twin-stream recycling with separate food waste and restricted residual) and option 

4 (kerbside sort recycling with food waste and restricted residual waste), to explore how an ‘optimised’ 

service might perform. it is assumed that the impact of increased communication and public outreach 

improves the dry recycling yields, as well as the food waste tonnage yields and also decreases the 

contamination in the dry recycling streams. The details of these are included in Appendix A. The 

recycling performance and cost implications are as follows: 

 

 

Figure 11 – Recycling performance results of optimised options 2 and 4 

40.64%
38.07%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

Option 2 Option 4

K/
S 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
ra

te

To
n

n
es

Residual Dry recycling Food Garden Contamination Kerbside recycling rate

Page 74



Nottingham City Council        
 25 

 

Table 13 – Breakdown of tonnage for optimised options 2 and 4  

Waste Stream 
Baseline  Option 2  

Option 2 
(Comms)  

Option 4 
Option 4 
(Comms) 

 

Business as 
usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 

restricted 
residual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 

restricted 
residual 

(Optimised) 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

(Optimised) 

Residual  75,935 62,817 59,451 66,610 63,186 

Dry recycling  13,535 19,626 20,661 17,033 17,984 

Food 0 9,089 11,719 9,092 11,719 

Garden  9,997 9,997 9,997 9,997 9,997 

Contamination 4,809 2,748 2,449 1,545 1,391 

Kerbside recycling 
rate  

22.57% 37.12% 40.64% 34.64% 38.07% 

Change in Recycling Tonnage +15,179 +18,844 +12,590 +16,168 

 

In options 2 and 4, improved performance is achieved in both the cases due to the impact of 

communication and outreach campaigns. Option 2 noticeably reaches 40.64% in recycling 

performance, whereas option 4 reaches 38.07%. As shown below, however, with increased recycling 

performance, there are cost implications as well. In option 2, the change in collection costs (Table 14) 

is negligible, whereas in option 4, an increase of c. £400,000 is noted, as an additional two recycling 

vehicles are required. 

Table 14 – Collection costs for optimised options 2 and 4 

 

Cost Baseline  Option 2  
Option 2 
(Comms)  

Option 4 
Option 4 
(Comms) 

 
Business as 
usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 
restricted 
residual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 
restricted 
residual 
(Optimised) 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 
restricted 
residual 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 
restricted 
residual 
(Optimised) 

Annualised recycling 
collection cost  

£1,738,700  £2,791,200  £2,706,268 

£4,468,100  £5,327,700 
Annualised food waste 
collection cost 

n/a £1,808,400 £1,808,400 

Annualised garden 
waste collection cost 

£1,548,800  £1,548,800  £1,548,800  £1,548,800  £1,548,800  

Annualised residual 
waste collection cost 

£2,280,300  £2,086,300  £2,086,300 £2,281,300  £2,125,900 

Total gross collection 
cost 

 £ 5,567,800   £ 8,234,800   £ 8,149,900   £ 8,657,600   £ 9,002,500  

Difference   £ 2,666,965   £ 2,582,053   £ 3,089,765   £ 3,434,664  

Kerbside recycling rate 22.57% 37.12% 40.64% 34.64% 38.07% 
 

40.64% 34.64% 38.07% 

Page 75



Nottingham City Council        
 26 

 

Table 15 – Treatment and haulage costs for optimised options 2 and 4 

Detail Baseline  Option 2  
Option 2 
(Comms) 

Option 4 
Option 4 
(Comms) 

 
Business as 

usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 

restricted 
residual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 

restricted 
residual 

(Optimised) 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

(Optimised) 
Dry Recycling (gate 
fee or revenue) - 

£1,092,900 £278,700 £293,100 -£1,090,200 -£1,162,200 

Avoided penalty on 
contaminated 
recyclate26 

N/A N/A (-£313,700) N/A (-£182,700) 

Food Waste 
Treatment 

N/A £285,400 £367,900 £285,500 £368,000 

Garden Waste 
Treatment  

£275,400 £275,400 £275,400 £275,400 £275,400 

Residual Waste 
Treatment EfW 

£5,751,400 £4,670,200 £4,409,100 £4,854,700 £4,599,800 

Haulage (All 
tonnage) 

£312,800 £312,800 £312,800 £312,800 £312,800 

Transfer (All 
tonnage) 

£364,900 £364,900 £364,900 £364,900 £364,900 

Total Treatment & 
Haulage  £7,797,500 £6,187,500 £5,709,800 £5,003,200 £4,576,100 

 

The treatment costs decrease (Table 15) for the optimised counterparts, as a larger quantity of 

high quality recyclate generates more revenue offsetting treatment costs. Moreover, due to the 

contamination rates falling below the maximum allowable contamination rate set within the current 

MRF contract, it has been assumed that the MRF gate fee would not include the penalties currently 

paid for by NCC. This results in c. £300,000 of savings on average. As such, overall, due to the 

aforementioned reasons, the optimised options are less expensive to operate in terms of whole system 

costs (Table 16). It should be noted that no additional communications costs have been attributed to 

this analysis. 

Table 16 – Total system costs for optimised options 2 and 4 

Costs and Revenue Baseline  Option 2  
Option 2 
(Comms) 

Option 4 
Option 4 
(Comms) 

 
Business as 

usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 

restricted 
residual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 

restricted 
residual 

(Optimised) 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

(Optimised) 

Kerbside collection 
costs (KAT) (cost) 

£5,567,800 £8,234,800 £8,149,900 £8,657,600 £9,002,500 

Treatment Cost (Total)  £7,797,500   £6,187,500  £5,709,900  £5,003,200  £4,576,100 

 
26 Avoided penalty is taken at the rate provided by NCC (£174.83/tonne) for contamination above 14% 

and based on the contamination tonnage on the standard, non-optimised versions of options 2 and 4 

Page 76



Nottingham City Council        
 27 

 

Net (Collection, 
Revenue and 
Treatment) 

£13,365,300 
£14,422,300 £13,859,700 £13,660,800 £13,578,600 

£1,056,900 £494,300 £295,500 £213,280 

 

4.4 Carbon & Environmental Performance 
The findings of the WRATE modelling exercise are outlined in this section. They represent Life 

Cycle Assessment results, and so consider the impact of vehicles and infrastructure as a proportion of 

their use and their life, so for example the impact of the Energy from Waste plant (including 

construction burdens and operational impacts) will be assessed over a 25-year life and annualised to 

reflect a years’ impact.  

Figure 12 shows the total carbon impacts of the baseline and the various modelled options.  

The baseline (current) waste management service across NCC is modelled to result in an overall 

net emission of 642t CO2-eq. This suggests that the recycling, composting and energy recovery (from 

Eastcroft EfW) activity does not currently offset the detrimental emissions from collection, transport, 

infrastructure development and the residual waste treatment process. Figure 12 shows the total carbon 

emissions of each option. All alternative collection options result in a net carbon saving and as shown 

below, option 2 gives the highest amount of carbon savings, followed by options 4, 5, 3, 1. 

The addition of pots, tubs and trays and plastic film to the service contributes to a carbon 

benefit in all options, as this diverts fossil-derived plastics from the residual waste stream into the 

recycling. Whilst the diversion of plastic film and cartons reduces the calorific value of the residual 

waste going to the Energy from Waste plant, the increased food waste separation has the opposite 

effect. The removal of plastic film from the residual mix for recycling has a strong beneficial carbon 

balance as combustion of this material is a release of fossil carbon. 

 

Figure 12 - Headline carbon impacts associated with each modelled option 

A breakdown of climate change impacts by the individual service elements shows how each 

option performs in terms of collection, transportation, intermediate facilities, recycling and treatment 

and recovery. Table 17 shows the detail behind these headline figures; these results are classified as 

follows: 

642,300

-13,700

-2,834,300

-31,400

-2,156,600

-287,600

-3,500,000

-3,000,000

-2,500,000

-2,000,000

-1,500,000

-1,000,000

-500,000

0

500,000

1,000,000

Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5

C
a

rb
o

n
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
(k

g
 C

O
2

-E
q

)

Climate change: GWP 100a

Page 77



Nottingham City Council        
 28 

 

• Collection – this accounts for the environmental burdens of the collection containers (only), 

so the burdens in making the containers for the various collection systems 

• Transportation -   this accounts for emissions from the vehicles in terms of construction 

burdens as well as fuel related emissions. This covers both collection from households and 

bulk haulage. 

• Intermediate Facilities – these are the environmental burdens of transfer stations, materials 

recycling facilities. They include the construction and operating burdens. 

• Recycling – this is the environmental benefit of recycling, displacing primary resource 

extraction / refining.  

• Treatment & Recovery - These are the environmental burdens of composting plants, AD 

facilities and Energy from Waste facilities. They include the construction and operating 

burdens, and also any benefits associated with energy recovery. 

• Landfill – This comprises the environmental burdens of landfill (with some benefits associated 

with energy recovery from landfill gas). 

Of most significance, all options also have an improved ‘treatment and recovery’ and ‘landfill’ 

performance on account of less residual waste, and notably, less plastic into the EfW plant. All options 

also have lower ‘intermediate’ emissions, associated with processing less material at the MRF, however 

this is a small contributor to the overall carbon impact. Option 3 and 4 (the two kerbside sort options) 

result in the highest transport emissions, due to the number of vehicles required and total mileage.  

Table 17 - Breakdown of carbon impacts for each option 

Category Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

 

Business as 

usual 

Two-stream 

(paper & card 

out) + food 

Two-stream 

(paper & card 

out), + food + 

restricted 

residual 

Kerbside sort 

with food 

waste 

Kerbside sort 

with food 

waste + 

restricted 

residual 

Two-stream 

with weekly 

co-collected 

paper & food 

Collection 565,700 699,000 755,400 470,600 526,900 699,100 

Transport 1,449,000 1,896,900 1,849,800 2,039,400 2,225,100 1,737,400 

Intermediate 

Facilities 207,500 148,000 186,900 111,300 127,300 150,600 

Recycling -16,505,900 -16,559,900 -18,780,300 -16,490,900 -18,403,500 -16,730,600 

Treatment 

and 

Recovery 13,804,000 12,796,600 12,245,800 12,826,700 12,436,900 12,857,500 

Landfill 1,121,900 1,005,500 908,100 1,011,500 930,700 998,400 

Total 642,300 -13,700 -2,834,300 -31,400 -2,156,600 -287,600 

 

Additional WRATE results for miscellaneous environmental parameters are included in 

Appendix E for the sake of completion. 

It is likely that there will be a variance between the carbon figures derived from the assessment 

of options within this option appraisal and figures reported by the Council as part of their wider carbon 

reporting. One reason for this is that the Options Appraisal seeks to understand the ‘whole life’ impact 

of the current service and any changes made to it. It used a tool, known as WRATE, which is a Life Cycle 

Assessment tool designed specifically for comparing municipal waste management systems, using a 

Page 78



Nottingham City Council        
 29 

 

bespoke waste composition and modelling from the point that waste arises (e.g. at the household) to 

the end of its life (e.g. if sent for landfill or reduced to ash in an incinerator or recovered as a secondary 

resource). The model also accounts for the imbedded carbon impacts from making containers (e.g. 

wheeled bins) for households and the construction impacts (e.g. for making refuse collection vehicles 

or waste management infrastructure), this will vary from simpler carbon reporting systems which may 

focus on vehicle miles and generic factors for waste management activity. 

 

Figure 13 – Carbon assessment of optimised options 2 and 4 

As shown in the figure above, optimising the best performing options (options 2 and 4, see 

Section 4.2.4) results with additional communications and public outreach campaigns boosts carbon 

performance in both the cases as well, since higher amounts of the waste at the kerbside are recycled 

and less is sent to EfW.  

It is understood that NCC is transitioning their refuse collection fleet to electric. The maximum 

CO2 reduction from electrification of fleet would be of the order of c. 60% of the respective 

transportation figure cited in Table 17. Although it should be noted that this assumes a 100% renewable 

energy source for the electricity used to power the vehicles, and that there were no additional carbon 

burdens from the construction of the eRCV versus conventional Refuse Collection Vehicles.  

4.5 National Policy Alignment 
Table 18 - National policy alignment assessment 

Category Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

 
Business as 

usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & 

card out) + 
food 

Two-stream 
(paper & 

card out), + 
food + 

restricted 
residual 

Kerbside sort 
with food 

waste 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

Two-stream 
with weekly 
co-collected 

paper & food 

Compliance to R&WS / 
TEEP /National Policy 

      

Legend 

642,300

-2,834,300

-3,488,800

-2,156,600

-2,931,300

-4,000,000

-3,500,000

-3,000,000

-2,500,000

-2,000,000

-1,500,000

-1,000,000

-500,000

0

500,000

1,000,000

Baseline Option 2 Option 2
Optimised

Option 4 Option 4
Optimised

C
a

rb
o

n
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
(k

g
 C

O
2

-E
q

)

Climate change: GWP 100a

 Worst    Best 

Page 79



Nottingham City Council        
 30 

 

 

As regards alignment to upcoming national policy, the options have been scored based on their 

anticipated alignment with the Resources and Waste Strategy for England. Although this is still under 

consultation, there are aspects of the national strategy which are highly likely to be introduced 

(mandatory food waste collections and consistent collections agenda) with other areas requiring 

further insight (such as providing free garden waste collections). 

There are Government requirements for a dedicated separate food waste collection on a 

weekly basis from all local authorities. All alternative options align with this policy. The alternative 

options also collect cartons and plastic film, which aligns NCC to the same core materials collected in 

the consistency in recycling collection proposals. 

The baseline ranks the lowest, as it does not involve food waste collections and it is a 

commingled collection which is anticipated to be the 'least preferable' collection option within the 

consistent collections agenda. As options 1, 2 and 5 are twin-stream recycling collections, with weekly 

food collections, these may be considered satisfactory, however this is still likely to be subject to a 

TEEP27 (or equivalent) assessment. However, for recyclate quality and from a consistent collections 

viewpoint, options 3 and 4 score the highest. See Appendix F for further detail on evaluation criteria. 

4.6 Public Acceptability 
This criterion considers how each option might be accepted by householders. The evaluation 

takes into account the ease for householders, and any potential change from the current service. The 

results are shown in Table 19.  

Table 19 - Public acceptability assessment 

Category Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

 
Business as 

usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 

out) + food 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 

restricted 
residual 

Kerbside sort 
with food 

waste 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

Two-stream 
with weekly 
co-collected 

paper & food 

Public 
acceptability 

      

Legend 

 

In terms of public acceptability, it is hypothesised that the residents of Nottingham prefer the 

business-as-usual scenario, i.e., the baseline, as that service has been in practice for a few years and is 

the simplest system for householders and considered to be widely acceptable. As such, there is a 

‘comfort’ element associated with this option. Moreover, studies suggest residents may find it ‘easiest’ 

to put all dry recyclables in one bin. As such, this option ranks highest in this category. 

All alternative options require a change in the recycling collection service. It is assumed that 

householders may find a two-stream system with wheeled bins easier to operate than a kerbside sort 

system if they have sufficient storage space for additional containers. As such, following the baseline, 

options 5, 1 and 2 are ranked in second place as these are twin streams with (requiring less separation 

 
27 A Technical, Economic and Environmental assessment of Practicability (TEEP) for alternative collection 

approaches.  

Worst    Best 

Page 80



Nottingham City Council        
 31 

 

and initiative on the part of the residents in comparison to the multi-streams in options 3 and 4). 

Moreover, in option 5, the food waste is co-collected with part of the dry recycling, as such the residents 

can put these out on the same day, making it slightly more convenient than options 1 and 2.  

For restricted residual waste, it is assumed that this is less preferable to the residents as such 

the options with restricted residuals rank lower than their unrestricted counterparts. See Appendix F 

for further detail on evaluation criteria. 

4.7 Operational Flexibility & Deliverability  
This criterion revolves around a number of factors to assess the deliverability of each option 

and its operational flexibility. It considers the quantity and quality of materials collected at the kerbside, 

the potential for the service to adapt to any changes that might be required and the resource required 

in terms of collection vehicles and collection crew. 

Table 20 - Operational flexibility assessment 

Category Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

 
Business as 

usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 

out) + food 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 

restricted 
residual 

Kerbside sort 
with food 

waste 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

Two-stream 
with weekly 
co-collected 

paper & food 

Operational flexibility 
(deliverability) 

      

Legend 

 

All alternative options require new vehicles and containers to operate the service, all of which 

will need to be procured. In the current socio-political climate, significant concerns regarding supply-

chain issues remain and the lead times for new vehicles are significant. As such, procuring new vehicles 

is likely to be affected, which weighs negatively for all the options except for the baseline. Moreover, 

currently, NCC could interchangeably use their RCVS in case of vehicle maintenance and associated 

operational matters (due to the current collection regime). However, in all the other options, this is 

likely to change. As such, the baseline scores highest in this regard. Option 5 offers some flexibility due 

to co-collection of food and paper-card (which could also be interchanged with the rest of the DMR if 

required). 

From a materials perspective, the baseline, option 1, 2 and 5 may offer flexibility in the dry 

recycling mix, however this is dependent on the MRF being set up to separate those materials. Option 

3 and 4 score well in this regard as it is considered that a kerbside sort / multi-stream system can adapt 

to changes in materials and not reliant on a third-party facility, such as MRF. However, in terms of 

flexibility of vehicles across the kerbside service, these options rank lowest.  

Options 1 and 2 use dedicated food waste collection vehicles; while this reduces the flexibility 

of the service, the food waste collections are entirely separate from all other waste streams, which 

provides a certain degree of contingency. 

Getting new vehicles and revising the service will likely require crew training as well as a 

‘transitionary’ period. This is likely of relevance and good planning ahead is advised with contingencies 

in place. See Appendix F for further detail on evaluation criteria and detail on vehicle numbers and crew 

for further operational implications and insights. 

Worst    Best 

Page 81



Nottingham City Council        
 32 

 

4.8 Social Value  
Each option has been ranked based on its anticipated social value. The creation (and retention) 

of jobs, community well-being and wider health benefits (e.g., air quality) have all been considered 

when evaluating the score of each option. The scoring system is included in Appendix F. 

Table 21 - Social value assessment 

Category Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

 
Business as 

usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 

out) + food 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 

restricted 
residual 

Kerbside sort 
with food 

waste 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

Two-stream 
with weekly 
co-collected 

paper & food 

Social Value28       

Legend 

 

Option 4, 3 and the baseline score the highest in this category as the former create the most 

jobs (but incur the highest travel), whilst the latter offers the least amount of travel (lowest impact on 

air quality). The creation of jobs is a trade-off for more general health impacts (e.g., air quality) as 

typically where those services provide a higher number of jobs this is due to more resource being 

required to operate the kerbside collection service (i.e. more vehicles require more drivers and crew, 

however this means more transport miles are required and higher levels of air pollution). See Appendix 

F for further detail. 

The combination of both factors (which may be competing in their relative benefits) towards 

social value ranks the baseline, options 3 and 4 the highest for this criterion. 

4.9 Health & Safety 
Table 22 - Health and safety assessment 

Category Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

 
Business as 

usual 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 

out) + food 

Two-stream 
(paper & card 
out), + food + 

restricted 
residual 

Kerbside sort 
with food 

waste 

Kerbside sort 
with food 
waste + 

restricted 
residual 

Two-stream 
with weekly 
co-collected 

paper & food 

Health and Safety       

Legend 

 

With regards to health and safety, none of the options score a ‘green’ as although the baseline 

service for example does not entail lifting of any of the bins, a significant amount of side waste is 

deposited, as discussed with NCC staff in an FRM-led workshop on 25-07-2022, which the operators 

have to additionally lift and transfer into the RCV). The other options add collection bags and boxes, 

which will need to be lifted to empty them into the collection vehicle. Moreover, introduction of food 

 
28 Job creation, wider health benefits, well-being, community benefits. See Appendix E for further detail 

Worst    Best 

Worst    Best 

Page 82



Nottingham City Council        
 33 

 

waste collections also involves a bio-safety component and will require an additional risk assessment 

and method statement for appropriate handling. Those options with glass in a box (options 3 and 4) 

have a slightly poorer H&S score due to both potential noise impacts in addition to manual handling, 

potential breakage risks. See Appendix F for further detail on evaluation criteria. 

4.10 EPR & Net-Burdens 
Using assumptions of the amount of material within the recycling and residual streams that will 

be obligated under EPR from the RAWPIC tool (see section 3.3), an estimation has been made as to the 

potential costs that could be covered by producers as part of the committed for producers to cover full 

net recovery costs. Under EPR, the obligated tonnage for recycling and residual is calculated at c. £4.4 

million as shown in Table 23. Under the net-burdens funding, the food waste and garden waste costs 

are also likely to be fully covered29, as such the collection costs for these are likely to be approximately 

c.£ 3,000,000 in total (£1,548,800, garden and c. £1,700,000, food waste). 

Table 23 – Estimated EPR-obligated material income 

Detail 
% of EPR Obligated Material in 

Stream (Baseline) 
Potential costs covered by EPR 

Recycling 56.1 
Collection: £975,400 
Treatment: £613,100  

Residual 26.3 
Collection: £599,700 
Treatment: £151,300 

Sub-Total (EPR) £2,339,500 

New net-burdens30 
Garden: £1,548,800  
Food: £1,700,000 

£3,000,000 

Grand total £5,339,500 
 

  

 
29 Subject to consultation 
30 Subject to consultation and assuming covers full cost of the collection service. 

Page 83



Nottingham City Council        
 34 

 

5 Summary & Concluding Remarks 
Table 24 below shows a summary of the options appraisal results. No weighting has been 

applied to the evaluation criteria agreed for this options appraisal. Appendix E expands on the detail 

behind these scores.  

Table 24 - Summary of key considerations for each option 

Category Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

Total cost 
(Collection, 
Treatment and 
Disposal)  

£13.4m £14.5m £14.4m £13.6m £13.7m £14.6m 

Kerbside 
Recycling 
performance (%) 

22.57% 29.14% 37.12% 28.50% 34.64% 29.67% 

Total 
Environmental 
Benefit (carbon, 
kgCO2-eq)  

642,300 -13,700 -2,834,260 -31,400 -2,156,579 -287,600 

Cost of Change 
(initial Capex) 

N/A £6.1m £6.4m -8.7m £3.2m £5.8m £4.5m 

Alignment to 
R&WS / TEEP 
/National Policy 

      

Public 
acceptability 

      

Operational 
flexibility 
(deliverability) 

      

Social Value31       

Health and Safety       

 

Legend 

 

• In terms of recycling performance, all options have an improved kerbside recycling rate (%) from 

the baseline (22.57%), with option 2 performing the highest (37.12%) followed by option 4 

(34.64%). Option 2 models a twin-stream collection with restricted residual collections (smaller 

bins) whilst option 4 models a kerbside-sort dry recycling collection also with restricted residual 

collections. 

 
31 Job creation, wider health benefits, well-being, community benefits. See Appendix E for further detail 

Worst    Best 

Page 84



Nottingham City Council        
 35 

 

• This includes the full suite of materials proposed by the Consistent Collections policy being 

implemented by Government. Each option includes the current range of materials collected by 

NCC, plus food waste collections, plastic film and cartons. 

• All alternative options result in an increased kerbside collection costs relative to the current 

service ranging from £2.36 million to £2.73 million in additional costs. The option with the 

greatest annualised collection costs is option 4. Option 1 results in the lowest additional 

annualised gross collection cost compared to the baseline, which models a twin-stream dry 

recycling service, separate food waste collection and retains the current residual waste 

collection service. 

• Options 4 and 3 have the cheapest treatment and disposal costs of the options modelled at £5 

million and £5.6 million respectively. Notably these are the only options that generate a revenue 

for the treatment of dry recycling. This is driven by the increased recyclate quality obtained via 

the multi-stream collection system.   

• In terms of total net whole-system costs, the baseline and options 3 and 4 are the most cost-

effective options. 

• All options will incur a cost of change (i.e. procuring new vehicles and containers), ranging from 

c. £3.2 million (option 3) – c. £8.7 million (option 2), with options 3 and 5 incurring the lowest 

CAPEX costs.  

• The baseline (current) waste management service across NCC is modelled to result in an overall 

net emission of 642t CO2-eq. All options have a significantly improved carbon performance 

relative to the baseline, with option 4 providing the highest amount of net savings (-2,157t CO2-

eq). 

• Of the qualitative criteria (those with traffic light colouring), the multi-stream collections 

(options 3 & 4) score lower on public acceptability, operational flexibility and health and safety, 

but score well as regards alignment to proposed national policy and social value. The two stream 

collections (options 1, 2 and 5) and the baseline score higher on public acceptability and 

operational flexibility but may not fully align to the Resources & Waste Strategy.  

• The results show that there is a trade-off between alignment with Government Policy versus 

public acceptability, operational flexibility and Health & Safety in particular. No weighting has 

been applied to the evaluation criteria, the preferred option will be ultimately determined by 

which elements NCC deem most important or have the highest priority.  

No weighting has been applied to the evaluation criteria, the preferred option will be ultimately 

determined by which elements NCC deem most important or have the highest priority.  

For the optimised options 2 and 4, the impact of public outreach and communications improves 

the recycling rate for options 2 (37.12%) and 4 (34.64%) to 40.64% and 38.07% respectively. Due to the 

improved recycling performance, the carbon impacts as shown below are considerably improved as 

well. In order to determine the Nottingham City Council recycling rate it is necessary to adjust the 

kerbside recycling rate to take account of recycling and waste management in other aspects of the 

Nottingham service (e.g. the Household Waste Recycling Centre). This adds around 1.5% to the kerbside 

recycling rate meaning c. 42% recycling is acheivable using methods in this appraisal. Furthermore, 

national policy and intervention around aspects like mandatory labelling of packaging for recyclability, 

Page 85



Nottingham City Council        
 36 

 

national communications campaigns and Extended Producer Responsibility32 and further local 

initiatives around litter recycling and the HWRC service could enable citywide recycling rates of >50% 

to be achieved. 

 
32 Making packaging producers 100% responsible for the cost of collecting and managing those goods at 

the end of their life. 

Page 86



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
I 

 

I. Appendix A  - KAT Model Assumptions & Outputs  
 Assumptions of specific alternative scenarios (KAT) 

Collection Option 1 
 

Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 Option 2 
(Optimised) 

Option 4 
(Optimised) 

Twin-stream 
collection with 

weekly food 
waste 

Twin-stream 
collection with 

weekly food 
waste and 

restricted residual 
capacity 

Multi-stream 
recycling with 
weekly waste 

Multi-stream 
recycling with 

weekly waste and 
restricted residual 

capacity 

As Option 1 with 
co-collection of 
paper and food 

Twin-stream 
collection with 

weekly food 
waste and 

restricted residual 
capacity 

Multi-stream 
recycling with 

weekly waste and 
restricted residual 

capacity 

Dry Two-stream dry 
recycling 
Fortnightly 
+ plastic film  
+ cartons 
 
Containers: 

• 1x 70L bag – paper 
and card 

• 1x 180L WHB – 
plastics (including 
film), metals, 
cartons and glass 

 
Vehicle: 70/30 split 
back vehicle 
 
Contamination: paper 
and card: 4% DMR: 
14% 
 
Yields – Down 2% 
from commingled 
 
No change to set out 
Participation: -5% 
 

Two-stream dry 
recycling 
Fortnightly 
+ plastic film  
+ cartons 
 
Containers: 

• 1x 70L bag – paper 
and card 

• 1x 180L WHB – 
plastics (including 
film), metals, 
cartons and glass 

 
Vehicle: 70/30 split 
back vehicle 
 
Contamination: paper 
and card: 4% DMR: 
14% 
 
Yield - Up to 
benchmark level 
(predominantly 
urban, high 
deprivation) as per 
WRAP LA Portal 

Kerbside sort 
Weekly 
+ plastic film  
+ cartons 
 
Containers: 
3x box system  

• Box 1: Paper and 
Card 

• Box 2: Glass and 
cans 

• Box 3: Plastic 
(including film) and 
cartons 

 
Vehicle: 37m3 
Romaquip vehicle. 
Utilisation 60% 
 
Contamination: 4% 
 
 
Yields – Down 7%  
 
Decreased set out (-
5%) 

Kerbside sort  
Weekly 
+ plastic film  
+ cartons 
 
Containers: 
3x box system  

• Box 1: Paper and 
Card 

• Box 2: Glass and 
cans 

• Box 3: Plastic 
(including film) and 
cartons 
 

Vehicle: 37m3 
Romaquip vehicle. 
Utilisation 60% 
 
Contamination: paper 
and card: 4% DMR: 
14% 
 
Yield – Up to 
benchmark level 
(predominantly 
urban, high 

Two-stream dry 
recycling 
Paper & card - weekly 
DMR – fortnightly 
+ plastic film  
+ cartons 
 
Containers: 

• 1x 70L bag – paper 
and card 

• 1x 180L WHB – 
plastics (including 
film), metals, 
cartons and glass 

 
Vehicles: REL + Pod 
(co-collected fibres 
and food) 
RCV - DMR 
 
Contamination: paper 
and card: 4% DMR: 
7% 
 
DMR yield as per 
Option 1 

Two-stream dry 
recycling 
Fortnightly 
+ plastic film  
+ cartons 
 
Containers: 

• 1x 70L bag – paper 
and card 

• 1x 180L WHB – 
plastics (including 
film), metals, 
cartons and glass 

 
Vehicle: 70/30 split 
back vehicle 
 
Contamination: paper 
and card: 3% DMR: 
10% 
 
Yield - Up to 
benchmark level 
(between 
predominantly urban, 
high deprivation and 
comparable university 

Kerbside sort  
Weekly 
+ plastic film  
+ cartons 
 
Containers: 
3x box system  

• Box 1: Paper and 
Card 

• Box 2: Glass and 
cans 

• Box 3: Plastic 
(including film) and 
cartons 
 

Vehicle: 37m3 
Romaquip vehicle. 
Utilisation 60% 
 
Contamination: paper 
and card: 4% DMR: 
14% 
 
Yield – Up to 
benchmark level 
(between 
predominantly urban, 

P
age 87



     NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
II 

 
 

 Assumptions of specific alternative scenarios (KAT) 

Collection Option 1 
 

Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 Option 2 
(Optimised) 

Option 4 
(Optimised) 

Twin-stream 
collection with 

weekly food 
waste 

Twin-stream 
collection with 

weekly food 
waste and 

restricted residual 
capacity 

Multi-stream 
recycling with 
weekly waste 

Multi-stream 
recycling with 

weekly waste and 
restricted residual 

capacity 

As Option 1 with 
co-collection of 
paper and food 

Twin-stream 
collection with 

weekly food 
waste and 

restricted residual 
capacity 

Multi-stream 
recycling with 

weekly waste and 
restricted residual 

capacity 

  
Increased set out 
(+5%) 
Increased 
participation (+2%) 
(Due to the residual 
capacity restriction) 
 

Decreased 
participation (-8%) 
 
  

deprivation) as per 
WRAP LA Portal 
 
No change to set out 
Increased 
participation (+2%) 
(Due to changing 
recycling system & 
residual capacity 
restriction) 
 

Paper & card yield – 
Up 4% 
 
 

towns and cities) as 
per WRAP LA Portal 
Increased set out 
(+5%) 
Increased 
participation (+3% to 
OP 2) (Due to the 
residual capacity 
restriction) 
 

high deprivation and 
comparable university 
towns and cities) as 
per WRAP LA Portal 
 
No change to set out 
Increased 
participation (+3% to 
OP 4) (Due to 
changing recycling 
system & residual 
capacity restriction) 
 

Garden Garden waste collection as is - BAU all options 

Food Low WRAP ready 
reckoner tonnage 
- Set out 45% 
- Participation 55% 
- 23L bucket and 
kitchen caddy 
 
Separate weekly food 
waste collection 
 
Dedicated 7.5 tonne 
food waste vehicle 
Assume 1 crew 
member loading + 

Mid WRAP ready 
reckoner tonnage 
- Set out 50% 
- Participation 60% 
- 23L bucket and 
kitchen caddy 
 
Separate weekly food 
waste collection 
 
- Dedicated 7.5 tonne 
food waste vehicle 
Assume 1 crew 
member loading + 

Low WRAP ready 
reckoner tonnage 
- Set out 45% 
- Participation 55% 
- 23L bucket and 
kitchen caddy 
 
Weekly food waste 
collection 
 
- Collected on 
Romaquip 

Mid WRAP ready 
reckoner tonnage 
- Set out 50% 
- Participation 60% 
- 23L bucket and 
kitchen caddy 
 
Weekly food waste 
collection. 
 
- Collected on 
Romaquip 

Low WRAP ready 
reckoner tonnage 
- Set out 45% 
- Participation 55% 
- 23L bucket and 
kitchen caddy 
 
Separate weekly food 
waste collection 
 
- Co-collected with 
paper and card (REL + 
Pod) 

High WRAP ready 
reckoner tonnage 
- Set out 50% 
- Participation 60% 
- 23L bucket and 
kitchen caddy 
 
Separate weekly food 
waste collection 
 
- Dedicated 7.5 tonne 
food waste vehicle 
Assume 1 crew 
member loading + 

High WRAP ready 
reckoner tonnage 
- Set out 50% 
- Participation 60% 
- 23L bucket and 
kitchen caddy 
 
Weekly food waste 
collection. 
 
- Collected on 
Romaquip 

P
age 88



     NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
III 

 
 

 Assumptions of specific alternative scenarios (KAT) 

Collection Option 1 
 

Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 Option 2 
(Optimised) 

Option 4 
(Optimised) 

Twin-stream 
collection with 

weekly food 
waste 

Twin-stream 
collection with 

weekly food 
waste and 

restricted residual 
capacity 

Multi-stream 
recycling with 
weekly waste 

Multi-stream 
recycling with 

weekly waste and 
restricted residual 

capacity 

As Option 1 with 
co-collection of 
paper and food 

Twin-stream 
collection with 

weekly food 
waste and 

restricted residual 
capacity 

Multi-stream 
recycling with 

weekly waste and 
restricted residual 

capacity 

20% contribution 
from driver 

20% contribution 
from driver 

20% contribution 
from driver 

Residual As per current service   
 
Decrease in yield – 
adjusted based on 
above impacts. 

140L Wheeled bin 
 
Decrease in yield – 
adjusted based on 
above impacts. 

As per current service   
 
Decrease in yield – 
adjusted based on 
above impacts. 

140L Wheeled bin 
 
Decrease in yield – 
adjusted based on 
above impacts and 
restriction. 

As per current service   
 
Decrease in yield – 
adjusted based on 
above impacts. 

140L Wheeled bin 
 
Decrease in yield – 
adjusted based on 
above impacts. 

140L Wheeled bin 
 
Decrease in yield – 
adjusted based on 
above impacts and 
restriction. 

 

  KAT Model Raw Outputs 

    Baseline  Option 1  Option 2  Option 3  Option 4 Option 5 Option 2 (Opt) Option 4 (Opt) 

Ty
p

e 
o

f 
co

lle
ct

io
n

  

Dry 
recycling 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Co-collected 2 
dry recyclable 

streams 

Co-collected 2 
dry recyclable 

streams 

Kerbside sorted 
(more than 2 

streams) 

Kerbside 
sorted (more 

than 2 
streams) 

Co-collected 
dry recyclables 
and compost 

Co-collected 2 
dry recyclable 

streams 

Kerbside 
sorted (more 

than 2 
streams) 

Dry 
recycling 

          Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

    

P
age 89



     NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
IV 

 
 

Food 
waste  

select from list Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

  Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Garden 
waste 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Kerbside co-
mingled or 

single stream 

Refuse 

Refuse 
collection 

Refuse 
collection 

Refuse 
collection 

Refuse 
collection 

Refuse 
collection 

Refuse 
collection 

Refuse 
collection 

Refuse 
collection 

C
o

lle
ct

io
n

 f
re

q
u

e
n

cy
  

Dry 
recycling 

every fortnight every fortnight every 
fortnight 

once a week once a week once a week every 
fortnight 

once a week 

Dry 
recycling 

          every fortnight     

Food 
waste  

select from list once a week once a week once a week once a week   once a week once a week 

Garden 
waste 

every fortnight every fortnight every 
fortnight 

every fortnight every 
fortnight 

every fortnight every 
fortnight 

every 
fortnight 

Refuse 

every fortnight every fortnight every 
fortnight 

every fortnight every 
fortnight 

every fortnight every 
fortnight 

every 
fortnight 

C
o

lle
ct

io
n

 V
e

h
ic

le
  

Dry 
recycling 

RCV, 24m3 REL 65%/35%, 
21 m3 total 

REL 65%/35%, 
21 m3 total 

stillage, 37m³ stillage, 37m³ REL + front pod 
75%/25% 22m3 

total 

REL 65%/35%, 
21 m3 total 

stillage, 37m³ 

Dry 
recycling 

          RCV, 22m3     

Food 
waste  

select from list Dedicated food 
7.5T GVW 

Dedicated 
food 7.5T 

GVW 

select from list select from 
list 

  Dedicated 
food 7.5T 

GVW 

select from 
list 

Garden 
waste 

RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 

Refuse RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 RCV, 24m3 

C
o

l

le
c

ti
o n
 

cr
e w
 

si
z e in
c

lu
d

in
g 

d
ri

ve
r Dry 
recycling 

3 3 3 4 4 3 3 4 

P
age 90



     NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
V 

 
 

Dry 
recycling 

          3     

Food 
waste  

 
2 2 

  
  2  

Garden 
waste 

3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 

Refuse 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
h

o
u

se
h

o
ld

s 

se
rv

ed
 

Dry 
recycling 

126448 126448 126448 126448 126448 126448 126448 126448 

Dry 
recycling 

          126448     

Food 
waste  

0 126,448 126,448 0 0   126,448 0 

Garden 
waste 

102,937 102,937 102,937 102,937 102,937 102,937 102,937 102,937 

Refuse 126448 126448 126448 126448 126448 126448 126448 126448 

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 s
e

t 
o

u
t 

 

Dry 
recycling 

70% 70% 75% 65% 70% 30% 75% 70% 

Dry 
recycling 

          70%     

Food 
waste  

select from list 30% 40% select from list select from 
list 

  40% select from 
list 

Garden 
waste 

70% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70% 

Refuse 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 s
e

t 
o

u
t 

(2
n

d
 s

tr
ea

m
) 

Dry 
recycling 

select from list 70% 75% 75% 75% 45% 75% 75% 

Dry 
recycling 

          select from list     

Food 
waste  

select from list select from list select from 
list 

select from list select from 
list 

  select from 
list 

select from 
list 

Garden 
waste 

select from list select from list select from 
list 

select from list select from 
list 

select from list select from 
list 

select from 
list 

P
age 91



     NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
VI 

 
 

A
ve

ra
ge

 p
ar

ti
ci

p
at

io
n

  Dry 
recycling 

80% 75% 82% 72% 82% 55% 85% 85% 

Dry 
recycling 

                

Food 
waste  

100% 55% 60% 100% 100%   63% 100% 

Garden 
waste 

80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 

A
ve

ra
ge

 c
ap

tu
re

  

Dry 
recycling 

64% 64% 64% 64% 64% 64% 64% 64% 

Dry 
recycling 

          51%     

Food 
waste  

100% 52% 67% 100% 100%   82% 100% 

Garden 
waste 

95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 

To
n

n
es

 c
o

lle
ct

e
d

 

ex
cl

u
d

in
g 

co
n

ta
m

in
at

io
n

  Dry 
recycling 

13535 13935 19626 19724 26125 13611 20661 29703 

Dry 
recycling 

          7335     

Food 
waste  

0 6459 9089 0 0   11719 0 

Garden 
waste 

9997 9997 9997 9997 9997 9997 9997 9997 

Refuse 75935 71786 62817 73267 66610 72035 59451 63186 

To
n

n
es

 o
f 

co
n

ta
m

in
at

io
n

 

co
lle

ct
ed

  

Dry 
recycling 

4310 1277 1794 789 1045 286 1363 891 

Dry 
recycling 

          513     

Food 
waste  

0 323 454 0 0   586 0 

Garden 
waste 

500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 

P
age 92



     NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
VII 

 
 

To
n

n
es

 o
f 

b
io

d
eg

ra
d

ab
le

 

m
at

er
ia

l c
o

lle
ct

ed
  Dry 

recycling 
6876 6736 9534 12854 17343 13611 10038 20383 

Dry 
recycling 

          0     

Food 
waste  

0 6459 9089 0 0   11719 0 

Garden 
waste 

9997 9997 9997 9997 9997 9997 9997 9997 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
co

lle
ct

io
n

 

ve
h

ic
le

s 
re

q
u

ir
ed

 

Dry 
recycling 

8.5 11.7 13.7 21.9 26.9 12.5 13.9 28.8 

Dry 
recycling 

          8.5     

Food 
waste  

0.0 17.3 18.0 0.0 0.0   18.0 0.0 

Garden 
waste 

7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 

Refuse 12.0 11.5 10.2 11.7 10.7 11.5 10.2 10.1 

C
o

lle
ct

io
n

 li
m

it
ed

 b
y 

w
ei

gh
t 

o
r 

vo
lu

m
e

 

Dry 
recycling 

volume volume volume volume volume weight volume volume 

Dry 
recycling 

          volume     

Food 
waste  

volume weight weight volume volume   weight volume 

Garden 
waste 

volume volume volume volume volume volume volume volume 

Refuse volume weight weight volume volume volume weight volume 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

lo
ad

s 
co

lle
ct

e
d

 

p
er

 v
eh

ic
le

 p
er

 

d
ay

  

Dry 
recycling 

1.7 1.7 2.0 1.4 1.5 0.8 2.0 1.5 

Dry 
recycling 

          1.4     

Food 
waste  

1.0 0.5 0.7 0.1 0.1   0.9 0.1 

P
age 93



     NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
VIII 

 
 

Garden 
waste 

1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 

Refuse 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.9 2.0 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
h

o
u

se
h

o
ld

s 

p
as

se
d

 p
er

 v
eh

ic
le

 p
er

 

d
ay

 
Dry 

recycling 
1,483 1,085 922 1,153 940 2,031 908 878 

Dry 
recycling 

          1,483     

Food 
waste  

0 1,458 1,403 0 0   1,403 0 

Garden 
waste 

1,371 1,371 1,371 1,371 1,371 1,371 1,371 1,371 

Refuse 1,054 1,099 1,234 1,077 1,185 1,095 1,234 1,249 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
h

o
u

se
h

o
ld

s 

co
lle

ct
ed

 f
ro

m
 p

er
 v

eh
ic

le
 

p
er

 d
ay

  

Dry 
recycling 

1,038 759 691 749 658 914 681 615 

Dry 
recycling 

          1,038     

Food 
waste  

0 437 561 0 0   561 0 

Garden 
waste 

959 959 959 959 959 960 959 959 

Refuse 1,001 1,044 1,172 1,023 1,125 1,041 1,172 1,186 

P
as

s 
ra

te
  

Dry 
recycling 

282 213 229 219 178 328 178 167 

Dry 
recycling 

          282     

Food 
waste  

0 223 215 0 0   215 0 

Garden 
waste 

328 328 328 328 328 328 328 328 

Refuse 217 226 217 221 243 192 217 257 

P
r

o
d

u
ct iv
e ti m
e 

 

Dry 
recycling 

316 306 241 316 316 371 306 316 

P
age 94



     NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
IX 

 
 

Dry 
recycling 

          316     

Food 
waste  

382 392 392 250 392   392 392 

Garden 
waste 

251 251 251 251 251 251 251 251 

Refuse 292 292 342 292 292 342 342 292 

N
o

n
 p

ro
d

u
ct

iv
e 

ti
m

e 
 Dry 

recycling 
130 140 205 130 130 75 140 130 

Dry 
recycling 

          130     

Food 
waste  

64 54 54 196 54   54 54 

Garden 
waste 

195 195 195 195 195 195 195 195 

Refuse 154 154 104 154 154 104 104 154 

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

ta
rg

et
ed

 m
at

er
ia

ls
 

co
lle

ct
ed

 

Dry 
recycling 

36% 33% 47% 30% 40% 30% 49% 46% 

Dry 
recycling 

          39%     

Food 
waste  

0% 29% 40% 0% 0%   52% 0% 

Garden 
waste 

76% 76% 76% 76% 76% 76% 76% 76% 

A
n

n
u

al
 c

o
st

 f
o

r 

co
n

ta
in

er
s 

Dry 
recycling 

£326,292 £412,493 £412,493 £328,649 £328,649 £457,961 £412,493 £328,649 

Dry 
recycling 

          £320,085     

Food 
waste  

£0 £137,876 £137,876 £0 £0   £137,876 £0 

Garden 
waste 

£265,623 £265,623 £265,623 £265,623 £265,623 £265,623 £265,623 £265,623 

Refuse £396,091 £396,091 £396,091 £396,091 £396,091 £396,091 £396,091 £396,091 

P
age 95



     NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
X 

 
 

To
ta

l c
ap

it
al

 c
o

st
 o

f 

co
n

ta
in

er
s 

 

Dry 
recycling 

£2,326,643 £2,478,381 £2,478,381 £572,177 £572,177 £2,809,675 £2,478,381 £572,177 

Dry 
recycling 

          £2,282,386     

Food 
waste  

£0 £527,288 £527,288 £0 £0   £527,288 £0 

Garden 
waste 

£1,894,041 £1,894,041 £1,894,041 £1,894,041 £1,894,041 £1,894,041 £1,894,041 £1,894,041 

Refuse £2,326,643 £2,326,643 £2,326,643 £2,326,643 £2,326,643 £2,326,643 £2,326,643 £2,326,643 

A
n

n
u

al
 c

ap
it

al
 c

o
st

 o
f 

co
lle

ct
io

n
 v

eh
ic

le
s 

Dry 
recycling 

£252,431 £382,694 £446,476 £516,310 £633,653 £414,585 £446,476 £680,590 

Dry 
recycling 

                

Food 
waste  

£0 £250,223 £264,124 £0 £0   £264,124 £0 

Garden 
waste 

£221,635 £221,635 £221,635 £221,635 £221,635 £221,635 £221,635 £221,635 

Refuse £341,481 £341,481 £313,024 £341,481 £313,024 £341,481 £313,024 £313,024 

A
re

 v
eh

ic
le

s 
u

se
d

 f
o

r 

m
o

re
 t

h
an

 o
n

e 
co

lle
ct

io
n

  Dry 
recycling 

No No No No No No No No 

Dry 
recycling 

          No     

Food 
waste  

select from list No No No No   No No 

Garden 
waste 

No No No No No No No No 

Refuse No No No No No No No No 

To
ta

l c
ap

it
al

 

co
st

 o
f 

ve
h

ic
le

s Dry 
recycling 

£1,543,500 £2,340,000 £2,730,000 £3,157,000 £3,874,500 £2,535,000 £2,730,000 £4,161,500 

Dry 
recycling 

          £1,543,500     

Food 
waste  

£0 £1,530,000 £1,615,000 £0 £0   £1,615,000 £0 

P
age 96



     NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
XI 

 
 

Garden 
waste 

£1,355,200 £1,355,200 £1,355,200 £1,355,200 £1,355,200 £1,355,200 £1,355,200 £1,355,200 

Refuse £2,088,000 £2,088,000 £1,914,000 £2,088,000 £1,914,000 £2,088,000 £1,914,000 £1,914,000 

A
n

n
u

al
 v

eh
ic

le
 o

p
er

at
in

g 

co
st

s 
 

Dry 
recycling 

£1,054,530 £1,442,626 £1,756,557 £2,980,739 £3,655,835 £1,509,793 £1,679,363 £3,925,915 

Dry 
recycling 

          £1,054,812     

Food 
waste  

£0 £1,211,594 £1,278,574 £0 £0   £1,278,574 £0 

Garden 
waste 

£965,064 £965,064 £965,064 £965,064 £965,064 £965,068 £965,064 £965,064 

Refuse £1,402,480 £1,403,090 £1,252,040 £1,402,792 £1,287,218 £1,363,998 £1,252,040 £1,288,009 

A
n

n
u

al
 o

ve
rh

ea
d

s 
 

Dry 
recycling 

£105,453 £144,263 £175,656 £298,074 £365,584 £150,979 £167,936 £392,592 

Dry 
recycling 

          £105,481     

Food 
waste  

£0 £121,159 £127,857 £0 £0   £127,857 £0 

Garden 
waste 

£96,506 £96,506 £96,506 £96,506 £96,506 £96,507 £96,506 £96,506 

Refuse £140,248 £140,309 £125,204 £140,279 £128,722 £136,400 £125,204 £128,801 

A
n

n
u

al
 g

ro
ss

 c
o

lle
ct

io
n

 

co
st

  

Dry 
recycling 

£1,738,706 £2,382,075 £2,791,182 £4,123,771 £4,983,720 £2,533,318 £2,706,268 £5,327,746 

Dry 
recycling 

          £1,732,809     

Food 
waste  

£0 £1,720,852 £1,808,431 £0 £0   £1,808,431 £0 

Garden 
waste 

£1,548,829 £1,548,829 £1,548,829 £1,548,829 £1,548,829 £1,548,833 £1,548,829 £1,548,829 

Refuse £2,280,300 £2,280,971 £2,086,359 £2,280,643 £2,125,055 £2,237,969 £2,086,359 £2,125,925 

 

P
age 97



     NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
XII 

 
 

Total gross 
collection cost 

£5,567,835 £7,932,728 £8,234,801 £7,953,243 £8,657,604 £8,052,930 £8,149,887 £9,002,499 

P
age 98



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xiii 

 

II. Appendix B – Treatment & Disposal Costs  
 Average material price 5yr average Lets 

Recycle (March 2017 - Feb 2022) -20% 

Material Price (£/tonne) 

Cans: Aluminium: baled -£719.54 

Cans: Steel -£99.86 

Glass: Mixed -£8.22 

Paper: Mixed papers: domestic  -£34.93 

Paper: News & Pams -£71.75 

KLS card -£66.75 

Non-corrugated card  -£66.75 

Plastic bottles: Coloured PET -£21.26 

Plastic film  £101.74 

Plastic bottles: Mixed bottles  -£66.17 

Plastic: other dense -£177.29 

 

Treatment and/or Disposal 
Route33 

Cost (£/tonne) 

MRF Gate Fee £80.74 

Food waste treatment £31.40 

Garden waste treatment £27.55 

Residual waste treatment £71.00 

Transfer £3.50 

Haulage £3.50 

 

Note: negative values indicate revenue  

 
33 WRAP Gate Fee Report 2015/16 - 2019/20 (5yr average), DMR, garden waste and residual treatment 

costs provided by NCC 

Page 99



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xiv 

 
 

III. Appendix C  - WRATE Schematics 
 

 

 

  

 Nottingham City
 Baseline

Nottingham Kerbside

waste

Residual Waste

Bins

Garden waste

bins

Recycling bins

GW vehicles

RW vehicles

Recycling

vehicles
MRF

Incinerators

IBA vehicles

APCr vehicles

Landfill

OTHEROTHER

Other Recycling

Composting

Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

2 Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

PTT Plastics

Mixed Bottles

Plastics

Mixed Paper

Aggregate Glass

Ferrous

Aluminium

Compost Haul

Compost Use

Dirty MRF

Recyclables

vehicles

RDF vehicles

Landfill

vehicles

Landfill vehicles

2

Landfill-1

Cement Kiln

Glass

Plastics

Aluminium-1

Ferrous-1

 Date 20/06/2022

 Software Version 4.0.1.0

 Database Version 4.0.1.0

Page 100



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xv 

 
 

 

  

 Nottingham City
 Option 1

Nottingham Kerbside

waste

Residual Waste

Bins

Garden waste

bins

Recycling bins

GW vehicles

RW vehicles

Recycling

vehicles

AR
MRF

Incinerators

IBA vehicles

APCr vehicles

Landfill

OTHEROTHER

Other Recycling

Composting

Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

2 Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

PTT Plastics

Mixed Bottles

Plastics

Aggregate Glass

Ferrous

Aluminium

Compost Haul

Compost Use

Dirty MRF

Recyclables

vehicles

RDF vehicles

Landfill

vehicles

Landfill vehicles

2

Landfill-1

Cement Kiln

Glass

Plastics

Aluminium-1

Ferrous-1

Kitchen caddy

Food waste bin

Food waste

transport

Anaerobic

Digestion
Compost

transport

Compost use

Card recycling

Transfer

station

Paper recycling

Plastic film

recycling

Newspaper and card

Paper and card

transport

 Date 20/06/2022

 Software Version 4.0.1.0

 Database Version 4.0.1.0

Page 101



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xvi 

 
 

 

   

 Nottingham City
 Option 2

Nottingham Kerbside

waste

Residual Waste

Bins

Garden waste

bins

Recycling bins

GW vehicles

RW vehicles

Recycling

vehicles

AR
MRF

Incinerators

IBA vehicles

APCr vehicles

Landfill

OTHEROTHER

Other Recycling

Composting

Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

2 Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

PTT Plastics

Mixed Bottles

Plastics

Aggregate Glass

Ferrous

Aluminium

Compost Haul

Compost Use

Dirty MRF

Recyclables

vehicles

RDF vehicles

Landfill

vehicles

Landfill vehicles

2

Landfill-1

Cement Kiln

Glass

Plastics

Aluminium-1

Ferrous-1

Kitchen caddy

Food waste bin

Food waste

transport

Anaerobic

Digestion
Compost

transport

Compost use

Card recycling

Transfer

station

Paper recycling

Plastic film

recycling

Newspaper and card

Paper and card

transport

 Date 20/06/2022

 Software Version 4.0.1.0

 Database Version 4.0.1.0

Page 102



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xvii 

 
 

 

  

 Nottingham City
 Option 3

Nottingham Kerbside

waste

Residual Waste

Bins

Garden waste

bins
GW vehicles

RW vehicles

Recycling

vehicles

AR
MRF

Incinerators

IBA vehicles

APCr vehicles

Landfill

OTHEROTHER

Other Recycling

Composting

Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

2 Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

PTT Plastics

Mixed Bottles

Plastics

Aggregate Glass

Ferrous

Aluminium

Compost Haul

Compost Use

Dirty MRF

Recyclables

vehicles

RDF vehicles

Landfill

vehicles

Landfill vehicles

2

Landfill-1

Cement Kiln

Glass

Plastics

Aluminium-1

Ferrous-1

Kitchen caddy

Food waste bin

Anaerobic

Digestion

Compost

transport

Compost use

Card recycling
Transfer

station

Paper recycling

Plastic film

recycling

Newspaper and card

Paper and card

transportGlass

Metals and

plastic
Transfer

station-1

Glass-clear
Glass-brown

Glass-green

Glass transport

 Date 20/06/2022

 Software Version 4.0.1.0

 Database Version 4.0.1.0

Page 103



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xviii 

 
 

 

   

 Nottingham City
 Option 4

Nottingham Kerbside

waste

Residual Waste

Bins

Garden waste

bins
GW vehicles

RW vehicles

Recycling

vehicles

AR
MRF

Incinerators

IBA vehicles

APCr vehicles

Landfill

OTHEROTHER

Other Recycling

Composting

Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

2 Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

PTT Plastics

Mixed Bottles

Plastics

Aggregate Glass

Ferrous

Aluminium

Compost Haul

Compost Use

Dirty MRF

Recyclables

vehicles

RDF vehicles

Landfill

vehicles

Landfill vehicles

2

Landfill-1

Cement Kiln

Glass

Plastics

Aluminium-1

Ferrous-1

Kitchen caddy

Food waste bin

Anaerobic

Digestion

Compost

transport

Compost use

Card recycling
Transfer

station

Paper recycling

Plastic film

recycling

Newspaper and card

Paper and card

transportGlass

Metals and

plastic

Transfer

station-1

Glass transport

Glass-clear
Glass-brown

Glass-green

 Date 20/06/2022

 Software Version 4.0.1.0

 Database Version 4.0.1.0

Page 104



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xix 

 
 

 

   

 Nottingham City
 Option 5

Nottingham Kerbside

waste

Residual Waste

Bins

Garden waste

bins

Recycling bins

GW vehicles

RW vehicles

Recycling

vehicles

AR
MRF

Incinerators

IBA vehicles

APCr vehicles

Landfill

OTHEROTHER

Other Recycling

Composting

Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

2 Recyclables bulk

haul vehicles

PTT Plastics

Mixed Bottles

Plastics

Aggregate Glass

Ferrous

Aluminium

Compost Haul

Compost Use

Dirty MRF

Recyclables

vehicles

RDF vehicles

Landfill

vehicles

Landfill vehicles

2

Landfill-1

Cement Kiln

Glass

Plastics

Aluminium-1

Ferrous-1

Kitchen caddy

Food waste bin

Anaerobic

Digestion
Compost

transport

Compost use

Card recycling

Transfer

station

Paper recycling

Plastic film

recycling

Newspaper and card

Paper and card

transport

 Date 20/06/2022

 Software Version 4.0.1.0

 Database Version 4.0.1.0

Page 105



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xx 

 
 

IV. Appendix D – WRATE Vehicle Mileages34  
Option Collection Stream 

Annual 

Distance (KM) 

Total Distance 

(KM) 

Baseline 

As current 

Residual 261,000  

586,100 
Dry Recycling (co-mingled) 189,100   

Food waste  N/A   

Garden waste (free) 135,900   

Option 1 

Twin-stream collection 

with weekly food waste 

 

Residual waste 255,100  

821,200 

 

Dry recycling (Twin-stream + film + cartons) 248,700   

Food waste   181,400   

Garden waste (free) 135,900   

Option 2 

Twin-stream collection 

with weekly food and 

restricted residual 

capacity  

Residual waste 162,900  

774,300 

 

Dry recycling (Twin-stream  + film 

+ cartons) 
287,000   

Food waste 188,500   

Garden waste (free) 135,900   

Option 3 

Multi-stream recycling 

with weekly food waste  

Residual waste 260,300  

864,300 

 

Dry recycling (Multi-stream + film 

+ cartons) 467,900 
  

Food waste   

Garden waste (free) 135,900   

Option 4 

Multi-stream dry 

recycling with weekly 

food waste and 

restricted residual 

capacity  

Residual waste 236,670  

946,800 

 

Dry recycling (Multi-stream, 

+ film + cartons) 574,224 
  

Food waste   

Garden waste (free) 135,900   

Option 5 

As Option 1 with co-

collection of paper and 

food.   

Residual waste 183,500  

696,000 

 

Dry recycling (Twin-stream, + film 

+ cartons) 376600 
  

Food waste   

Garden waste (free) 135,900   

 

 
34 Rounded to nearest 100km 

Page 106



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xxi 

 
 

Optimised Options Collection Stream 
Annual 

Distance (KM) 

Total Distance 

(KM) 

Option 2 

Twin-stream collection 

with weekly food and 

restricted residual 

capacity (Optimised) 

Residual waste 162,883  

778,700 

 

Dry recycling (Twin-stream  + film 

+ cartons) 
294,425   

Food waste 188,475   

Garden waste (free) 135,940   

Option 4 

Multi-stream dry 

recycling with weekly 

food waste and 

restricted residual 

capacity (Optimised) 

Residual waste 224,513  

974,700 

 

Dry recycling (Multi-stream + film 

+ cartons) 614,250 
  

Food waste   

Garden waste (free) 135,940   

  

Page 107



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xxii 

 
 

V. Appendix E – Additional WRATE Results 
 

The overall environmental impacts encompassing other lifecycle analysis indicators for each of 

the modelled scenarios are presented below. In order to compare across different environmental fields 

a ‘normalisation’ measure is applied, in the latter using the measure of ‘numbers of equivalent 

European persons’ impact against each measure. Option 4 turns out to be all around the most 

environmentally friendly.  

• Global Warming Potential (GWP100a)- This metric is an assessment of the amount of carbon 

dioxide and other gases emitted that cause global warming. Apart from CO2, other major 

greenhouse gases including methane (CH4) and Nitrous Oxide (N2O) are also considered. 

Methane for example is considered 285 times more potent than CO2 in terms of its effect on 

global warming over a 100-year period. Climate change impact in WRATE is expressed in kg CO2-

equivalent (eq). 

• Acidification (kg SO2-Eq)- This metric relates to the release of acidic gases such as sulphur dioxide 

that have the potential to react with water in the atmosphere to form ‘acid rain’ and causing 

damage to the environment. 

• Eutrophication (kg PO4-Eq)- This metric relates to the release of nitrate and phosphate. Increased 

concentrations in water and soils can result in increased algal growth reducing the oxygen in the 

water and damage to plant stability in soils, both damaging the environment. 

• Freshwater Aquatic Ecotoxicity – FAETP infinite (kg1,4-DCB-Eq) - This metric relates to the impact 

of toxic substances on aquatic organisms and the bioaccumulation of toxins such as mobile heavy 

metals. 

• Human Toxicity – HTP infinite (kg 1,4-DCB-Eq) - This metric relates to the impacts on human 

health. Characterisation factors, expressed as Human Toxicity Potentials (HTP) describe fate, 

exposure and the effects of toxic substances. 

• Depletion of Resources (kg antimony-Eq) - This metric relates to the extraction of raw materials 

and resources. An abiotic depletion factor is determined for each mineral or fossil fuel based on 

the rate of extraction and the global resource reserves. 

Miscellaneous environmental impacts for each modelled option 

Impact 

Assessment 
Unit Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

Climate change: 

GWP 100a 

kg 

CO2-

Eq 

642,300 -13,700 -2,834,300 -31,400 -2,156,600 -287,600 

Acidification 

potential: 

average 

European 

kg 

SO2-

Eq 

-36,800 -33,300 -46,500 -33,400 -43,700 -35,600 

Eutrophication 

potential: 

generic 

kg 

PO4-

Eq 

8,800 8,800 7,200 8,800 7,600 8,400 

Page 108



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xxiii 

 
 

Freshwater 

aquatic 

ecotoxicity: 

FAETP infinite 

kg 1,4-

DCB-

Eq 

-3,806,500 -3,790,900 -3,973,300 -3,804,800 -3,965,100 -3,802,900 

Human toxicity: 

HTP infinite 

kg 1,4-

DCB-

Eq 

-47,897,200 -47,851,900 -50,637,700 -47,652,200 -49,686,300 -48,055,000 

Resources: 

depletion of 

abiotic 

resources 

kg 

antim

ony-

Eq 

-260,400 -259,100 -274,600 -261,800 -272,500 -261,000 

 

 

Normalised miscellaneous environmental impacts for each option 

 

  

Page 109



  NCC Options Appraisal  

Nottingham City Council  June 2022 
xxiv 

 
 

 

VI. Appendix F – Evaluation criteria & Social Value 
Workings 

Scoring mechanism Unit 1 5 

Carbon kg CO2/eq 
Highest carbon emissions 

eq. 
Lowest carbon emissions eq. 

Recycling performance  
Kerbside 
recycling 

rate 

Lowest kerbside recycling 
performance 

Highest kerbside recycling 
performance 

Cost £ 
Highest total costs 

(collection & disposal) 
Lowest total costs (collection 

& disposal) 

Alignment with National 
Policy 

R&WS 
compliance 

All aspects not likely to 
align to R&WS 

Most aligns to R&WS 

Public Acceptability  Poorest public acceptability Strongest public acceptability 

Social Value  Little or no anticipated 
social value 

Strongest social value 
benefits 

Operational Flexibility  Little or no operational 
flexibility 

Strongest operational 
flexibility 

Deliverability  Greatest deliverability 
issues 

Little or no deliverability 
issues 

 

Impact Assessment Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

No. Jobs (collection) 85 127 131 146 163 121 

MRF 5 5 5 5 5 5 

Total Jobs 90 132 136 151 168 126 

Total KM (Air 

Quality) 

        

586,100  

         

821,200  

          

774,300  

           

864,200  

           

946,800  

           

696,000  

Range of Materials  
Separate food waste collections.  

Plastic film & cartons collected with dry recycling 

(all alternative options)  
 

Impact 

Assessment 
Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 

No. of Crew 85 127 131 146 163 121 

Recycling  26 35 42 88 108 63 

Garden  23 23 23 23 23 23 

Food  N/A 35 37 N/A N/A N/A 

Residual 36 35 31 36 33 35 

No. of Vehicles 29  49 50 42 46 41 

 

Page 110



 

 

 

 

 

A DRAFT MUNICIPAL RESOURCES AND 

WASTE STRATEGY FOR NOTTINGHAM 

 

 

WASTE COLLECTION OPTIONS APPRAISAL – A 

NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 111



Looking at Options for the Resources & Waste Strategy for 

Nottingham 

[A non-technical summary] 

As part of the process for developing a new strategy for managing the waste and recycling collected 

from homes and businesses in the City, Nottingham City Council engaged some specialists to 

consider how these services are delivered elsewhere, and to look at how these alternative options 

could be employed here. 

The result is an Options Appraisal report which is available at www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk . The 

report focusses on different recycling and waste collection methods to seek to improve the amount 

of recycling and reduce the impact of waste management within the city on the climate (carbon 

dioxide emissions) - all in the context of managing the costs and providing good quality services in 

Nottingham. 

Nottingham is already a national leader in adoption of electric refuse collection vehicles (‘bin lorries’) 

and in capturing the energy generated from the waste not recycled, through the electricity 

generation and district heating scheme running  on the energy recovered from the Eastcroft 

Incinerator.  Where we are not performing as strongly is in the separation of materials for recycling. 

The Government has set a national strategy1 to improve recycling rates and the quality of the 

materials collected across England, and so we looked  at the preferred national approach in terms of 

how we could collect  more materials from you at the kerbside for recycling. 

For Nottingham, this means implementing food waste collections and adding plastic film and cartons 

to the recycling collection system as a minimum, but also targeting waste materials we already 

collect from you for specific separate collections. These systems are shown to deliver better 

recycling performance than mixing all recyclables into one bin. 

In simple terms our Options Appraisal focussed on two alternative collection and recycling systems, 

and compared performance against the current service: 

 

• Twin-stream collection – Retaining the current fortnightly recycling collections but collect paper 

and card separately (in a reusable bag) from the remaining materials (plastic, cans, glass and 

cartons). This would improve the quality and most likely, quantity of the paper and card  we 

collect. We modelled weekly food waste collections in combination with: 

o  collecting paper and card fortnightly (option 1) 

o collecting paper and card fortnightly, but with a smaller general waste bin (option 2) 

o collecting paper and card weekly but on the same vehicle as food waste and also with a 

smaller general waste bin (option 5). 

• Multi-stream – We would collect all recyclables, including food waste on a weekly basis in boxes 

and bags (rather than the current wheeled bin). This ‘multi-stream’ collection means that the 

collection crew can sort the individual materials into different compartments on a specialised 

vehicle improving the quality of the collected materials to be taken for recycling. We modelled: 

o Multi Stream collections with the same size general waste bin (option 3). 

o Multi Stream collections with a smaller general waste bin (option 4) 

 

 
1 Resources and waste strategy for England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 112

http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england


In all collection options, plastic film and cartons are added to the recycling collection and all options 

introduce a weekly food waste collection.   

 

The performance of the two standard alternative collection options are highlighted below. Option 1 

is the standard Twin-stream fortnightly collection, whilst Option 3 is the standard Multi-stream 

weekly collection option.  

 

 

Category Baseline 

Option 1 – 

Twin 

Stream, 

fortnightly 

Option 3 – 

Multi 

Stream, 

weekly 

Total cost (Collection, 

Treatment & 

Disposal)  

£13.4m £14.5m £13.6m 

Kerbside Recycling 

Rate (%) 
22.57% 29.14% 28.50% 

Total Indicative City 

Recycling Rate (%) 
23.90% 30.48% 29.83% 

Total Environmental 

Benefit (carbon, 

kgCO2-eq)  

642,300 -13,700 -31,400 

Cost of Change (initial 

Capex) 
N/A £6m £3.2m 

 

Whilst both options perform better than the current service, the Twin-Stream option delivers higher 

recycling performance but lower carbon benefit by comparison to the Multi Stream option. The 

Multi Stream option is more cost-effective to implement and to operate than the Twin Stream 

option, but both options are more expensive to implement and operate than the current service. 

 

Bin Size 

 

We then modelled variations of these two options but replaced the general waste bin with a smaller 

one. Where food and more recycling is collected separately, there is less demand on the space in 

your green wheeled bin, meaning that potentially a smaller bin is needed by households. Smaller 

bins for general waste have been shown to help drive up recycling. These variations are follows:  

• Option 2 – The same as option 1 (Twin Stream), but with a smaller bin for residual general 

waste (non-recycling, currently collected in a green wheeled bin).  

• Option 4 - The same as option 3 (Multi Stream), but with a smaller bin for residual general 

waste.  

The modelling results are as follows show that by reducing bin size, both options deliver 

significantly improved recycling and carbon performance, by comparison to retaining the 

larger general waste bin, but whereas Twin Stream is more cost effective to operate, Multi 

Stream is less cost effective to operate. 

 

Page 113



Category Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 

Total cost (Collection, 

Treatment & Disposal)  
£13.4m £14.5m £14.4m £13.6m £13.7m 

Kerbside Recycling Rate 

(%) 
22.57% 29.14% 37.12% 28.50% 34.64% 

Total Indicative City 

Recycling Rate (%) 
23.90% 30.48% 38.46% 29.83% 35.97% 

Total Environmental 

Benefit (carbon, kgCO2-

eq)  

642,300 -13,700 -2,834,260 -31,400 -2,156,579 

Cost of Change (initial 

Capex) 
N/A £6m £6.4-8.7m £3.2m £5.9m 

 

Finally, we also modelled a variant of Option 2 – enhancing performance still further by 

increasing the frequency of paper and card collection to weekly, enabling collections to be 

combined with weekly food waste collections utilising a single vehicle (option 5). As the 

table shows, by comparison with the other Twin Stream collection options, despite being 

slightly more expensive to operate, this option did not deliver a higher recycling 

performance despite improving the frequency of paper and card collection: 

 

Category Baseline Option 1 Option 2 Option 5 

Total cost 

(Collection, 

Treatment & 

Disposal)  

£13.4m £14.5m £14.4m £14.6m 

Kerbside Recycling 

Rate (%) 
22.57% 29.14% 37.12% 29.67% 

Total Indicative City 

Recycling Rate (%) 
23.90% 30.48% 38.46% 31.01% 

Total Environmental 

Benefit (carbon, 

kgCO2-eq)  

642,300 -13,700 -2,834,260 -287,600 

Cost of Change 

(initial Capex) 
N/A £6m £6.4-8.7m £4.5m 

 

Page 114



Our Option Appraisal found that all alternative collection systems improve recycling rates for the 

City from the current ~23% (of waste being recycled into new products, material or compost), to 

levels ranging from ~30% up to 42%. The higher performing options are numbers 2 and 4, which 

have a smaller residual general waste (green) bin. 

Our modelling also looked at ‘optimising’ the highest performing options through investing more to 

inform, educate and support citizens  We believe that when further national measures are 

introduced making materials easier to recycle – then recycling rates of more than 50% could be 

achieved in the medium term, more than doubling current performance. 

How we manage waste has a bearing on the City’s carbon emissions which contribute to climate 

change. In general, the more we recycle, the more it reduces these emissions and again, options 2 

and 4 perform the best here, with option two the best, saving around 3,500 tonnes of carbon 

dioxide per year compared to the current service. This is equivalent to taking over 1,200 cars2 off the 

road in emission terms. 

The costs of all the alternative collection systems are more than the current service. However, to 

reach higher recycling levels and improve carbon emissions the Government requires additional 

services to be added and will compensate Councils for these new costs. The modelling shows costs 

may increase by between +1.5% and +9%. However, these increases will be offset to a degree by 

central Government and packaging producers contributing to the Council’s collection, recycling and 

disposal costs. The lowest cost options are options 3 and 4, where recycling is collected on a weekly 

basis along with the food waste and sorted onto the vehicle. This approach means higher prices can 

be generally achieved for the recycling materials collected helping to balance the higher collection 

costs but that citizens will have to do more to separate their waste. 

Not all issues can be considered in terms of numbers.. Other issues such as the demand of the 

services on residents and businesses (public acceptability) and the flexibility of the service have also 

been assessed using ‘traffic lights’ in the summary table below. The scores we have attributed are 

subjective and we welcome your views. 

Category Baseline Opt 1 Opt 2 Opt 2a 
(optimised) 

Opt 3 Opt 4 Opt 4a 
(optimised) 

Opt 5 

Total cost (Collection, 
Treatment & Disposal)  

£13.4m £14.5m £14.4m £13.9m £13.6m £13.7m £13.6m £14.6m 

Kerbside Recycling (%) 22.57% 29.14% 37.12% 40.64% 28.50% 34.64% 38.07% 29.67% 

Total City Recycling (%) 23.90% 30.48% 38.46% 41.97% 29.83% 35.97% 39.4% 31.01% 

Environmental Benefit 
(carbon, kgCO2-eq)  

642,300 -13,700 -2,834,260 -3,488,800 -31,400 -2,156,579 -2,931,250 -287,600 

Cost of Change (Capex) N/A £6m £6.4-8.7m £6.4-8.7m £3.2m £5.9m £5.9m £4.5m 

Alignment to Policy         

Public acceptability         

Operational flexibility          

Social Value         

Health and Safety         

Legend 

 

 
2 Source: https://www.carbonfootprint.com/calculator.aspx 

Worst    Best 

Page 115

https://www.carbonfootprint.com/calculator.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank



Public Consultation Strategy for A Resource and Waste Strategy 

 

A Resources and Waste Strategy for Public Consultation - Consultation Strategy 

  

Objectives  

Corporate outcome:  

The upcoming Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy sets out a vision, objectives, intentions, and 

options available to the council in respect of managing the city’s municipal waste through to 2050.  

Public consultation will enable strategic partners, businesses, and citizens to engage with the council 

in the process of selecting the preferred waste prevention, reuse, collection (including recycling), 

and waste disposal services to be developed during the strategy period.  

To ensure that the public are aware of and have the opportunity to co-design the new strategy so 

that it best suits their needs, an 8-week consultation period will be delivered.  

Key council outcomes supported:  

• Clean and connected communities  

• Carbon Neutral by 2028 

• Healthy and Inclusive 

• Serving People Well  

  

Marketing objectives:  

• Inform the public about the draft strategy and educate them on what it will mean for them  

• Present the waste collection options for appraisal in a clear manner so that residents can 

make an informed decision on which route they prefer  

• Encourage residents to fill in the consultation survey over the 8-week consultation period 

online where possible, using a paper copy for those who need  

• Hold two in-person events across the city to encourage input from the public on the 

strategy  

• Hold one online meeting to encourage input from the public on the strategy  

  

Audience insight  

The audience for the draft strategy consultation is broad, targeting citizens, business owners, 

visitors, etc. We want people in Nottingham to feel like their ideas contribute to making the city a 

better place, and through the consultation process we want to secure as much feedback as possible 

to ensure views of as many demographic groups as possible are received.  

Page 117



All citizens in Nottingham currently receive household collections of recycling, residual waste, and 

garden waste fortnightly. Recycling is collected in one co-mingled bin. In the city, recycling rates are 

much lower than the national average – 23.9% compared to 43.8% in 2020/21. Analysis shows that 

75% of items that are disposed of in general waste could be reduced, reused, or recycled in some 

way.  

Surveys show that many in Nottingham self-report that they are recycling (98.4% of Carbon Neutral 

Nottingham survey respondents) and they believe that reducing waste and increasing recycling are 

important for making the city more sustainable (96% and 95% respectively).   

However, low recycling rates show that education is needed to improve the quality of recycling in 

the city and reduce contamination. Some of the contamination will be lack of education – people 

thinking they are doing the right thing but poorly educated in terms of what can be recycled – and a 

smaller proportion are likely to be entirely disengaged with this issue.  

Trade waste collects waste from over 6,500 businesses in the Nottingham and Derby area, averaging 

12,000 collections per week. The services available to businesses include general waste, recycling, 

food waste, separate glass collection, bulky waste, and Waste Electric Electronic Equipment (WEEE).  

National targets aim to achieve 65% recycling rate by 2035, action must be taken to encourage 

change in the city.  

The Waste Strategy options appraisal hypothesises that residents of Nottingham prefer the business-

as-usual approach to waste management – that which has been established for many years, is the 

simplest (in terms of having two bins – one for general waste and one for dry recyclables) to access, 

and is considered widely acceptable. There is a ‘comfort’ with the current option, and there will 

likely be resistance to change. Through the surrounding information for the consultation, our 

marketing assets will lay out the benefits of each of the options proposed in the draft strategy.  

To ensure that the consultation process is inclusive, paper versions of the survey will be provided 

and drop boxes in the city, in addition to the online format. The online software also has translation 

functionality for those who have English as a second language.  

  

Strategy  

To maximise survey responses, we will drip feed messages through various channels across the 8-

week consultation period. In addition to using council ‘owned’ channels, partners will be approached 

to encourage a wider set of demographic groups to learn about the draft strategy and give their 

opinions through the consultation survey.   

Key messages:  

• Have your say  

• Tell us what you think  

• Your opinion matters  

• Don’t waste your opportunity to contribute to Nottingham’s future  

• Support Nottingham to become carbon neutral by 2028  

• Help us create a cleaner city  

Page 118



  

Proposed channels:  

Item / channel  Notes  

Website  • Landing page on NCC website with easy-to-understand information 

about the draft strategy, options for appraisal and FAQs  

• Full draft strategy also to be available for those who are interested  

• Link to online survey which will be created on Microsoft Forms  

• Opportunity for people to download a version of the survey that can 

printed and dropped off   

Physical survey  • Physical versions of the survey will be available in libraries across the 

city  

• There will be drop boxes for people to leave their completed survey 

in libraries  

Events  • Two in-person events will be organised in the city. The format will 

be:  

o Presentation on the wider ambition of the strategy / context  

o Presentation on options for appraisal and key sections of strategy  

o Question and answer session  

• One online event will also be held, with the same format as above. 

This will be carried out via a Live Event on Microsoft Teams.  

Press  • Two press releases will be circulated to local media during the 

consultation process:  

o Initial press release to coincide with Exec Board  

o Follow-up press release on the day the consultation launches  

Social media  • Social media content will be scheduled throughout the consultation 

process on the following channels:  

o My Nottingham Facebook, Twitter, Instagram  

o Ward Facebook channels  

o Nottingham City Council LinkedIn  

o Carbon Neutral Nottingham Facebook and Twitter  

o Carbon Reduction, Energy and Sustainability Twitter  

• Videos, graphics and text will be used to capture a wide audience  

Email  • Utilise a range of council newsletter channels, including:  

Page 119



o Leader / Deputy Leader update  

o CN28 newsletter  

o Clean Champions   

o Ward newsletters  

o Growing Nottingham newsletter (business audience)  

Physical media  • Piece on the consultation included in November Arrow  

• Posters for public-facing council buildings  

• Flyers for councillors / RDOs  

Partner/councillor 

comms  

• Stakeholders will be encouraged to support the consultation 

including, councillors, RDOs, stakeholders, etc.  

o Information to be shared with councillors  

o Information included in Area Partnership   

o Businesses to be engaged through Nottingham BID, Nottingham 

Partners, D2N2  

o Engagement with student population through UoN Off Campus 

Affairs and Community Liaison at NTU, etc.  

Additional 

opportunities to be 

explored  

• Presenting at special interest groups, such as multi-faith council 

depending on team availability  

• Internal comms to engage staff who also live in the city  

• Paid advertising opportunities (e.g. BT In-link kiosks, street furniture 

including bus shelters, signs in public transport, paid social media 

posts)  

  

Implementation  

Proposed key dates:  

• Consultation opens: w/c 17th October  

• Event 1: w/c 24th October  

• Event 2: w/c 7th November  

• Event 3: w/c 5th December  

• Consultation ends: 8 weeks after open date  

Risks:  

• Waste strategy consultation period overlaps with financial consultation, which will compete 

for residents’ attention  

Page 120



• People may be disengaged with council / local politics and not feel like their opinions matter 

which could reduce survey responses  

• Climate action groups may engage with the process more than other demographic groups 

which may produce unrepresentative data from the consultation  

• Public may think consultation process is a ‘box-ticking’ exercise and that a decision has been 

made prior to being given the opportunity to feedback  

 

Evaluation of Responses 

Much of the information derived from the consultation responses will be qualitative in nature. The 

Council will retain Frith Resource Management (FRM) to analysis responses and all the responses will 

be recorded and allocated to one or more categories, as appropriate, that will be devised by 

FRM.  These categories will be bespoke to this public consultation exercise and will be developed 

during the analysis to ensure that the key themes emerging are captured and understood. In 

addition, FRM will highlight quotes within responses that illustrate frequent messages that come 

through. Results to be analysed on a rolling a weekly basis, which will enable FRM to both identify 

key themes emerging and the results to be available quickly at the end of the consultation period.  It 

is assumed at the end of the consultation period all hard-copy responses will be digitized and 

provided in an electronic final report recording all the survey responses. 

 

The Council anticipates a total of 1,000 respondents for the on-line and hard copy questionnaire and 

there will be up to 10 open comment questions. 

Interim Reporting on Key Themes 

FRM will provide an overview of key themes emerging during the consultation period from analysis 

of the open comment questions.  It is assumed that these will be provided in summary format to 

NCC and presented in PowerPoint at an agreed date during the consultation period. 

FRM will provide a succinct report summarizing the key themes and findings of the free-text 

responses. The categorized open comment questions will allow FRM to provide Nottingham with the 

key themes that have been expressed by the respondents.  These can be utilised both for 

presentations and reporting.   An interim snapshot will be provided but the final formats will be 

produced once all the results have been received and categorized. 

Overarching Strategy Consultation Report  

FRM will provide a report combining both the results of the overall questionnaire combining the 

questions with specific options and open-ended /free-text responses. This report would also 

incorporate the findings of other consultation activity (focus groups etc.)  as appendices and draw 

out key themes upfront in the main report.  

The report will require input from NCC on their stakeholder mapping, methods and results of the 

consultation events they have led independently to FRM, such as internal consultation, focus groups, 

group meetings, roadshows etc.  It is assumed that any other consultation responses to be included 

in this “catch all” consultation report will be electronically provided to FRM for inclusion in the 

appendices together with a short summary of the findings for inclusion in the main report (FRM will 

not be required to undertake detailed interpretation). 

Page 121



 

The report will be designed to capture the headline findings and key themes from the different 

consultation activities and present them succinctly.  The aim will be to explain these findings, so they 

are easily understood whilst ensuring technical inputs are included, where appropriate.  In addition, 

the report will draw out potential actions for NCC together with recommendations and the 

implications for the Strategy. 

A draft structure for the report is outlined below. 

 

Main Report [Public Facing] 

- Introduction & Method [inputs to FRM from NCC] 

- Results [ditto] 

- Key Themes – summary of headline findings and key themes with illustrative quotes [FRM in 

discussion with NCC team] 

- Actions / Recommendations / implications to the strategy [FRM] 

Appendices [Internal Only] 

- Copy of the Consultation Survey 

- Closed Questions Report [by NCC] 

- Open Questions Analysis Report [by FRM] 

- Minutes / Notes from Focus Groups / Meetings [by NCC] 

 

Presentation of the final report will enable the Council to consider the results of the public 

consultation and agree changes to the final draft of the Headline MSW Resources and Waste 

Strategy. 

  

 

Page 122



 

 

Tell us what you think 

Introduction 
 
Nottingham City Council (NCC) is updating its Strategy for managing your waste. 
 
We are doing this in response to new obligations being placed on councils who 
collect your recycling and rubbish by central government, but before these 
necessary changes are introduced, we want to hear your views on how to 
implement them. 

 
Our draft Municipal Resource and Waste Strategy 2023-50 considers what happens to 
your recycling and rubbish. We need to make substantial changes to improve our waste 
management service. This will save more raw materials and reduce damaging carbon 
emissions which impact on climate change. Good management of resources and waste 
helps to achieve these aims. The views of our residents and businesses are important to 
us in shaping our response to implementing these necessary changes. 

 
This consultation runs from 19th October 2022 to 14th December 2022. Your responses 
will help us produce the final Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy for Nottingham 
which is due to be published in the new year. 

 
Please feel free to consider the additional supporting information comprising: 
 

1. A draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy for Public Consultation –  
2. A draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy – Waste Collections 

Options Appraisal 
3. A draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy – A Non-Technical 

Summary of the Waste Collection Options Appraisal 
 

before completing the questionnaire. Thank you for taking the time to help 
shape recycling and waste services in Nottingham City Council. Your views are 
important to us. 

 
  

Page 123



 

 

About You 

Q1. In what capacity are you responding to this survey? Please tick one box only.  

o Resident of Nottingham  

o Visitor to Nottingham 

o I represent/own a local business 

o I represent a voluntary and community sector (VCS) organisation or social enterprise  

o City Council employee 

o City Council Councillor 

o Other (please specify)  

o Please specify 'other' 

 

 
Q2. If you are a Resident of Nottingham, please tell us the type of property you live in: 

o  Bedsit as part of a shared house (House of Multiple Occupation) with 
shared bins 

o  Flat with shared bins 
o  Terraced house with no off-street storage for bins 
o  Terraced house with off-street storage for bins 
o  Semi-detached house 
o  Detached house 

 
Q3. If you indicated that you represent an organisation, business or community group, in Q1, 
please provide your details 

Name: 
 

Organisation: 
 

Organisation postcode: 
 

Email address: 
 

This information may be subject to disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 

 
Q4. Are you providing your organization’s official response to the consultation? Please select one 

option. 
o Yes 

o No 

 

Reaching the best recycling rates 
 
Evidence shows that the highest recycling rates and reductions in carbon emissions can be 

best achieved by adding more recycling services including weekly food waste collections. The 

Government requires all Councils which collect household waste to introduce separate food 

waste collections in addition to increasing the range of materials collected for recycling. 

Changes to your current rubbish and recycling collection services are therefore necessary. 

 
Page 124



 

Food waste collections 

It is anticipated that all households will be given a kitchen caddy for collecting food waste within 

the house, and a small outdoor bin for emptying the food waste into, which can be placed out 

for collection. 

 
Q5. Do you see any barriers to you participating in a weekly food waste collection where you live? 

o Yes 

o No 

o Don’t know 

 
 

Q6. If you indicated “Yes” above please can you detail what these are?  

 

 

Kerbside Recycling 

 

Over the next five years all communities will have recycling collections covering a wider range 

of materials as the national Government requires a standard set of materials to be collected for 

recycling across all households in England. This includes the addition of plastic film and cartons 

to the range of materials already collected in Nottingham (paper, card, glass, plastic bottles, 

tubs and trays, metal cans and tins). Currently, materials collected for recycling in the city are 

collected together in one bin and then separated into different materials at a central sorting 

facility. However, this no longer meets the collection standards required for ensuring recycling 

material quality. 

 

Therefore, in the preparation of the draft strategy, different ways of collecting recycling from the 

kerbside have been modelled as follows: 

 

  
 

 

Twin-stream collection 

Collecting paper and card separately (in 

a reusable bag) from the other recycling 

(plastic, cans, glass and cartons) – which 

would continue to be collected in a 

wheeled bin, both fortnightly. This would 

improve the quality and most likely, 

quantity of the paper and card collected, 

whilst the other materials would be 

sorted at a central facility.  

 
Page 125



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Multi-stream 

Collecting all recyclables on a weekly 

basis in bags (for paper and card) and 

boxes (for plastic, cans, glass and 

cartons), rather than the current wheeled 

bin. Collection crews can sort the 

individual materials into different 

compartments on a specialised vehicle 

improving the quality of all the collected 

materials to be taken for recycling. 

 

It has been shown that weekly box (‘Multi-stream’) collections for recycling delivers the highest 

quality of recycling but requires more separation of materials by householders e.g. glass into one 

box, plastics, cartons and metals into another, paper and card into a third box or bag. 

 

Twin-stream collections require less separation of materials by the householder, with paper and 

card separated out, but can also generate lower quality recycling than Multi-stream collections 

(for example, if the wrong material is put into the recycling wheeled bin) 

 
Q7. Which of the following recycling options would you prefer? Please tick one box only. 

  
Twin-stream Multi-stream Other No Preference 

o  o  o  o  
 
 

Q8. Please provide an explanation for your choice below: 

 

Extra Recycling Services 
 
The Council could take to more action to help residents and communities recycle more, either 

by including other materials that could also be collected from the kerbside, or by providing 

communal recycling stations which would encourage recycling behaviour. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 126



 

Q9. How interested would you be in the Council collecting any other materials or providing 
communally shared bins instead of individual bins for recycling? Please select one option per row.  

 

 

 Very 

interested 

Somewhat 

interested 

Not very 

interested 

Not at all 

interested 

Don’t know 

Small electrical 

items (e.g. electric 

toys, hairdryers etc.) 

o  o  o  o  o  

Clothing and other 

textiles 
o  o  o  o  o  

Communal (Shared) 

Recycling Sites/ On 

street recycling bins 

o  o  o  o  o  

Other (please 

specify) 
o  o  o  o  o  

 
Q10 If you indicated above that there are other materials you would be interested in recycling, 

please can you detail what they are below: 

 

 

 

Other actions to improve recycling could include reducing the size of the general waste bin to 

encourage greater separation of materials for recycling.  The best performing options for 

reducing carbon emissions (and increase recycling) are to provide smaller bins for general 

rubbish, thereby encouraging more separation of waste for recycling, and less for disposal. 

 

In order to hit the highest recycling rates (e.g. over 40%) some restriction of the quantity of 

residual waste collected is likely to be required - this approach is undertaken in several cities 

e.g. Manchester, Bristol, Cardiff. 

 

Food waste comprises over a third of the typical residual waste bin and a weekly food waste 

collection combined with a wider range of materials collected for recycling would accompany 

any proposed change to the size of your general rubbish bin. A larger bin could be retained for 

larger households.  

 

Q11. If you were provided with a weekly food waste collection and your recycling collections 

included collections for plastic film and cartons (in addition to your current recycling service), do 

you believe you could manage with a smaller residual/ general waste bin (e.g. ¾ of the size of 

the current bin)? 

 
o  Yes 
o  Yes, with some reservations 
o  No 
o  Don’t know 

 

Page 127



 

Q12. Why do you say this? 

  

Page 128



 

Service satisfaction  
 

We'd now like to ask you a few questions about your satisfaction with your current waste 
services. 

 
Household Waste and Recycling Centre (HWRC), Civic Amenity Site or “the tip” 
 

One aspect of your waste management service in Nottingham is the ‘tip’ or Household Waste 

Recycling Centre (HWRC) located on Redfield Road in Lenton. This is the only HWRC within 

the city and it accepts a wide range of materials and waste. Some materials are recycled (e.g. 

garden waste, wood waste, cardboard) and some suitable items are reused or repaired (e.g. 

bikes, petrol driven lawn mowers).  

 
Q13. Approximately, how often do you tend to visit the Household Waste Recycling Centre (‘tip’)? 
 

o  More than once a week 

o  Once a week 

o  Once a fortnight 

o  Once a month 

o  Once every 3 months 

o  Once every 6 months 

o  Once a year 

o  Less often 

o  Never 

 
Q14. How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the waste and recycling services you receive at the 

Household Waste Recycling Centre (‘tip’)? Please select one option:  

 

Very satisfied Fairly satisfied Neither satisfied 

nor dissatisfied 

Fairly 

dissatisfied 

Very 

dissatisfied 

Don’t know 

o  o  o  o  o  o  

 

Q15. Why do you say this? 

 

  

Page 129



 

Kerbside collections 
 
What do you think about your current general waste, garden waste and recycling collections. 

 

Q16. How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the waste and recycling collections you currently 

receive? Please select one option:  

 Very 

satisfied 

Fairly 

satisfied 

Neither 

satisfied nor 

dissatisfied 

Fairly 

dissatisfied 

Very 

dissatisfied 

Don’t know / 

Not 

applicable 

General rubbish collection 

 

o  o  o  o  o  o  

Recycling collection 

 

o  o  o  o  o  o  

Garden waste collection o  o  o  o  o  o  
 

The kerbside collection 

services overall o  o  o  o  o  o  
 

 

Q17. Do you have (or anticipate having) any difficulties with using our waste services? This could 

include the current services, or those raised in this consultation as potential future services. 

This might be for any reason such as (but not limited to) age, disability, isolation, poverty, 

ethnicity or language etc. Please select one option. 

 
o  Yes 

o  No 

o  Don’t know 

 

Q18. If yes, please explain the barriers e.g. what services you have (or anticipate having) 

difficulties with, and what would overcome these. 
 

  

Page 130



 

Our Strategic Vision and Ambition 
 
The changes proposed for your waste management service build on a strategic vision for 
managing waste in the city (which includes general rubbish and recycling) for the period up to 
2050. The vision of the draft strategy is: 

 

“The Resources & Waste Management Strategy aims to deliver a high-quality service 

driven by the need to conserve resources, protect the local environment and reduce 

carbon emissions in line with the Councils carbon neutral policy for 2028 and beyond. This 

means reducing the amount of waste that is generated; through prevention, reuse, repair, 

recycling and recovery.”  

 
Q19. To what extent do you agree or disagree with this vision? 
 

Strongly 
agree 

Tend to agree Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Tend to agree Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t know 

o  o  o  o  o  o  

 

Delivery of our strategic vision will be supported by a number of objectives and ambitions that 

sit alongside the national policy changes required - setting the direction for long term 

management of material resources for the benefit of the residents and communities of 

Nottingham. Below is a summary of the objectives and ambitions, but the full wording and 

additional detail is available in the supporting information. 

 

In summary the ambitions of Nottingham City Council are:  
  

1. Encourage a reduction in consumption by highlighting the environmental benefits of waste 
reduction and prevention, and signposting to waste prevention and reuse activities and 
services in the City. 

2. Continue working with local businesses and community groups to expand and promote 
the development of repair and reuse services 

3. Work with the community and third sector to identify opportunities for reuse or repair of 
suitable goods collected through the Household Waste & Recycling Centre and the bulky 
waste collection service.  

4. Introduce and promote a separate weekly food waste collection to its residents* and treat 
food waste in a manner that reduces carbon emissions and generates energy. 

5. Explore the potential expansion of the materials collected for dry recycling from its 
residents and businesses to ensure that the full range of recyclables can be collected from 
both the kerbside service and the Household Waste Recycling Centre service by 2027. 

6. Review the collection system for dry recycling from residents, businesses and 
organisations to ensure that the service maximises the collection of high-quality recycling and 
contributes to the achievement of the national 65% recycling target by 2035 

7. Continue to prevent recyclables from going into the residual waste collections, 
including enforcement and education around side waste (additional waste placed at the side 
of the relevant collection container) and restrictions on the amount of residual waste 
presented for collection. 

Page 131



 

8. Prioritise energy recovery and avoidance of waste to landfill to continue to keep waste 
sent to landfill under 8%. 

9. Lead by example by reviewing Nottingham City Council’s internal purchasing activities and 
waste management services to promote waste prevention and encourage reuse and recycling 
within its internal operations 

10. Provide more education in schools covering: sustainable living; Reduce, Reuse and 
Recycle, and how management of resources helps to tackle climate change. 

11. Continue to expand the fleet of alternative fuel vehicles to reduce the carbon emissions that 
are associated with waste and recycling collection and transportation to improve local air 
quality. 

 
Q20. To what extent do you agree or disagree with our ambitions as set out in the draft strategy? 
Please select one option. 
 

Strongly 
agree 

Tend to agree Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Tend to agree Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t know 

o  o  o  o  o  o  

 
Q21. Which, if any, of the ambitions should be a Council priority? Or do you disagree with any of 
them and why?  
 
 

 
Q22. To what extent do you agree or disagree with our draft strategy overall? Please select one 
option. 
 

Strongly agree Tend to agree Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Tend to 
disagree 

Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t know 

o  o  o  o  o  o  
 

      

Q23. Do you have any other comments on the draft strategy? 

 
Waste Prevention, Reduction and Re-use 

Our strategy recognizes that actions have to start at the beginning of the process, by 
preventing waste, reducing the quantity that we generate as individuals, and by re-using 
items rather than throwing them away. 

Page 132



 

 
Reducing your waste 

 
The most beneficial activity (in environmental terms) that residents can undertake, with 
regard to ‘waste’ is to reduce the amount generated. This is known as waste prevention 
and is usually achieved by small changes in buying choices, lifestyle or activity. 

 
Q24. In your opinion, should the Council encourage a ‘lower waste’ society, and if so how could 
they do so?  

 
 

 

How you can reuse goods to avoid waste 
 
Another beneficial activity is to reuse items rather than buying new ones. This activity has 
taken place through charity shops and car boot sales for many years, but there are many 
more ways of reusing items which would save raw materials and reduce climate change 
impacts. 

 
Q25. What, if any, reuse activities do you currently access? How convenient is it in Nottingham? 
How could the Council encourage more reuse? 
 

 

 

Composting at home 
 
Another method of reducing waste is to compost at home. This can be undertaken using a shop 

bought compost bin or a homemade compost area or heap. Vegetable and fruit waste can be 

composted with grass cuttings and other garden waste, with the resulting compost put onto 

flower beds or vegetable gardens to improve the soil. 

 
Q26. Do you currently compost at home? Please select one option. 

 
o Yes 

o No 

 
Q27. If you answered “No” to Question 34, what prevents you from home composting? 

 

o No garden 

o Can’t afford a compost bin 

o Don’t know enough about it 

Page 133



 

o Not Interested 

o Other 

 

Q28. If you answered “Other” please state your reasons below: 

 

  

Page 134



 

More About You 
 

Nottingham City Council is committed to ensuring that its services, policies and practices are 

free from discrimination and prejudice, meet the needs of all sections of the community and 

promote and advance equality of opportunity. 

 

We would therefore be grateful if you would answer the following questions. You are under 

no obligation to provide the information requested, but it would help us greatly if you did. 

 
Q29. What is your gender identity? 
o  Male 

o  Female 

o  Prefer to self-describe (e.g. pangender, non-binary etc) 

 

Q30. What was your age on your last birthday? (Please enter your age in numbers not words) 

 

 

Q31. What is your full postcode? 

This will allow us to see areas where people are responding from. It will not identify your 

house. 

 

Q32. Are you a parent or carer of a young person aged 17 or under? 

o  Yes 

o  No 

 
Q33. If yes, what are the ages of the children in your care? Please tick all applicable 

o  0-4 

o  5-10 

o  11-15 

o  16-17 

Q34. Are you a carer of a person aged 18 or over? 

o  Yes 

o  No 

 
Q35. Do you have a long-standing illness, disability or infirmity? 

o  Yes 

o  No 

 
Q36. What is your ethnic group? Please tick one box only. 

o  White 

o  Mixed 

o  Asian or Asian British 

o  Black or Black British 

o  Other ethnic group 

 
 
 
Q37. What is your religion? 

Page 135



 

o  No religion 

o  Christian (all denominations) 

o  Buddhist 

o  Hindu 

o  Jewish 

o  Muslim 

o  Sikh 

o  Any other religion 

 

Q38. In total, how many cars or vans are owned or available for use by members of your 
household? 

o  None 

o  One 

o  Two  

o  Three 

o  Four or more 

o  Don’t know 

 
 
That’s almost the end of our questionnaire. However, 
 

Q39. As a resident, if you would like to be kept informed of developments to your waste 
management service including recycling and rubbish collections, please provide your contact 
details below: 

 

Name: 

 

Mobile Number: 

 

Email address: 

 

Q40. What is your personal preference about how the council should keep you informed about, 

and involved in, forthcoming changes to services? Please tick all that are applicable. 

o  Council websites 

o  Council app / text alerts 

o  Social media (e.g. Twitter, Facebook) 

o  Email Newsletter 

o  Council newsletters / magazines 

o  Bin hangers / stickers 

o  Email Collections calendar 

o  Engaging with specific community groups 

o  Through specific events (e.g. roadshows) 

o  Other (please specify) 

 

Page 136



 

Q41. Please specify 'other' 

 

PRIVACY NOTICE 

Nottingham City Council are the data controllers for the personal data (or personal information) that 
you provide and which we process about you. When we process personal information relating to 
you, we will only do so when it is necessary and where we have a lawful reason to do so. We will 
use the information provided by you for the purposes of informing you of changes or developments 
in your waste management arrangements and rubbish or recycling collections from your domestic 
residence. 

 
 
Once you have completed the questionnaire, please click the 'Submit' button to send us your response. 
Thank you for your assistance. Your views are important to us. The consultation closes on 5th December 
2022. 
 
We will compile the results and issue a Consultation Response Report alongside the production of our Final 
Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy report to the Council’s Executive Board in the Spring of 2023. 
 
If completing by post, please return your completed survey to:  
 
Nottingham City Council 
Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy Consultation 
Carbon Reduction, Energy and Sustainability 
Loxley House 
Station Street 
Nottingham 
NG2 3NG  

 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
9 November 2022 

 
Statement of Requirements Progress Update  
 
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 
 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To consider a verbal update from the Leader on progress made on the 
 Statement of Requirements. 
 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked to 
 

a)  consider the information provided and use it to inform questioning 
 and discussion 
 
b)  make recommendations if appropriate 
 
c)  make any necessary amendments to the work programme as a 
 result of the information provided. 

 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 In September 2022, Sir Tony Redmond, Chair of the Improvement and 

Assurance Board, issued a Statement of Requirements for the Council 
as part of the statutory intervention currently in place. 

 
3.2 At the October 2022 meeting, the Committee heard from the Leader that 

the Statement of Requirements had a deadline of 30 November 2022, 
and the Committee requested that the Leader provide an update on 
progress ahead of the deadline. 

 
3.3 The Leader will be in attendance at the meeting to provide the update 

requested. 
 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 None. 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those 

disclosing exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None. 
 
 
 

Page 139

Agenda Item 5



6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 None. 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All. 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Laura Wilson 
 Senior Governance Officer 
 0115 8764301 
 laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  

Page 140

mailto:laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
9 November 2022 

 
Recommendation Tracker 
 
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 
 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To consider the responses to the recommendations made at the 

September 2022 meeting of the Committee. 
 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 The Committee is asked to  
 

(a) consider the responses received to date 
 

(b) decide whether any further scrutiny/action is required as a result of 
the responses. 

 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 A recommendation tracker was established to collate and track progress 

of all recommendations made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to the Executive throughout the year, and to log the Executive 
responses. 

 
3.2 As the Committee meets monthly, any responses to recommendations 

made will be requested to be ready for the meeting 2 months later (ie 
any recommendations made at this meeting will be expected to be 
responded to in time for the January meeting) to give the Executive time 
to consider the recommendations thoroughly. 

 
3.3 The Recommendation Tracker and responses received to the 

recommendations from the September meeting are attached for 
consideration. 

 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Recommendation Tracker 

2022/23. 
 
4.2 The responses received to the recommendations from the September 

meeting. 
 
 
 

Page 141

Agenda Item 6



5 Background papers, other than published works or those 
disclosing exempt or confidential information 

 
5.1 None. 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committee minutes from the 2022/23 municipal 

year. 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All. 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Laura Wilson 
 Senior Governance Officer 
 0115 8764301 
 laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 

Page 142

mailto:laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


Overview and Scrutiny Committee Recommendation Tracker 
2022/23 

 
1 Purpose 
 
This document will collate and track progress of all recommendations made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to the 
Executive throughout the year, and to log the Executive responses to the recommendations. The explanation of terms used can be 
found in section 3. 
 
2 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Recommendations to the Executive 
 

Reference 
number 

Title of agenda 
item 

Recommendation Date 
referred 

Deadline 
for 

response 

Status  Key contacts 

220511-6-1 Together for 
Nottingham Plan - 
Progress update 
by the Leader 

The timeframe for the HRA 
repayments is circulated to 
Committee members 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Mellen/ 
Rav Kalsi 

220511-6-2 Together for 
Nottingham Plan - 
Progress update 
by the Leader 

The senior leadership 
team remain conscious of 
the importance of IT 
infrastructure and 
resources 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Mellen/ 
Rav Kalsi 

220511-6-3 Together for 
Nottingham Plan - 
Progress update 
by the Leader 

Consultation and 
information sharing 
continues with Nottingham 
City Homes residents and 
staff during the process of 
bringing housing services 
back in-house 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Mellen/ 
Rav Kalsi 

P
age 143



Reference 
number 

Title of agenda 
item 

Recommendation Date 
referred 

Deadline 
for 

response 

Status  Key contacts 

220511-6-4 Together for 
Nottingham Plan - 
Progress update 
by the Leader 

The RAG rated 
performance monitoring of 
the Together for 
Nottingham Plan is 
circulated to Committee 
members 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Mellen/ 
Rav Kalsi 

220511-7-1 Customer First 
Transformation 

More consultation is 
carried out with Councillors 
on the proposed changes 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Williams 
/Lucy Lee 

220511-7-2 Customer First 
Transformation 

An illustration /visualisation 
of the new contact process 
is circulated to members of 
the Committee 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Accepted Cllr Williams 
/Lucy Lee 

220511-7-3 Customer First 
Transformation 

The governance structure, 
baseline data, the 
proposed outcomes and 
progress monitoring plans 
be circulated to members 
of the Committee 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Williams 
/Lucy Lee 

220511-7-4 Customer First 
Transformation 

Protected characteristics 
remain at the forefront 
when assessing the impact 
of proposals 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to  Cllr Williams 
/Lucy Lee 

       

220608-13-1 Asset 
Rationalisation 

To provide all Councillors 
with the opportunity to 
comment on the draft 
Community Asset Policy 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Accepted Cllr Mellen/ 
Nicki Jenkins 

P
age 144



Reference 
number 

Title of agenda 
item 

Recommendation Date 
referred 

Deadline 
for 

response 

Status  Key contacts 

as part of the consultation 
process 

220608-13-2 Asset 
Rationalisation 

Consult with this 
Committee on the finalised 
draft Community Asset 
Policy prior to it being 
adopted 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Accepted Cllr Mellen/ 
Nicki Jenkins 

220608-13-3 Asset 
Rationalisation 

To consider the following 
points for inclusion in 
developing the Community 
Assets Policy: 
a) a clear timeline set out 

for community groups 
expressing an interest in 
purchasing an asset with 
consideration given to 
the timeframe set out 
within the national Asset 
of Community Value 
Policy; 

b) where possible, within 
the constraints of the 
requirement to achieve 
best consideration, to 
build in measures to 
encourage “Sell Local” 
with increased time 
frames to allow local 
groups or consortiums to 

11/08/22 15/09/22  
 
 
 
Responded to 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Responded to 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cllr Mellen/ 
Nicki Jenkins 

P
age 145



Reference 
number 

Title of agenda 
item 

Recommendation Date 
referred 

Deadline 
for 

response 

Status  Key contacts 

establish sufficient 
finances 

c) built in controls to 
ensure no conflict of 
interest for members and 
officers can influence 
sale of assets 

d) ensure adequate 
consultation with 
relevant Ward 
Councillors and 
Community groups prior 
to the sale of community 
assets 

 
 
Accepted 
 
 
 
 
Responded to 

220608-13-4 Asset 
Rationalisation 

To develop and maintain a 
public register of assets 
sold by private treaty 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Mellen/ 
Nicki Jenkins 

220608-13-5 Asset 
Rationalisation 

To consider further 
increasing the use of 
private agents to assist 
with current capacity 
issues within the property 
team 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Mellen/ 
Nicki Jenkins 

220608-14-1 Work Programme The Committee agreed 
that an item on weed 
spraying across the city 
was not an item that 
should come to the 
committee in full, but 

11/08/22 15/09/22 No response 
received 

Cllr 
Longford/Eddie 
Curry  

P
age 146



Reference 
number 

Title of agenda 
item 

Recommendation Date 
referred 

Deadline 
for 

response 

Status  Key contacts 

requested a letter from the 
Portfolio Holder updating 
the committee following 
changes to the 
implementation of the 
programme 

       

220803-18-1 Together for 
Nottingham Plan – 
Progress Update 
by the Leader 

That at the next meeting 
the Council Plan 
commitments be split into 
statutory and non-statutory 
functions 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Mellen/ 
Rav Kalsi 

220803-19-1 Libraries 
Transformation 

That a review of the 
consultation process is 
undertaken, and lessons 
learnt are reported back to 
the Committee 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Accepted Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

220803-19-2 Libraries 
Transformation 

That consideration is given 
to people who might be 
reluctant to share their 
details with authorities 
when considering 
technology accessed 
libraries 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

220803-19-3 Libraries 
Transformation 

That consideration is given 
to who would be an 
appropriate partner is 
when considering shared 
usage 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

P
age 147



Reference 
number 

Title of agenda 
item 

Recommendation Date 
referred 

Deadline 
for 

response 

Status  Key contacts 

220803-19-4 Libraries 
Transformation 

That a mapping exercise 
of other community 
facilities, such as leisure 
centres or community 
centres is carried out 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

220803-19-5 Libraries 
Transformation 

That engagement is 
undertaken with all schools 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

220803-19-6 Libraries 
Transformation 

That feedback from the 
Health and People 
directorates is shared in 
full 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

220803-19-7 Libraries 
Transformation 

That the draft Community 
Asset Transfer Policy be 
discussed at a future 
meeting of this Committee 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

220803-19-8 Libraries 
Transformation 

That more context setting 
be included in consultation 
responses, and include 
LGBT+ and disability data, 
including any themes that 
were identified particularly 
with different communities 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

220803-19-9 Libraries 
Transformation 

That a log of the impact on 
individual wards of all 
major decisions, taking 
demographics into 
account, is maintained 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

220803-19-
10 

Libraries 
Transformation 

That a mapping exercise 
of all voluntary and 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Responded to Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

P
age 148



Reference 
number 

Title of agenda 
item 

Recommendation Date 
referred 

Deadline 
for 

response 

Status  Key contacts 

community sector 
organisations, in particular 
those serving citizens with 
protected characteristics, 
is carried out and 
relationships established 
so that they can be easily 
contacted as a part of any 
consultation 

220803-19-
11 

Libraries 
Transformation 

That ward councillors are 
consulted before any final 
decision is made 

11/08/22 15/09/22 Accepted Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

220803-20-1 Public Sculptures 
and Monuments 
Policy 
Development 

That the proposed policy 
on street art be brought to 
a future meeting of this 
Committee 

11/08/22 15/09/22 No response 
received 

Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

220803-20-2 Public Sculptures 
and Monuments 
Policy 
Development 

That ward councillor 
consultation be included in 
the policy 

11/08/22 15/09/22 No response 
received  

Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

220803-20-3 Public Sculptures 
and Monuments 
Policy 
Development 

That the policy be 
reviewed as appropriate 

11/08/22 15/09/22 No response 
received 

Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Hugh White 

       

220907-25-1 Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

Circulate statistics on the 
number of fly tips per ward 
before the 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr Longford/ 
Frank Jordan 

P
age 149



Reference 
number 

Title of agenda 
item 

Recommendation Date 
referred 

Deadline 
for 

response 

Status  Key contacts 

introduction of bulky waste 
charges and after 

220907-25-2 Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

Circulate data on air 
quality from the Queens 
Drive monitoring site from 
before the pandemic and 
after 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr Longford/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-3 Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

Circulate a comparison of 
sickness rates from the 
refuse collection team 
from before and after the 
pandemic 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr Longford/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-4 Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

Consider the development 
of a city wide ward based 
competition around 
cleanliness 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr Longford/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-5 Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

To work to strengthen the 
relationship between 
Clean Champions and 
Op teams 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr Longford/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-6 Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

Circulate statistics around 
potholes that have been 
filled on more than 
one occasion 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr Wynter/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-7 Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

Circulate fly tipping data 
relating to HMOs 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr N Khan/ 
Frank Jordan 

P
age 150



Reference 
number 

Title of agenda 
item 

Recommendation Date 
referred 

Deadline 
for 

response 

Status  Key contacts 

220907-25-8 Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

Circulate the figures on 
fines and commercial 
prosecutions for fly 
tipping 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr N Khan/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-9 Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

To ensure that the joined 
up working of the REACT 
team continues and 
is developed 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr N Khan/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-
10 

Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

To work with schools and 
community groups to 
educate around hate 
crime and encourage 
reporting of incidents 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr N Khan/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-
11 

Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

Consider removing the first 
objective as it is police led, 
or define where 
action can be taken by the 
Council to improve the 
outcome 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr N Khan/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-
12 

Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

Monitor the involvement of 
NCH in resolving ASB 
issues 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr N Khan/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-
13 

Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

To review and reconsider 
the RAG rating of the 
objective to provide a 
network of inclusive 
sustainable and quality 
public libraries 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Accepted Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Frank Jordan 

P
age 151



Reference 
number 

Title of agenda 
item 

Recommendation Date 
referred 

Deadline 
for 

response 

Status  Key contacts 

220907-25-
14 

Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

To revisit how outcomes 
are measured and define 
how they are 
measured ensuring 
outcomes are measurable 
against money invested 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr Kotsonis/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-
15 

Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

To circulate data on 
prosecution levels of 
private landlords and the 
impact of the Licensing 
scheme 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr Neal/ 
Frank Jordan 

220907-25-
16 

Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

That future presentations 
include measures, values 
and targets, especially for 
Amber rated targets 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr Longford/ 
Clive Heaphy 

220907-25-
17 

Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

That presentations remain 
focussed on highlighting 
the most critical priorities, 
rather than all indicators 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr Longford/ 
Clive Heaphy 

220907-25-
18 

Council Plan 
Performance – 
Resident Services 

Ensure measures and 
commitments are SMART 
in the future, and that 
performance is only 
measured for things that 
are within the Council’s 
control 

29/09/22 20/10/22 Responded to Cllr Longford/ 
Clive Heaphy 

 
 
 

P
age 152



3 Explanation of terms used 
 
 Recommendation reference number - each recommendation added to this tracker will be assigned a unique reference number 

eg 220511-3-1, where 220511 represents the date of the meeting, -3 is the minute number, and -1 is the recommendation 
number. 

 
 Status - individual status for each recommendation and will present the following options:  

 Awaiting consideration 

 Responded to/Accepted/Approved  

 Rejected  

 No response received  
 
4 Responses 
 
 Responses received for the relevant period will be appended to the Recommendation Tracker report on the agenda. 
 
5 Meeting dates and reporting deadlines 
 

Date of meeting 
(2.00pm) 

Deadline for draft reports Chair's Briefing  
(12.30pm) 

Deadline for final reports 
(10.00am) 

11/05/22 21/04/22 27/04/22 29/04/22 

08/06/22 19/05/22 25/05/22 27/05/22 

03/08/22 14/07/22 20/07/22 22/07/22 

07/09/22 18/08/22 24/08/22 26/08/22 

12/10/22 22/09/22 29/09/22 30/09/22 

09/11/22 20/10/22 26/10/22 28/10/22 

07/12/22 17/11/22 23/11/22 25/11/22 

04/01/23 15/12/22 21/12/22 22/12/22 

08/02/23 19/01/23 25/01/23 27/01/23 

08/03/23 16/02/23 22/02/23 24/02/23 

P
age 153



6 Contact officer 
 

Name Role Contact details Responsibilities  

Laura Wilson Senior Governance Officer 0115 8764301 
laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  

Responsible for the 
collation and distribution of 
the recommendations after 
each meeting, and feeding 
back the outcomes to the 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

P
age 154

mailto:laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


Response to the Council Plan Performance – Resident Services Recommendations 
220907-25-1 to 220907-25-18  

 
2200907-25-1 
Circulate statistics on the number of fly tips per ward before the introduction of bulky waste charges and after 
 
The charge for bulky waste came in 25 April 2022. The comparison data between 21-22 and the current 22-23 financial year is as 
follows:  
 

 4 / 20 wards had an increase in reported fly-tipping  

 1 / 20 wards had no difference in reported fly-tipping 

 15 / 20 wards had a decrease in reported fly-tipping 
 
1 April 2021 – 31 March 2022     1 April 2022 – 12 October 2022 

P
age 155



 
 
Quarter 1 of 2022 (April – June)  

 Street Scene have seen a slight reduction of overall waste collected off Highways.  

 Data from the Household Waste & Recycling Centre indicates an increased weight of 
waste being treated which would indicate increased usage: 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 156



220907-25-2 
Circulate data on air quality from the Queens Drive monitoring site from before the 
pandemic and after 
 
Air Quality Monitoring data 2019-2021 
 
As Nottingham has an AQMA for NO2 it is required to carry out NO2 monitoring and uses real 
time analysers and nitrogen dioxide diffusion tubes to do this.  
DEFRA operates two AURN stations (for the Nottingham ‘Agglomeration’), monitoring a range 
of pollutants of concern. Monitoring data from Nottingham City Council’s 3 RTAs and the Clinton 
Street East and Western Boulevard AURN stations show NO2 concentrations did not exceed 
the annual mean air quality objective of 40 ug/m3 (Figure 1.) 
 
Note: the LAQM process did not identify any locations on Queens Drive that meet the criteria for 
air quality monitoring. 
 
Figure 1 

 
 
The Covid-19 pandemic and national action to prevent/minimise transmission including 
‘lockdowns’ reduced emissions from road transport and other commercial activity, particularly 
the office, retail, leisure and hospitality sector, a significant proportion of the commercial activity 
in Nottingham’s city centre.  
 
Figure 2 shows monthly average real time air quality monitoring data for 2019, 2020 and 2021. 
It shows the typical seasonal variation in NO2 concentrations (higher levels of NO2 in winter 
due to domestic/commercial heating and other meteorological conditions), and the reduction in 
emissions that coincided with the Covid-19 ‘lock-downs’. Note: It has been widely reported that 
the international and national response to the coronavirus pandemic and its economic impact 
has resulted in reductions in CO2 emissions and the co-pollutants of concern: NO2 and 
particles. It is highly likely that the impact of lock downs; reduced commuter emissions (as many 
people started working from home where possible) and almost no activity in the leisure and 
hospitality sector, resulted in the lower measured concentrations during 2020. 
 
 
 

Page 157



Figure 2 

 
 
220907-25-3 
Circulate a comparison of sickness rates from the refuse collection team from before and 
after the pandemic 
 
We cannot compare sickness rates from the refuse collection team from before and after the 
pandemic as Oracle Fusion can’t calculate FTE days lost to sickness absence unfortunately.  
 
This was communicated corporately by Ceri Morgan pre-Oracle Fusion launch so is the case for 
all NCC. Fusion was launched in September 2021, so the last FTE absence figure we have is 
from August 2021. 
 
Nottingham City Council ceased the temporary changes to its Absence Management Policy as 
of 1 October 2022, so before and after the pandemic dates cannot be compared. 
 
220907-25-4 
Consider the development of a city wide ward based competition around cleanliness 
 
We’re currently reviewing the cleanliness requirement across each ward and working closely 
with volunteers through our Clean Champion scheme. There is the opportunity to have 
additional ‘volunteer coordinators’ from each ward to help tackle issues around cleanliness. We 
would be open to consider using apps such as ‘Litter lotto local’ to encourage community 
engagement around cleanliness. 
 
220907-25-5 
To work to strengthen the relationship between Clean Champions and Op teams 
 
We can recognise that the relationship between Clean Champions and Op teams needs 
strengthening. The undergoing restructure (which proposes that Street Cleansing, which 
includes the Clean Champions programme, will come under Waste Management) will allow a 

Page 158



reset of operational roles and responsibilities and will allow discussions amongst volunteers and 
staff which should improve those relationships.  
  
This change, as well as the creation of 2 new proposed engagement posts, will look to 
strengthen engagement across internal and external partners and will require significant input 
from operational colleagues who move over under the restructure as well as those already 
within waste management. 
 
220907-25-6 
Circulate statistics around potholes that have been filled on more than one occasion  
 
Highways completed repair works at 2140 different sites (carriageways) between 1-4-2021 and 
31-3-2022. 19 sites were returned to over the whole financial year for a number of reasons as 
listed below, the percentage rate of return is extremely low, only 00.89%     
 
Highways operate under a strict highway maintenance regime, core to this is focusing on 
highway repairs and that they are completed on time. This includes recording all stats for not 
only completed emergency pothole repairs but on all 1st time permanent small scale safety 
repairs – this is in line with the national “Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure – A Code of 
Practice”. 
 
There are occasions when Highways have to make return visits and this includes: 
 
1.  Emergency pothole repairs out of normal hours 
2.  Emergency pothole repairs in traffic sensitive areas, pending booking road space to 
 complete permanent repairs 
3.  Temporary repairs pending planned permanent larger scale highways works  
 
Highways flex their own in-house resources to ensure core services are delivered including 
highway emergency response functions.  This is achieved by effective mobile working practices, 
redirecting highways resources, reprogramming planed works / activities and best utilising local 
contractors to support operations. 
 
NCC have also had the benefit of an additional DFT pothole grant to assist in addressing 
highway maintenance priorities and as such this financially supports more repairs being 
completed and in turn supporting SCP commitments. 
 
A list of duplicate visits is attached to the end of this document. 
 
220907-25-7 
Circulate fly tipping data relating to HMOs 
 
Community Protection are working with landlords to improve waste which should drive down fly-
tips.  
 
Fly-tips that are found at a location do not indicate that the offending party lives at that address, 
therefore no correlation can be provided to suggest fly-tips relation to HMO properties.  
 
2.88% of all reported fly-tips were found outside of an HMO property, with 29% of these having 
more than 1 report in relation to fly-tips. 

Page 159



220907-25-8 
Circulate the figures on fines and commercial prosecutions for fly tipping 
 
All Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) issued YTD – 756 since the beginning of April 2022. These 
figures include but aren’t limited to breaches of community warning notices, littering, dog fouling 
and a plethora of other offences. There are 30 FPNs for fly tipping, 0 prosecutions this financial 
year. However, the Anti-Social Behaviour have recently been in court which was for a waste 
carrier connected to a fly-tip and failing to produce waste transfer documentation, under section 
34 Environmental Protection Act 1990. This individual was fined £500 and charged £100 in 
court costs. 
 
220907-25-9 
To ensure that the joined up working of the REACT team continues and is developed 
 
REACT are a hybrid team between CPO and CPO Traffic, they continue to work in communities 
tackling environmental crime and supporting schools. They also play a critical role in dealing 
with neighbourhood problem solving. Community Protection have recruited 6 more officers and 
a second REACT team. 
 
220907-25-10 
To work with schools and community groups to educate around hate crime and 
encourage reporting of incidents 
 
As part of Hate Crime week W/C 10th October 2022, Community Protection have arranged for 3 
training session for community groups to help raise awareness of Hate Crime and how to report 
incidents. This is being delivered by Communities Inc in partnership with Community Protection 
at Joint Service Centres. 
 
Educate Against Hate resources with schools will be shared to all at the Designated 
Safeguarding Leads network on October 11th, every school will have access to this. In the long 
term, CP are recruiting to a Community Safety Officer which will play a crucial part in the re-
focus on our hate strategy ensuring schools are supported to take the right actions. 
 
220907-25-11 
Consider removing the first objective as it is police led, or define where action can be 
taken by the Council to improve the outcome 
 
The strategic council plan is currently being reviewed and this aspect will be examined as part 
of that process to clarify if the objective should remain or be adjusted. 
 
220907-25-12 
Monitor the involvement of NCH in resolving ASB issues 
 
The council is the lead body for tackling and enforcing ASB in its homes across the city, NCH 
will continue to provide support and evidence as required by the authority. There’s no metric 
measuring involvement. 
 
 
 
 

Page 160



220907-25-13 
To review and reconsider the RAG rating of the objective to provide a network of 
inclusive sustainable and quality public libraries 
 
This rating has been reviewed and is now Amber. 
 
220907-25-14 
To revisit how outcomes are measured and define how they are measured ensuring 
outcomes are measurable against money invested 
 
"Current Value of Investment” refers to the proceeds obtained from the sale of the investment of 
interest. Because Return on Investment (ROI) is measured as a percentage, it can be easily 
compared with returns from other investments, allowing one to measure a variety of types of 
investments against one another.  
 
Understanding rate of Return on Investment  
 
ROI is a popular metric because of its versatility and simplicity. Essentially, ROI can be used as 
a rudimentary gauge of an investment’s profitability. This could be the ROI on a stock 
investment, the ROI a company expects on expanding a factory, or the ROI generated in a real 
estate transaction.  ROI is a measure used in the private sector to measure monetary 
investment.  
 
On the other hand, when we want to measure performance of a Public Service this follows a set 
approach so that services can be compared with other local governments’, for example Core 
Cities’, performance. 
 
Performance measurement in local government  
 
Performance measurement is the process of collecting, analysing and reporting data regarding 
the performance of an organisation. It is a tool to help local government evaluate the quality and 
effectiveness of government services. Performance measures include inputs (used), outputs 
(program activities), efficiency measures (ratio of inputs to outputs), and outcomes (the actual 
results of programmes and services). Many performance measurement systems are limited to 
measuring programme inputs and outputs. Ideally, however, performance measurement efforts 
will also generate information about programme results and outcomes. 
 
For example, we can say how much a service costs to deliver in comparison to what another 
City declares as the cost of their service or how many people had a successful outcome from 
using a service. 
 
Some of the measures within the Council’s Performance Management Framework are being 
reviewed, and officers are looking at comparison data (where available) to improve performance 
reporting.  This includes tools such as LG Inform which allows direct comparison with other local 
authorities on a broad range of metrics, including cost of service delivery. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 161



220907-25-15 
To circulate data on prosecution levels of private landlords and the impact of the 
Licensing scheme 
 
The current scheme approved by Secretary of State in February 2018 runs from August 2018 to 
July 2023. 
 
Summary of core benefits of housing licensing 
 
Housing licensing is a key tool to help ensure privately rented homes: 

 Comply with all relevant legislation 

 Are safe for people to live in 

 Have the Council and partner agencies to tackle nuisance and anti-social behaviour 
relating to or emanating from residential property 

 Are protected from poor landlords so they are tackled and required to improve their 
properties or leave the private rented market  

 Benefit from support and guidance for landlords to enable them to maintain their houses 
to a good standard, enhancing quality of housing for Nottingham residents 

 
Achieving the aims and evidencing the outcomes 
 
Current progress on some key data (as September 2022): 
 

31,250 Total number of licence applications received, relating to 29,744 unique properties 

200  Applications still being received per month (in final year of the scheme) 

33,650  Projected number of applications received by scheme end (July 2023) 

29,064 
 

Total properties licensed and regulated by licensing 
NB – not all applications received result with a licence being issued, e.g. licence is refused, 
or property sold before licence issued 

6773 Landlords issued with legal notices requiring them to provide information about potentially 
licensable properties 

65 Civil Penalty notices for failure to licence a selective licensing property and breaches of 
licence conditions  

13 Landlords prosecuted for 49 offences at 30 properties. 27 of these offences related to 
selective licensing. In at least once case the same landlord was also prosecuted for failing to 
licence houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) 

1535 individual 
and 46 blocks 

Selective licence applications received following investigations and/or enforcement action 
and licences issued to draft or final stage  

6,246 Number of inspections by the Council 
NB More accredited licensed properties have also been inspected by our partners 

1,324* Property improvements by Council intervention at 952* properties 
 

12,780 Estimated number of inspections undertaken by the Council by scheme end  
(July 2023) 

2,091* Properties inspected by our partners, DASH, Unipol and ANUK (city wide to Jan 2022) 

2,409* Property improvements by our partners, DASH, Unipol and ANUK (city wide to Jan 2022) 

*Some properties had more than 1 hazard removed  

 
 

Page 162



Selective licensing is not a tool which will solve all problems by itself. It is there to work 
alongside other colleagues, partners and wider initiatives, working collectively towards improved 
housing conditions for all.   
 
In addition to helping to achieve the objectives of the Council’s Strategic Plan, Selective 
Licensing has played an important contribution in delivering the City Council’s Housing Strategy 
‘Quality Homes for All’ (https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-for-
residents/housing/strategic-housing/the-citys-housing-strategy/) which set out the clear 
justifications for introducing the scheme. This is also in line with the commitments outlined and 
anticipated to be included in the City’s new emerging Housing Strategy around ‘driving 
excellence in housing standards and services in the City’s existing housing stock, across all 
tenures’.  
 
Moreover, the Government has emphasised the importance of standards, safety, compliance 
and robust enforcement in the private rented sector in its recent White Paper ‘A Fairer Private 
Rented Sector’ published in June 2022. The White Paper specifically details the powers and 
benefits licensing can bring, and includes Nottingham as a case study detailing the work to drive 
up property conditions, and the outcomes achieved, through Selective Licensing in Nottingham 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-fairer-private-rented-sector) 
 
The scheme will continue to regulate a significant proportion of the private rented sector. The 
following are evidence of these successes:  
 
More than expected landlords have applied for and been granted licences, being regulated with 
licence conditions in place that can be enforced. This is not just about regulating, but also about 
being able to engage with landlords we have never engaged with before and offering advice 
and support.  
 
Enforcing against landlords that fail to licence, with the Council prosecuting and issuing civil 
penalty notices against landlords, with at least 3 portfolio landlords (those who own multiple 
properties) removing themselves from the market.  
 
Improving properties through inspections – this has not always required enforcement action, 
(which is a last resort) as some properties have been improved purely because of licensing 
being in place. 
 
Improving properties without having to inspect – approximately 30% of properties are accredited 
and meet higher than minimum standards, with properties being improved without the Council 
having to intervene at all. 
 
Being able to require landlords to have a plan for dealing with ASB and engaging with them to 
prevent ASB issues escalating. This helps to reduce the likelihood of landlords evicting tenants, 
supporting and engaging with both tenant and landlords to find workable solutions which enable 
tenants to remain at their property and prevent homelessness.  
 
Value for money 
 
The scheme is cost neutral funded via a licence fee paid by landlords. Licensing is not a 
transactional process; it is there to allow landlords to legally operate within the designated area 
and is not solely about providing a service to landlords, but about protecting tenants and 

Page 163

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-for-residents/housing/strategic-housing/the-citys-housing-strategy/
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-for-residents/housing/strategic-housing/the-citys-housing-strategy/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-fairer-private-rented-sector


regulating landlords. There are added benefits to landlords with a scheme in place including 
advice and guidance on what makes a safe house, monthly landlord newsletter, support for 
landlords dealing with difficult tenants, in particular ones causing ASB. 
 
220907-25-16 
That future presentations include measures, values and targets, especially for Amber 
rated targets 
 
There are only set numerical targets for data-driven performance indicators within the Strategic 
Council Plan. 
 
Some of the indicators report via narrative only where the commitment is not specifically data-
driven, for example any which commit to “working with partners” or “prioritising” – it is difficult to 
provide a firm target for these and therefore officers suggest a RAG rating based on the work 
undertaken and Portfolio Holders review whether the activities completed constitute a red, 
amber or green rating.  Relevant officers now meet with each Portfolio Holder quarterly to 
review their corporate performance report, providing an opportunity to discuss and agree the 
RAG ratings. 
 
To assist Committee members with scrutinising performance more comprehensively, we 
propose to provide a Word document in advance of each meeting at which performance is 
discussed, which will include the latest narrative and RAG ratings for the indicators being 
reviewed. 
 
When developing the reporting framework for the next Strategic Council Plan, we will work to 
ensure measures have defined baselines and targets to allow for more effective monitoring and 
evaluation. 
 
220907-25-17 
That presentations remain focussed on highlighting the most critical priorities, rather 
than all indicators 
 
Rather than briefing Portfolio Holders via email, officers intend to meet with those Councillors 
who will be coming to the Committee meeting.  This will allow elected members’ priorities to be 
agreed in advance of the meeting and ensure that appropriate focus is given to them at the 
Committee, rather than running through all of their portfolio’s indicators. 
 
Additionally, having had the information in advance as mentioned in recommendation 16, 
Committee members will be better placed to ask informed questions and delve deeper into 
specific areas of work. 
 
220907-25-18 
Ensure measures and commitments are SMART in the future, and that performance is 
only measured for things that are within the Council’s control 
 
It should always be the Council’s intention to ensure all measures used for reporting on the 
contents of the Strategic Council Plan are SMART, with defined baselines and targets we can 
accurately measure. However, we recognise that there may be some actions and targets that 
are of a qualitative nature and we want to be ambitious and aspirational in some of these areas, 
which may be reflected in future Council Plan commitments. 

Page 164



The commitments, however, should not be confused with the wider Performance Management 
Framework (PMF).  The PMF is made up of ‘Critical Indicators’, which include statutory duties, 
strategic indicators and ‘business as usual’ work identified by senior officers as being key 
priorities, and are all therefore within the Council’s control, bearing in mind external factors may 
impact on performance.  We will ensure that the indicators within the PMF remain SMART.  
These Critical Indicators are currently under review but will be discussed with Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in due course; these have defined baselines and targets against which 
performance can be measured. 
 
The Critical Indicators will form the basis of the next Strategic Council Plan.  Officers will work 
with Councillors on any additional priorities which may be added, identifying ways to measure 
them which also adhere to the SMART principles where possible. 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Road Name Location Notes Status Repair Team Name Date on Site Type of Work Observation Notes Measurement Job No. 

Abingdon Square O/s 46 1sqm patch (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 3 25/01/2021 Urgent Pothole Repair

Make dangerous defect safe with temporary 
pothole repair

1.0 Sqm 5418001

Abingdon Square O/s 46 1sqm patch (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 3 28/02/2022 Permanent Reinstatement
Make permanent repair following planned 12 
month safety inspection 1.0 Sqm 5428641

Brookthorpe Way
Outside 6 fca overlay 2 SQM carriageway
carriageway Total 2 SQM carriageway. (HM - CW Pothole (Fast Det)<=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 5 17/10/2021 Urgent Pothole Repair

Make dangerous defects safe with temporary 
pothole repairs  - traffic sensitive location 

2.0 Sqm 5430551

Brookthorpe Way
Outside 6 reinstate 2 SQM carriageway.

Total 3 SQM carriageway (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 4 17/03/2022 Permanent Reinstatement

Make permanent repair - correct traffic 
management in place to carry out work safely   

2.0 Sqm 5421421

Brownlow Drive O /s 63 C/way collapse (HM - CW Collapse  >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 1 23/04/2021 Investigate Carriageway Collapse

Make carriageway collapse safe after 
investigating cause. Make a temporary repair to 
allow for settlement of reinstatement 

1.0 Sqm 5408737

Brownlow Drive O/s 63 4sqm patch to existing patch to remove depression (HM - CW Depression <=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 4 14/05/2021 Permanent Reinstatement

Make permanent repair to include surrounding 
depressed carriageway surface and settlement   

4.0 Sqm 5410730

Burlington Road Outside 54 1sqm c/w patch (HM - CW Pothole >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 2 13/07/2021 Permanent Reinstatement
Defect identified during 12 monthly  planned 
highway safety inspection 1.0 Sqm 5413543

Burlington Road Outside 54 C/w pothole patch (HM - CW Pothole >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 5 28/03/2022 Urgent Pothole Repair

Small patch repair made near to the previous 
defect following customer enquiry 1.0 Sqm 5430789

Chalfont Drive Lhs 3 x 4sqm, outside 31 x 1 & outside 57 x 2 patches.7sqm carriageway FCA patching (HM - CW Pothole >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 5 19/04/2021 Urgent Pothole Repairs

Carriageway in poor condition, Increased 
inspections due to condition. Chalfont Drive is 
programmed to be resurfaced, links into to the 
new housing development 

7.0 Sqm 5405338

Chalfont Drive Lhs 3 1 carriageway patch (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 5 19/08/2021 Urgent Pothole Repairs

Carriageway in poor condition, Increased 
inspections due to condition. Chalfont Drive is 
programmed to be resurfaced, links into to the 
new housing development 

1.0 Sqm 5410396

Didcot Drive O/s 5 - 3 - junc Bracknell cres 4 patches (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 2 06/05/2021 Permanent Reinstatement
Defect identified during 12 monthly  planned 
highway safety inspection 5.0 Sqm 5407288

Didcot Drive O/s 3 2 patches (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 2 25/10/2021 Permanent Reinstatement

Small patch repair made near to the previous 
defect following customer enquiry. Further 
deterioration.  3.0 Sqm 5422324

Furness Road Junc broad walk 5sqm patch to remove drop/trip (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 4 26/04/2021 Permanent Reinstatement
Defect identified during 12 monthly  planned 
highway safety inspection 5.0 Sqm 5404784

Furness Road Junc Broad walk 2 patches (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 2 28/03/2022 Permanent Reinstatement
Defect identified during 12 monthly  planned 
highway safety inspection 3.0 Sqm 5431188

Highbury Road S/o lc 1H168 - s/o Church Lane 2 ph patches could these be done ASAP before Friday. Thanks (HM - CW Pothole (Fast Det)<=50)Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 5 21/10/2021 Urgent Pothole Repairs
Make dangerous defect safe with temporary 
pothole repairs 7.0 Sqm 5426264

Highbury Road S/o lc 57H168-opp lc 7H168- s/o Church Lane - lc 9H1685 patches (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 2 23/12/2021 Permanent Reinstatement

Make permanent repairs to a number of areas 
along Highbury Road. - correct traffic 
management in place to carry out work safely   

20.0 Sqm 5406651

Holly Avenue

Junction with Main road reinstate 2 SQM 
carriageway. 
Near L/c 2H222 reinstate 1 SQM carriageway. Total 3 SQM (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 1 28/04/2021 Permanent Reinstatement

Defect identified during 12 monthly  planned 
highway safety inspection 3.0 Sqm 5407940

Holly Avenue Near junction with Main road opposite L/c 1H2221 pothole patch 1 SQM carriageway. (HM - CW Pothole >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 5 23/03/2022 Urgent Pothole Repairs
Defect identified during adhoc highway safety 
inspection 1.0 Sqm 5430637

Iremonger Road
Henton And Cha ell Limited 
Unloading area for forklifts Reinstate 14 SQM carriageway in HRA (HM - CW Depression >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 3 12/06/2021 Permanent Reinstatement

Defect identified during 12 monthly  planned 
highway safety inspection 14.0 Sqm 5411625

Iremonger Road Henton And Chattell Limited unloading area for forkliftsReinstate 3 SQM carriageway (HM - CW Depression >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 3 14/06/2021 Permanent Reinstatement
Defect identified during 12 monthly  planned 
highway safety inspection 3.0 Sqm 5411624

Mansfield Road Opposite Tavistock Drive 1sqm pothole (HW > CW Pothole Patch) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 5 04/01/2022 Urgent Pothole Repairs
Defect identified during monthly  planned 
highway safety inspection 1.0 Sqm 5426333

Mansfield Road
Opposite Tavistock Drive and 10m down 
(outbound) 2 x c/w bitmac patches tot 4m sq (one previously potholed to make safe but is sinking towards 50mm depth) (HM - CW Erosion <=50)Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 8 08/02/2022 Permanent Reinstatement

Make permanent repairs - correct traffic 
management in place to carry out work safely   

4.0 Sqm 5427759

Nuthall Road On A610 outbound after Cinder hill Island near lace 201n101Make safe pothole. (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 3 08/02/2022 Urgent Pothole Repairs
Make dangerous defect safe with temporary 
pothole repair 1.0 Sqm 5428820

Nuthall Road On A610 outbound after Cinder hill Island near lace 201n1012sqm hra patch near side lane closure required from island (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 3 28/03/2022 Permanent Reinstatement

Make permanent repair - correct traffic 
management in place to carry out work safely   

2.0 Sqm 5428798

Oxclose Lane S/o lc 5O73 1sqm patch (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 2 01/07/2021 Permanent Reinstatement
Make permanent repair following planned 12 
month safety inspection 1.0 Sqm 5398182

Oxclose Lane S/o lc 5O73 1sqm patch (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 2 01/07/2021 Permanent Reinstatement
Make permanent repair following planned 12 
month safety inspection 1.0 Sqm 5412475

Parkside Outside 83 Make safe depression. (HM - CW Collapse  >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 5 21/12/2021 Urgent Pothole Repairs
Make dangerous defect safe with temporary 
pothole repair 2.0 Sqm 5426254

Parkside Outside 83 Dig down investigation (HM - CW Collapse  >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 3 28/03/2022 Permanent Reinstatement

Make permanent repair - correct traffic 
management in place to carry out work safely   

2.0 Sqm 5425711

P
age 167



Radford Road Shops 

1) Opp Ladbrokes/L/c No T61R13 
2) O/s No 32  
3) At Jun with Court St Fill 3 x on C/w pothole (HM - CW Pothole (Fast Det)<=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 5 10/09/2021 Urgent Pothole Repairs

Make dangerous defects safe with temporary 
pothole repair following planned highway safety 
monthly inspection

3.0 Sqm 5422456

Radford Road Shops O/s No 32 Fill in 1 x C/w pothole (HM - CW Pothole (Fast Det)<=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 7 18/11/2021 Urgent Pothole Repairs

Make dangerous defects safe with temporary 
pothole repair following planned highway safety 
monthly inspection

2.0 Sqm 5416473

Revelstoke Way O/s 96 - 98 - 100 4 patches (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 4 23/04/2021 Permanent Reinstatement
Make permanent repair following planned 12 
month safety inspection 5.0 Sqm 5407567

Revelstoke Way O/s 96 - 74 2 patches (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 2 11/08/2021 Permanent Reinstatement
Defect identified during adhoc highway safety 
inspection 3.0 Sqm 5416997

Vernon Road Junc Oakleigh st 2 X 1sqm patches will need to move traffic into hatched /turn right lane to keep inbound traffic on inbound lane. This would suit fill in and make safe preferred to do this as is easier to do. (HM - CW Erosion >=50)Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 5 20/05/2021 Permanent Reinstatement
Make permanent repair following planned  
monthly highway safety inspection 2.0 Sqm 5411131

Vernon Road Junc Oakleigh St 1sqm patch (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 2 05/11/2021 Permanent Reinstatement
Make permanent repair following planned  
monthly highway safety inspection 1.0 Sqm 5422748

Whitcombe Gardens Junc Bestwood Park drive west 2 X 1sqm patches (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 4 26/07/2021 Permanent Reinstatement
Make permanent repair following planned 12 
month safety inspection 2.0 Sqm 5415954

Whitcombe Gardens Junc Bestwood Park drive west 3sqm patch (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 2 26/01/2022 Permanent Reinstatement

Customer enquiry - defect formed over the 
winter period. Frost/thaw damage to the 
carriageway surface. Permanent repair made 

3.0 Sqm 5427637

Wollaton Road Lane 1 on  Crown Island (heading towards Middleton Boulevard directly opposite Crown Pub, photos in links).Relay 2sqm carriageway around inspection cover (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 3 16/05/2021 Permanent Reinstatement

Sunday working - Crown Island Traffic Sensitive 
location. Inspection covers replaced and 
inspection chambers rebuilt (1 days work)    

2.0 Sqm 5410458

Wollaton Road Lane 1 on  Crown Island (heading towards Middleton Boulevard directly opposite Crown Pub, photos in links).2x gully surrounds in HRA. (HM - CW Erosion >=50) Job Closed - Payment Made Highway Team 3 26/05/2021 Permanent Reinstatement

Evening working - Crown Island Traffic Sensitive 
location. Working outside of peak traffic flow 
HRA patching work. 4.0 Sqm 5411130

P
age 168



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
9 November 2022 

 
Work Programme 2022/23 
 
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 
 
1  Purpose 
 
1.1 To consider the Committee’s work programme for 2022/23. 

 
2 Action required 

 
2.1  The Committee is asked to consider the work programme for the 

municipal year and make any amendments as required, including 
consideration of items for February. 

 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 The purpose of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is to ensure all 

statutory and other roles and responsibilities are fulfilled to the required 
standard, covering review and development of key strategic issues, 
policies and strategies relevant to Nottingham and its residents, and 
adding value through the examination of issues of local importance and 
concern. 

 
3.2  The Committee is responsible for setting and managing its own work 

programme to fulfil this role. 
 
3.3  In setting a programme for scrutiny activity, the Committee should aim 
 for an outcome-focused work programme that has clear priorities and a 
 clear link to its roles and responsibilities. The work programme needs to 
 be flexible so that issues which arise as the year progresses can be 
 considered appropriately. 
 
3.4  Where there are a number of potential items that could be scrutinised in 
 a given year, consideration of what represents the highest priority or area 
 of risk will assist with work programme planning. Changes and/or 
 additions to the work programme will need to take account of the 
 resources available to the Committee. 
 
3.5  The Committee agreed to maintain its focus in 2022/23 on the Council’s 
 recovery and improvement. In order to ensure that scrutiny is timely and 
 relevant, the Committee will need to regularly consider its scheduling of 
 recovery and improvement items for scrutiny at future meetings. 
 
3.6  The Committee’s current work programme is attached. 
 
 

Page 169

Agenda Item 7



4 List of attached information 
 

4.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programme 2022/23. 
 

5  Background papers, other than published works or those disclosing 
exempt or confidential information 

 
5.1  None. 
 
6  Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1  Reports to and discussion at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 

throughout 2021/22 and 2022/23. 
 
7  Wards affected 
 
7.1  All. 
 
8  Contact information 
 
8.1  Laura Wilson 
 Senior Governance Officer 
 0115 8764301 
 laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 170



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2022-23 
 

Date Items 

9 November 
2022 
 

Municipal Waste Strategy 
To consider whether the consultation on the Municipal Waste Strategy proposals has been fair, transparent 
and robust, how consultation responses will influence final proposals 
 
IAB Statement of Requirements Progress Update 
To consider an update from the Leader on progress against the 67 requirements which have to be 
implemented by the end of November 
 
Recommendation Tracker 
 
2022-23 Work Programme 
 

7 December 
2022 

The Council’s 2023/24 Budget 
To consider the Council’s budget proposals for 2022/23 
 
Together For Nottingham Update from the Leader 
10-15-minute update from the Leader on priorities in relation to Together for Nottingham 
 
Community Asset Policy Development 
To consider and comment on the proposed policy on Community Assets prior to it being considered for 
approval 
 
Recommendation Tracker 
 
2022-23 Work Programme 
 

4 January 2023 Crime and Drugs Partnership 
To consider information on the current work of the Crime and Drugs Partnership and performance against the 
Crime and Drugs Partnership Plan 
 
The Scrutiny Budget Consultation Response 
To confirm the scrutiny committee’s response to the budget consultation 
 
 

P
age 171



Date Items 

Recommendation Tracker 
 
2022-23 Work Programme 
 

8 February 
2023 

Together For Nottingham Update from the Leader 
10-15-minute update from the Leader on priorities in relation to Together for Nottingham 
 
Recommendation Tracker 
 
2022-23 Work Programme 
 

8 March 2023 Nottingham’s Carbon Neutral Policy 
To consider the Carbon Neutral Policy 
 
Work Programme 2023-24 Development 

 
Recommendation Tracker 

 
Space has been left in the work programme to retain flexibility in order to accommodate timely scrutiny of issues in relation to 
recovery and improvement, ie items scheduled may need to be moved to later meeting dates to facilitate this.  The items below 
may be scheduled if there are gaps in the work programme or if they become priorities. 
 

Items still to be considered for work programme/ Reserve items 
 

Regulatory Services Restructure 
Introduction of firmstep. What impact has this had?  What have been the costs?  What is the Impact on Citizens?  What has been 
the impact on Service levels? What improvements have there been? What have been the savings? Can any evidence based 
improvements be used across other directorates?   

 

Digitalisation and Transformation 
How effectively the Council is implementing its plans to digitalise services?  Including access for citizens without access to 
technology.  How will this be monitored? How will the impact on residents be assessed or monitored?  How are we including 
those without access to technology and\or without relevant skills.  

 
 
 

P
age 172



Items still to be considered for work programme/ Reserve items 
 

Leisure Centre Transformation Programme  
To consider whether the consultation on the Leisure Centre redesign proposals has been fair, transparent and robust, and 
whether the draft proposals have adequately taken account of the consultation responses 

 

Budget Consultation responses and methodology 
 

Housing Revenue Account Investigation outcome 
 

 

P
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy
	Introductory report
	A Draft Municipal Resources and Waste Strategy for Nottingham
	Waste Collection Options Appraisal
	Waste Collection Options Appraisal - A Non-technical Summary
	Public Consultation Strategy
	Public Consultation Survey

	5 Statement of Requirements Progress Update
	6 Recommendation Tracker
	O&S Recommendation Tracker
	September Responses
	Appendix to September responses

	7 Work Programme
	O&S Work Programme


